A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held at
the Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN on
WEDNESDAY 16 SEPTEMBER 2015 AT 7.00 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 8 September 2015

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business
Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business
growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and
fuel efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Simon Weeks (Chairman)
John Kaiser
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman)
Bob Pitts
Chris Singleton

Chris Bowring
Malcolm Richards
Wayne Smith

SUBJECT

38.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

39.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 19
August 2015.

40.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest

41.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

PAGE
NO.

5 - 10

42.

Wokingham
Without

APPLICATION NO. F/2014/1561 - LAND AT OLD
WOKINGHAM ROAD, CROWTHORNE
Recommendation: Conditional Approval, subject to
Legal Agreements.

11 - 66

43.

Swallowfield

APPLICATION NO. F/2015/0767 - HILL FARM,
JOULDINGS LANE, FARLEY HILL
Recommendation: Conditional Approval.

67 - 132

44.

Shinfield South

APPLICATION NO. RM/2014/2062 - LAND AT THE
MANOR, BORDERED BY BROOKERS HILL,
HOLLOW LANE AND CHURCH LANE, SHINFIELD
Recommendation: Conditional Approval, subject to
Legal Agreements.

133 - 166

45.

Shinfield South

APPLICATION NO. RM/2015/1019 - LAND EAST OF
BASINGSTOKE ROAD
Recommendation: Conditional Approval.

167 - 218

46.

Hurst

APPLICATION NO. F/2015/1235 - HATCH GATE
FARM, LINES ROAD, HURST
Recommendation: Conditional Approval.

219 - 242

47.

Finchampstead
North

APPLICATION NO. F/2015/0430 - PINE PLATT,
HEATH RIDE, FINCHAMPSTEAD

243 - 274

Recommendation: Conditional Approval.
48.

PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
To consider any recommendations from the Head of
Development Management to hold pre-committee site
visits, set out in Members’ Update

49.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN
DECIDES ARE URGENT
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief
Executive if there are any other items to consider
under this heading

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CAC
R
LB
S106
F
MU
RM
VAR
PS
Category

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Conservation Area Consent
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission
Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted
Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Colm Ó Caomhánaigh
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic Services Officer
0118 974 6059
colm.ocaomhanaigh@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 19 AUGUST 2015 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.05 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman), Chris Bowring,
John Kaiser, Bob Pitts, Malcolm Richards, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey and Wayne Smith
Officers Present
Tricia Harcourt, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Clare Lawrence, Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services
Chris Easton, Service Manager, Highway Development
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor
Colm Ó Caomhánaigh, Democratic Services Officer
Case Officers Present
Christopher Howard, Ashley Smith, David Maguire, Mark Croucher
24.
APOLOGIES
An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Chris Singleton.
25.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 22 July 2015 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to the following amendments:
 under ‘Other Councillors Present’, add Mark Ashwell;
 under item 20 in the text ‘set out in Agenda pages 185 to 120’, amend ‘120’ to ‘202’.
MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The
Members’ Update was circulated to all present prior to the meeting. A copy is attached.
26.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Councillor Bob Pitts declared a personal and prejudicial interest in Item 33, application
F/2015/0525 - Lord Harris Court, Sindlesham on the grounds that he is a member of the
Freemasons and the care home is owned by the Royal Masonic Benevolent Institution.
He left the meeting during consideration of the matter and did not take part in the vote.
Councillor Bob Pitts declared that, although he had listed Item 34, application F/2014/2768
– GTO, Floral Mile, Bath Road, Hare Hatch, he still had an open mind with regard to the
decision.
27.
APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
It was noted that:
Item 30 – F/2014/1561 - Land at Old Wokingham Road, Crowthorne was deferred at the
request of the applicant as there were some inconsistencies between the information
supplied and the plans.
Item 35 – F/2015/0008 – Site D, Elizabeth Road, Wokingham was deferred until the next
meeting as some details need to be clarified.

28.

APPLICATION NO. RM/2015/1375 - LAND WEST OF HYDE END ROAD,
SHINFIELD
Proposal: Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning consent
VAR/2014/0624 for the erection of 69 dwellings including access roads garages parking
spaces open space and landscape treatment of Phase 1a Shinfield West (access within
site appearance landscaping layout and scale).
Applicant: Bloor Homes, Linden Homes, Bovis Homes and University of Reading
The Committee received and considered a report about this application, set out on Agenda
pages 69 to 108.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included
 a recommended amendment to condition 2 plan numbers;
 additional landscaping conditions 15 and 16; and
 a recommended amendment to condition 10 re water attenuation.
Nick Paterson-Neild, Agent, spoke in favour of the application.
It was noted that Members had previously visited the site.
Members asked for clarification on parking and road safety issues. Confirmation was
given that the architecture was consistent throughout even though there are three different
development companies.
It was noted that the Parish Council supported the application.
RESOLVED: That application RM/2015/1375 be approved, subject to the conditions set
out on Agenda pages 71 to 76 with conditions 2 and 10 amended and additional conditions
as set out in the Members’ Update.
29.

APPLICATION NO. RM/2015/0630 - LAND NORTH OF LANE END FARM,
CUTBUSH LANE, SHINFIELD, READING
Proposal: Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning Consent
O/2009/1027 for the development of phase 1A of proposed Thames Valley Science Park
comprising the construction of a gateway building and all associated landscaping and
ancillary works plus temporary car parking arrangements – Appearance, Landscaping,
Layout and Scale to be considered.
Applicant: University of Reading
The Committee received and considered a report about this application, set out on Agenda
pages 109 to 174.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included
 a recommended amendment to condition 1 plan numbers and condition 5 – approval of
materials; and
 other recommended amendments to conditions 4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 13, 17 and 20 to
remove notes appended to the conditions.
Nick Paterson-Neild, Agent, spoke in favour of the application.

Confirmation was given that the concerns regarding wildlife habitats have been dealt with.
Members also asked about the design and connectivity of the cycle paths.
It was noted that the reference in the report to a 20% increase to peak rainfall intensity to
allow for climate change should be 30%.
RESOLVED: That application RM/2015/0630 be approved, subject to the conditions set
out on Agenda pages 111 to 120, with conditions 1, 4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 13, 17 and 20
amended as set out in the Members’ Update.

30.

APPLICATION NO. F/2015/0525 - LORD HARRIS COURT, MOLE ROAD,
SINDLESHAM
Proposal: Proposed demolition of existing Class C2 nursing care wing and erection of
new Class C2 wing for specialist dementia care alterations to site layout to provide on-site
car parking plus landscaping works.
Applicant: Marc Nelson Smith
Councillor Bob Pitts having declared a personal and prejudicial interest left the meeting
after hearing the planning officer’s report.
The Committee received and considered a report about this application, set out on Agenda
pages 175 to 198.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included:
 an additional condition 20 to ensure that the extension is retained as an extra care
facility;
 an additional response from the Countryside Officer and subsequently recommended
conditions 21 to 23 related to protecting habitats and biodiversity;
 a correction to the number of parking spaces in Paragraph 18 on Agenda page 185
under Highways and parking;
 corrections to the condition numbers referred to in the Consultation Responses and
Planning Issues sections of the report.
It was noted that Members visited the site on Friday 14 August 2015 to review the
development within the wider context.
Confirmation was given that separation distances and landscaping measures will reduce
disturbance to local residents from noise or light pollution.
RESOLVED: That application F/2015/0525 be approved, subject to the conditions set out
on Agenda pages 176 to 180 with the additional conditions 20 to 23 set out in the
Members’ Update.
31.

APPLICATION NO. F/2014/2768 - GTO, FLORAL MILE, BATH ROAD, HARE
HATCH
Proposal: Proposed demolition of existing buildings and the erection of a two storey
extension to existing office building for the service repair and restoration of motor vehicles
(Use Class B2) with ancillary accommodation car parking and landscaping.

Applicant: GTO Engineering
The Committee received and considered a report about this application set out on Agenda
pages 199 to 222.
It was noted that Members visited the site on Friday 14 August 2015 to view the
development in the context of the Green Belt. A supporting statement from the applicant
was circulated to Members at the site visit and at the meeting.
Jonathan Walton, Agent, spoke in support of the application outlining the economic and
social benefits that he believed the development would bring.
Members welcomed the predicted additional employment and the high-skilled nature of the
jobs involved. Concern was expressed about the scale of the proposed extension to add
over 2,100 sqm of floor space, being 70% of the existing building.
Members asked if this was not a redevelopment given that the company was already
operating on the site or if the visual impact could be reduced by landscaping. Planning
officials said that the proposal could not be considered to be a redevelopment of the site,
given the large extension and increase in volume, and that no amount of screening or
landscaping would make the development acceptable as visual impact was not the primary
concern in this Green Belt location.
It was noted that if Members overturn the recommendation of the officials on this matter
the application will have to be referred to the National Planning Casework Unit.
A proposal to approve the application fell on the Chairman’s casting vote.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/2768 be deferred to allow negotiations to take place
with the applicant to find a compromise solution. If, as a result of negotiations, officers are
minded to support a revised scheme, then it will be brought back to the November
Planning Committee for a decision. However, if a compromise has not been agreed by 30
November 2015, the Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services is
authorised to refuse the application.
32.
APPLICATION NO. F/2015/1159 - 4 FROGHALL DRIVE, WOKINGHAM
Proposal: Erection of a two storey side/rear, single storey rear and front extensions to
include a new front entrance porch and internal alterations.
Applicant: Miss Lawrie
The Committee received and considered a report about this application, set out on Agenda
pages 243 to 254.
It was noted that Members visited the site on Friday 14 August 2015 to view the
relationship of the proposed extension with the adjoining residential property, 2 Frog Hall
Drive.
Jonathan Gilbey spoke objecting to the application on behalf of his mother, resident at 2
Frog Hall Drive.
Craig Lawrie spoke on behalf of the applicant in support of the application.

Members considered the points raised relating to loss of light in the neighbour’s
conservatory. It was noted that there were large trees on the neighbour’s property which
were also reducing light.
RESOLVED: That application F/2015/1159 be approved, subject to the conditions set out
on Agenda pages 243 to 245.
33.
PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
The Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services had recommended that
pre-Committee site visits be undertaken in respect of the following applications:
 F/2015/1336 – Land adjacent to Remenham Place (Arcadian Waters), Remenham
Hill, Remenham – one dwelling in the green belt, to view the site in the context of
the green belt.
 F/2015/0767 – Hill Farm, Jouldings Lane, Farley Hill – proposed bio-gas anaerobic
digestion plan, to view the site in the context of the character of the area and
proximity to other land uses.
Resolved: That pre-Committee site visits be undertaken on Friday 11 September 2015 in
respect of the following applications:
 F/2015/1336 – Land adjacent to Remenham Place (Arcadian Waters), Remenham
Hill, Remenham – one dwelling in the green belt. The site visit would enable
Members to view the site in the context of the green belt.
 F/2015/0767 – Hill Farm, Jouldings Lane, Farley Hill – proposed bio-gas anaerobic
digestion plan. The site visit would enable Members to view the site in the context
of the character of the area and proximity to other land uses.
A site visit agreed at the 29 April meeting in respect of:
F/2015/0430 – Pine Platt, Heath Ride, Finchampstead
which was not carried out, will now be undertaken on 11 September 2015.

Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/1561

No weeks on
day of
committee
54/60

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Wokingham
Without

Wokingham
Without

Scheme of
delegation

Bewley Homes PLC & Wokingham United Charities
Land West of Old Wokingham Road
Postcode: RG40 3DU
Pinewood
Wokingham
Berkshire
Proposal
Proposed erection of 116 dwellings with associated access, highway
works, drainage works (SUDS), open space and landscaping including
provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG).
Type
Full
PS Category 07
Officer
Ashley Smith
Applicant
Location

FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 16/09/2015
Head of Development Management & Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The proposal is for the erection of 116 dwellings with associated access, parking and
landscaping, Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANG) and ancillary features.
The site is located within the major settlement location of Crowthorne and is allocated
under MDD Policy SAL01 for residential development.
The application was deferred from the committee on the 19th August 2015 to allow
continued negotiation with regards affordable housing provision and to consider
alterations to the on-site car parking layout put forward by the applicant, these issues
have now been resolved satisfactorily. Previous amendments to the scheme saw the
removal of seven proposed dwellings from the site, re-orientation of a number of the
units to better address the streets and open spaces as well as the reinstating of a buffer
between the development and houses along Hatch Ride.
It is considered that the proposals are of acceptable form, appearance and scale and
would not be harmful to the streetscene or character of the area.
The proposal provides an adequate level of amenity for future residents and the
Highway Officer is satisfied that the scheme will not impact unsatisfactorily upon the
Highway network and provides adequate parking in line with the Council’s Parking
Standards Study Report.
This application is before the Planning Committee as it is major development. It is
considered that the proposed development is acceptable in principle given the
settlement location, current use of the site and its designation. The proposals are
considered acceptable and therefore approval is recommended subject to conditions
and the completion of a satisfactory Section 106 agreement.

PLANNING STATUS
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Modest Development Settlement Limits
Allocated Housing site (policy SAL01)
Tree Preservation Orders
Archaeological Sites
5km Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area
Farnborough Aerodrome Consultation Zone
Aerodrome Safeguarding for Wind Turbines
Countryside (Only applies to Area incorporating SANG and Attenuation basins)

RECOMMENDATION
That the Head of Development Management be authorised to GRANT planning
permission subject to the completion of a satisfactory S106 Legal Agreement
(Securing the affordable housing commuted sum, SAMM payment and SANG
details) and the following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced (with the exception of
tree/vegetation clearance), samples and details of the materials to be used in the
construction of the external surfaces of the buildings and all hardstandings, shall have
first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
3. This permission is in respect of the following drawings:
Drawing No

Title

Full schedule of all relevant plans to be included in Member’s update
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
4.
Prior to the commencement of the development (with the exception of
tree/vegetation clearance), full details of both hard and soft landscape proposals shall

be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details
shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished floor levels or contours, means of
enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation
areas, hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structure (e.g. furniture, play
equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, external services, etc). Soft
landscaping details shall include planting plan, specification (including cultivation and
other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), schedules of plants,
noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate,
ground levels adjacent to trees and an implementation timetable.
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a
timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority. Any trees or plants which,
within a period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously
damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
species, size and number as originally approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03 and TB21 (and TB06 for garden development)
5.
No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted, wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in
any way or removed without previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority;
any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or dying or being severely
damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years from the completion of the
development hereby permitted shall be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants of
similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to
any variation. Trees within the 40m Vegetative buffer zone adjacent to Old Wokingham
Road shall be retained in perpetuity.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to
the area.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21.
6.
a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on
or adjacent the allocated site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority (the Approved Scheme); the tree
protection measures approved shall be implemented in complete accordance with the
Approved Scheme for the duration of the development (including, unless otherwise
provided by the Approved Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling,
tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving, temporary access construction and or
widening or any other operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction
machinery. The scheme shall include a plan showing details of all trees to be retained.
For the avoidance of doubt the survey is not required to cover the SANG area.
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving
use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence until the local
planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice) with a period of no

less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the measures identified in the
Approved Scheme on-site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the
Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority has first been
sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to
the area. & In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21.
7. Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned, domestic
gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance of
the landscaping hereby approved.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03 and TB21
8. Prior to the commencement of the development, details of earthworks shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details shall
include the proposed grading and mounding of land areas including the levels and
contours to be formed, showing the relationship of proposed mounding to existing
vegetation, drainage features and surrounding landform. The Earthworks shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details and permanently so-retained.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity and landscape character of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03 and TB21
9. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of demolition
or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than between the
hours of 8.00 am and 6.00pm Monday to Friday and 8.00 am to 13.00pm Saturdays and
at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays unless otherwise agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard amenity of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policies : NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
10. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced (with the exception of

tree/vegetation clearance) details of all boundary treatments shall first be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be
implemented prior to the first occupation of the development or phased as agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be maintained in the
approved form for so long as the development remains on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order
with or without modification), no additional windows or similar openings shall be
constructed in the flank elevations in the first floor levels or above of the buildings
hereby permitted except for any which may be shown on the approved drawings.
Reasons: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy CP3
12. Those windows shown on the approved drawings as having obscured glazing in part
or full shall be so-fitted and shall be permanently so-retained, and shall remain fixed
closed at all times
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
13. Prior to occupation of any dwelling the onsite Suitable Alternative Natural
Greenspace (SANG) shall be laid out in accordance with the approved SANG
Management Plan and made available for use by the public.
Reason: To mitigate for potential harm caused to the Thames Basin Heath SPA.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, South East Plan NRM6, Core Strategy CP7
14. The measures for generating 10% of the predicted energy requirement of the
development from decentralised renewable and/or low carbon sources outlined in the
submitted Energy Statement shall be implemented before the development is first
occupied and shall remain operational for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy policy CP1 & the Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Document.
15. No development shall take place (with the exception of tree/vegetation clearance),
until a measured survey of the site and a plan prepared to scale of not less than 1:500
showing details of existing and proposed finished ground levels (in relation to a fixed
datum point) and finished floor levels shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority, and the approved scheme shall be fully implemented prior
to the occupation of the building(s).
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to surrounding
buildings and landscape.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3

16. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order
with or without modification) no buildings, extensions, or alterations permitted by
Classes (A, B, C, D and E) of Part 1 of the Second Schedule of the 2015 Order shall be
carried out.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties,
preserve the character of the settlement and to ensure the proper planning of the area.
Plots are generally at or around minimum separation distances and amenity space sizes
and so the Council wishes to assess the potential impact of such development.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1, CP3 and the
Wokingham Borough Council Borough Design Guide.
17. No development shall take place (with the exception of tree/vegetation clearance),
including any works of demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall
provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials,
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv) The phasing of construction
v) Lorry routing
vi) types of piling rig and earth moving machinery to be utilised and measures proposed
to mitigate the impact of construction operations
vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
viii) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway
and details of wheel washing facilities
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. In the interests of
environmental health.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6.
18. No development shall commence (with the exception of tree/vegetation clearance)
until a programme of archaeological evaluation in accordance with the written scheme
of investigation prepared by West Sussex Archaeology and dated June 2014 (or an
equivalent scheme) which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the
planning authority. The archaeological evaluation results shall inform archaeological
mitigation measures that may subsequently be required, which will be submitted to the
Planning Authority for agreement in writing.
Reason: The site lies in an area of archaeological potential.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, MDD TB25
19. Prior to the commencement of the development (with the exception of
tree/vegetation clearance) there shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority details of the proposed dwellings to demonstrate that they will
be constructed to achieve the ‘Secured by Design’ part 2 (physical security) standard

and the dwellings shall be constructed in full accordance with the details so-approved
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the safety, crime prevention and amenity of future occupiers
of the development.
Relevant policies: Paragraphs 58 & 69 of the National Planning Policy Framework and
Core Strategy policy CP1.
20. Prior to commencement of development (with the exception of tree/vegetation
clearance) full details of the construction roads, footways including levels, widths,
construction materials, depths of construction, surface water drainage and lighting shall
be submitted to and improved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The roads and
footways for each relevant phase shall be constructed in accordance with the approved
details to road base level before that phase of the development is occupied and the final
wearing course will be provided within 3 months of occupation unless otherwise agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
21. No part of any buildings hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the vehicle
parking space for that phase has been provided in accordance with the approved plans.
The vehicle parking space shall be permanently maintained and remain available for the
parking of vehicles at all times.
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway
safety, convenience and amenity.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
22. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted (with the
exception of tree/vegetation clearance) details of secure and covered bicycle storage/
parking facilities for the occupants of the development shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The cycle storage/ parking for each
phase shall be implemented in accordance with such details, as may be approved
before occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall be permanently
retained in the approved form for the parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are provided so as
to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4
(Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
23. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order
with or without modification), the garage accommodation on the site identified on the
approved plans shall be kept available for the parking of vehicles ancillary to the
residential use of the site at all times. It shall not be used for any business nor as
habitable space.

Reason: To ensure that adequate parking space is available on the site, so as to reduce
the likelihood of roadside parking, in the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policy CC07.
24. Prior to the occupation of the development (with the exception of tree/vegetation
clearance), the proposed main vehicular access shall have been formed and provided
with visibility splays shown on the approved drawings. The land within the visibility
splays shall be cleared of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height and
maintained clear of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
25. Prior to first occupation the details of the improvement works to the Nine Mile Ride
and Lupin Ride pedestrian/cycle connections will be required to ensure that these
connections will be constructed to a safe all-weather standard that is appropriate to the
setting and is acceptable to the LPA. All work shall be carried out in accordance with the
agreed detail.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. To encourage use of
sustainable transport options.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
26. Prior to commencement of development (with the exception of tree/vegetation
clearance), a plan showing the extent of highway that will be offered for adoption will be
submitted to the LPA for approval. This is to ensure that the connections to and through
the site will be in public ownership as rights of way.
Reason: In the interests of clarity and to ensure adequate future maintenance of the
highway.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
27. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority, a Communications Plan. The Plan shall specify
methods for communicating with local residents, including the creation of a liaison group
to meet in accordance with an agreed schedule. The plan shall include a name and
telephone number for residents to contact should any issues arise during the
construction period. The Plan shall be carried out as approved until the final completion
of the development
Reason: In order to minimise disturbance to neighbours during construction works
Policy: NPPG, CP3

28. No other development of the site as hereby approved shall take place until the
access on to Old Wokingham Road has been constructed in accordance with the
approved plans.
Reason: To ensure adequate access into the site for vehicles, plant and deliveries
associated with the development in the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.

29. Prior to the commencement of the development (with the exception of
tree/vegetation clearance) a Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The travel plan shall include a programme of
implementation and proposals to promote alternative forms of transport to and from the
site, other than by the private car and provide for periodic review. The travel plan shall
be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as so-approved.
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes. Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4
(Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policy CP6.
30. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was no previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately
to the Local Planning Authority. Any subsequent investigation/remedial/protective works
deemed necessary by the LPA shall be carried out to agreed timescales and approved
by the LPA in writing. If no contamination is encountered during the development, a
letter confirming this fact shall be submitted to the LPA upon completion of the
development.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. This site is
located over the Windlesham Formation (Secondary A Aquifer) and the groundwater is
shallow under the site and the LPA and EA wish to ensure no water contamination
occurs.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP3
31. Prior to the commencement of development a detailed reptile mitigation strategy
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
detailed reptile mitigation strategy shall be in accordance with the reptile mitigation and
contingency measures contained within paragraph 7.46-7.55 of the submitted Land at
Old Wokingham Road, Pinewood, Crowthorne Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA)
Revision 4 (Capita, June 2014). The mitigation strategy shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: To ensure the continued protection of protected species.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7.
32. The mitigation, contingency and enhancement measures contained within chapter 7
of the submitted Land at Old Wokingham Road, Pinewood, Crowthorne Ecological
Impact Assessment (EcIA) Revision 4 (Capita, June 2014) shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: To ensure the continued protection of protected species.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7.
33. Prior to commencement of development a detailed scheme to maintain the
ecological permeability of the site (especially with regard to reptiles, amphibians and
hedgehogs) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
for of the development. The mitigation and contingency measures contained within the
plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise

approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure the continued protection of protected species.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP7.
34. No development shall commence until a Construction Environmental Management
Plan has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority. The Plan should detail items
such as phasing of construction, lorry routing and potential numbers, types of piling rig
and earth moving machinery to be utilised and measures proposed to mitigate the
impact of construction operations. In addition, the plan should make note of any
temporary lighting that will be used during the construction phase of the development as
well as measures to control dust. The plan shall be implemented in full and retained
until the development has been constructed. Any deviation from this statement shall be
first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure disruption is minimised as much as possible during construction.
Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP3
35. Prior to commencement of development (with the exception of tree/vegetation
clearance), the details of the construction and management of the emergency access
on to Hatch Ride shall be provided. This shall include details of how vehicular access
shall be restricted to emergency vehicles. All work and measures shall be carried out in
accordance with the agreed detail.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. To encourage use of
sustainable transport options.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
36. Prior to the commencement of development (with the exception of tree/vegetation
clearance), a phasing plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Once agreed the development shall be carried out in accordance
with the agreed phasing plan unless otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA.
Reason: The developer wishes to construct the development in phases. The phasing
plan will allow the provision of relevant infrastructure at the correct points in the
development.
Policy: NPPF, NPPG
37. Drainage condition. The wording of the two drainage conditions is currently under
review. It is likely that these two conditions will be merged together to create one
condition. Further details will be provided in the members update.

Informatives:
1. The development accords with the policies contained within the adopted /
development plan and there are no material considerations that warrant a different
decision being taken.
2. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions which
must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. Commencement of the
development without complying with the pre-commencement requirements may be

outside the terms of this permission and liable to enforcement action. The information
required should be formally submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant
fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the development should be carried
out only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case
officer to discuss.
3. The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details. Non-material
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.
4. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under
Section 106 dated (xxx) of the Town and Country Planning Act the contents of which
relate to this development.
5. The developer’s attention is drawn to the fact that this permission does not authorise
the physical construction of the proposed off-site highway works and site access
connections to the public highway. A separate legal agreement (Minor Works
Agreement) made with the Council under s.184/278 of the Highways Act 1980 is
required. No work within or affecting the public highway shall commence until the
agreement has been completed and the Council, as local highway authority, has
approved all construction and installation details together including with a programme of
works. You should note that in this case there are two Highway Authorities as this is a
cross boundary application.
6. If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority, to
adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public expense, then
full engineering details must be agreed with the Highway Authority at the Council
Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer is strongly advised not to commence
development until such details have been approved in writing and a legal agreement is
made with the Council under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980.
7. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a
public highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 New
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and licensed as
required under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in order to minimise
disruption to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the highway.
Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any utility
to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the Borough’s Street
Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST three months in
advance of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination with other works so as
to minimise disruption.
8. Thames Water wishes to inform the applicant that it will aim to provide customers
with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx. 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute
at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account
of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development.

PLANNING HISTORY
The site is currently allocated in the Local Plan under MDD policy SAL01. The site has
been identified as a housing site under the Borough’s Local Plan Documents since 11th
March 2004. (Previously as a reserve site under the Wokingham District Local Plan,
now as an allocated site under the MDD).
There is no recent planning history, in terms of planning applications, on the site
pertinent to this application.

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing units
Proposed units
Number of affordable units proposed
Previous land use
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

Circa 4.2 hectare developed area +
SANG and buffer
0
116 Dwellings
Commuted sum
Vegetated allocated housing site
0
255 spaces (Plus 71 garage spaces)

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Development is acceptable in principle in accordance with
WBC Land Use and
policy SAL01.
Transport team
(Planning Policy)
Highways Authority
No objection, subject to conditions (Conditions 17, 20-26 & 2829).
Trees and Landscape No objection subject to conditions (Conditions 4-10)
Environmental Health

No objection, subject to conditions (Conditions 8, 17, 34)

Ecology

No objection on ecological or SPA Grounds (Subject to
conditions)

Environment Agency

Applicant has met the requirements of the NPPF. The EA
recommends drainage based on Sustainable Urban Drainage
Principles (Condition 31, 33).

WBC Drainage

No objection (Subject to condition 37)

Thames Water

No objection

Borough Archaeologist No objection, subject to condition (Conditions 18)
Waste Services

No objection raised

Education Services

No objection, subject to appropriate infrastructure
contributions,
additional
educational
provision
and
arrangements will be made by the Borough to cater for need.
Bracknell Forest Borough Council made representations on

Bracknell Forest

Borough Council

the proposal. Bracknell Forest have a duplicate planning
application to determine as this is a cross boundary application
and part of the works are within Bracknell Forest. BFBC
current position is as follows (full comments are on the case
file):
-

-

-

-

-

-

REPRESENTATIONS
Wokingham Without
Parish Council

How will educational provision be made for the site?
(BFBC cannot collect contributions for this and this area
has traditionally been shared catchment for the
Edgbarrow school). (Officer note: Development is CIL
liable and education is on the CIL 123 list. WBC as well
as BFC have a statutory duty to provide education.)
Pedestrian/Cycle crossing to the TRL should be
removed from the scheme. (officer note: This has been
removed from the latest plans)
Details of upgrade works to OWR/Nine Mile ride
junction should be secured (Officer Note: See highways
section of this report, this is not considered necessary
by WBC in its role as Highway Authority.)
BFBC will be seeking an S106 contribution for a signal
controlled crossing south of Hatch Ride (Officer Note:
This would be secured against BFBC’s application)
BFBC consider that the cycle arrangements for the site
may require reconsidering (Officer note: The section of
cycle path in question has been removed from the
plans).
BFBC consider the main access point to the site will
cause significant harm to the character of the area.
However in light of the duty to co-operate BFBC are not
pursuing this objection.

Objected to the proposals and raised the following points, (the
Parish Council comments are of a significant length a full copy
is appended to this report), this is only intended to act as a
summary of key points:
-

-

-

That the application has been through too many
amendments and should be resubmitted. (Officer note:
the amendments to the applications have been fairly
minor and have seen the number of units reduced;
WBC could not reasonably insist on resubmission).
The development is unnecessary, WBC has enough
housing land supply (Officer note: The houses are
allocated in the local plan and form an important part of
the Borough’s Housing land supply. The development is
acceptable in principle and necessary for the Borough
to maintain supply)
Bad deal for Wokingham in terms of infrastructure
(Officer note: The development is CIL Liable and
therefore will contribute to infrastructure in the same

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

way as any other residential development, the
development also secures the provision of a SANG)
Development provides excessive strain on the essential
greenspace between Bracknell, Crowthorne and
Wokingham (Officer note – The SANG will partially
provide this buffer, the site has already been allocated
and the time for challenging this was during the MDD
allocation process).
Residents struggle to understand how with the existing
lack of infrastructure in Wokingham Without area can
withstand the pressure of new housing. (Officer note:
The site has been allocated and the infrastructure has
been planned for. The development is CIL liable and the
CIL 123 list plans for the Borough’s infrastructure
requirements)
Overdevelopment when considered with the cumulative
impact of other developments, particularly in terms of
infrastructure provision. (Officer note: The development
is not dependent on the TRL. The suitability and
deliverability of the site was considered as part of the
MDD allocation process)
Risk to Local Landscape Character/Pine Ridge decision
(Officer note: The site has been allocated for this
purpose for around 100 dwellings. The allocation of the
site has established the principle of development –
impact on character is considered later in the report)
Loss of Visual Amenity/visual intrusion (Officer Note:
Impact on amenity is considered later in this report. In
planning terms there is no continued right to a view of
woodland)
Biodiversity & Ecological Risk (Officer Note: Ecological
risk and adequacy of the SANG has been considered
by the Borough Ecologist and Natural England and this
element of the proposal is considered acceptable)
Recognising Surface Water Flooding Risk (not ground
water flooding) (Officer Note: Drainage solution is
considered satisfactory by WBC drainage consultants
and the EA – see later in report)
Transport issues and risks (Officer note: WBC
Highways consider the highway impacts and safety to
be acceptable)
Unproven control over infrastructure delivery (Officer
note: Development is CIL liable & not dependent on
TRL)
No proven collaboration model between WBC/BFC
(Officer note: The development is not dependent on
TRL. BFBC also have an application on this scheme)
Failure to integrate with strategic infrastructure (Officer
note: WBC are satisfied with the infrastructure
provision, Cycle provision is under review and findings
will be presented to members in the update)
High impact due to Affordable Housing (Officer note:

-

Ward Member(s)

AH is being provide in full accordance with the MDD)
The Parish also raised concerns over amenity, parking,
noise and disturbance, emergency access and
character. (Officer note: These issues are considered
later in this report)

Cllr Ross wrote on behalf of all 3 ward members:
Members welcomed the reduction in number of units on the
scheme. “Members were pleased that WBC went back to the
developers regarding the issues of the Tree Screen, the
French Drain and Trees and that the developer has
responded, apparently positively, on these issues. They do
represent the main concerns of local residents, accepting that
the whole scheme is on a site identified in the Local Plan,
albeit with a greater number of dwellings than originally
envisaged.
We are concerned that the Landscape Buffer, which does
appear to meet local expectations, is adequately guaranteed
within conditions on any planning approval. Assurance of this
is essential.”
Carried over from earlier comments, Members were also keen
for opportunities for pedestrian connectivity to be taken up and
for assurances that separation distances exist between the
flats and properties on Hatch Ride.

Neighbour Comments

Letters of objection and comment have been received from 82
different residents or groups (many were updated after reconsultation). Points made at all stages of consultation have
been reflected in the summary below. The planning issues
raised were:
Principle of development & impact to character/locality:










Scheme considered overdevelopment of the site
Too many units on the scheme compared to allocation of
‘around 100’
Crowthorne has already had its fair share of development/
Crowthorne is already overdeveloped. Cumulative impact
of this development along with the TRL development,
Broadmoor and others is unacceptable.
The initial allocation of this site does not accord with the
duty to co-operate. (Officer note: MDD including Policy
SAL01 was found sound in this regard by the examination
inspector).
Enough development is planned for the area. This housing
isn’t required.
Crowthorne doesn’t need flats.
This
site
acts
a
valued
buffer
to
other









development/settlements
Will erode the village feel of Crowthorne
Loss of visual amenity from Hatch Ride/Old Wokingham
Road
Housing on this site will affect the green character or
character of adjacent housing/localities. (Officer note: Site
has been allocation for housing in the MDD Local Plan, this
is not the process for discussing whether or not the land
should be allocated for housing or not, this issue had to be
addressed through the MDD examination in public)
Character of development is unlikely to be satisfactory with
regards some unit types and with the design of the
affordable housing.
Density is too high.
Could set a precedent for out of settlement development of
buildings with large plots (Officer note: these would not
have the benefit of allocation in the development plan and
so would be unlikely to be acceptable)

Highway and access matters:















Permission for an access should not be granted/access is
not suitable
Potential issues of highway safety for motorists
Potential issues of highway safety for pedestrians and
cyclists
Already too much queuing and traffic pressure on Old
Wokingham Road/Nine Mile Ride/Wider network and
associated junctions
There have been a number of accidents in the area already
Vehicles regularly speed on Old Wokingham Road
Insufficient public transport around the site
Development will cause cumulative traffic problems.
Site is not in a sustainable location
Poor public transport in the area
Unacceptable traffic capacity risk based on unsound
assumptions
Insufficient parking
Paths may be used by motorcyclists (this would be a
police/highway authority issue)
Existing paths should not be lost

Amenity:







Could lead to loss of privacy and overlooking
Could lead to loss of light
Risk of overbearing
Could lead to additional noise and pollution/air quality
issues
Development should be better screened from other houses.
Revisions to the plan are to the detriment of Hatch Ride
residents as the buffer is reduced. Buffer is still not




sufficient.
Existing
charities
land
provides
leisure/walking
opportunities
Original southern buffer with rear gardens was better

Other:






















Proposals could lead to a negative impact upon ecology,
particularly great crested newts, reptiles, owls and nearby
SPAs and SSSIs.
Potentially Japanese knotweed in the area
Too much loss of vegetation/mature woodland. More
vegetation should be retained.
Potential impact upon trees and other vegetation
Lack of School spaces, Doctors’ capacity etc.
Shops and garages may not have capacity.
Potential problems with water infrastructure
Development can’t piggyback on the back of the TRL
development
Should be more joined up thinking between Wokingham
and Bracknell Council
Some of the works are on Bracknell Forest Land and
approval of works may not be with in WBCs gift (Officer
note: and application for Works within Bracknell Forest has
been submitted to Bracknell Forest Council).
Residents of Hatch Ride used to have direct access on to
green space.
Infrastructure money may be spent away from Crowthorne
40% affordable housing is out of line with surrounding area
Affordable housing should not be provided here
On site drainage is poor/risk of flooding. Loss of trees
which help with drainage is not desirable.
May impact on ground water
Limited employment opportunities within Crowthorne, this
has sustainability implications
Lack of waste/sewerage capacity in the area
Drainage solutions not acceptable. May increase risk to
surrounding properties including those in Hatch Ride.
PD rights should be removed (as at Lupin Ride) (Officer
note: conditions 16 is recommended removing some PD
rights)

APPLICANTS POINTS





Site is allocated within development plan
Location is sustainable and provides affordable housing in accordance with
Borough Standards
Development mitigates for the Thames Basin Special Protection Area (SPA)
impact with SANG
Scheme has been through significant negotiation and redesign to accommodate
requests of various stakeholders.

PLANNING POLICY
National policies:
National Planning Policy Framework
Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework – Core Strategy:
CP1 – Sustainable development
CP2 – Inclusive communities
CP3 – General Principles for Development
CP4 – Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 – Housing mix, density and affordability
CP6 – Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP8 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 – Scale and location of development proposals
CP10 – Improvements to Strategic Transport Network
CP17 – Housing delivery
Managing Development Delivery DPD submission version:
Cross Cutting Policies:
CC01 – Development Limits
CC02 – Settlement Separation Areas
CC03 – Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 – Sustainable Design and construction
CC05 – Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06– Noise
CC07 – Parking
CC09 – Development and Flood Risk
CC10 – Sustainable Drainage
Topic Based Policies:
TB05 – Housing Mix
TB07 – Internal Space Standards
TB09 – Residential accommodation for vulnerable groups
TB21 – Landscape Character
TB23 – Biodiversity and development
SAL01 – Housing Allocations Sites (Sites identified through previous development plan)
SAL05 - Delivery of avoidance measures for Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area
Other guidance:



Borough Design Guide SPD
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD

PLANNING ISSUES
APPRAISAL
Principle of Development:
1. The site is located within a settlement boundary and as such development of new
residential dwellings is acceptable in principle providing that its detail complies with the
principles stated in the Core Strategy. Core Strategy policy CP3 provides general
principles for all development, with the primary remit that development should be
appropriate to the surrounding street scene and without detriment to the amenity of
neighbouring residents. The Wokingham Borough Design Guide provides
recommendations for residential schemes.
2. The NPPF requires that proposed dwellings should be well integrated with, and
complement local buildings in relation to scale, density, layout and access. The current
position with regards planning policy encourages character-led development. The
Borough Design guide provides substantial advice on layout best practice.
3. The site was allocated in the Wokingham District Local Plan (2004) as a Reserve
Housing Site. The development site was then subsequently included in Managing
Development Delivery Development Local Plan (MDD), this allocation widened the
Crowthorne settlement boundary (policy CC01) and designated the site for development
of ‘around 100’ dwellings (policy SAL01). MDD Appendix 12 indicates that this site
should incorporate a 40m landscape buffer to Old Wokingham Road and provide at
least 40% affordable housing. The MDD was adopted in February 2014 and as such the
principle of development on the site is acceptable.
4. The northern part of the site (incorporating the SANG, other landscaping and
attenuation basins) is located outside of settlement limits and therefore within the remit
of Policy CP11 of the Wokingham District Core Strategy, which states that development
outside defined settlement boundaries will be strictly controlled. Where acceptable in
principle the countryside can accommodate some forms of development without
detriment provided that the development type, form and design are sensitive to the
location. The NPPF indicates that Local Authorities should seek to protect the intrinsic
beauty of countryside locations. The northern part of the site was allocated under MDD
Policy SAL05 for provision of a SANG and this adds weight in favour of the proposal.
5. The NPPF requires that proposed dwellings should be well integrated with, and
complement local buildings in relation to scale, density, layout and access. Policy CP3
of the Core Strategy outlines that development should be appropriate to the surrounding
streetscene, and without detriment to the amenity of neighbouring residents. The
current position with regards planning policy encourages character led development.
The Borough Design guide provides substantial advice on layout best practice.
Land within Bracknell Forest Council administrative area:
6. A strip of land approximately 1m wide running between St Michaels Cottages and
Hatch Ride is located within Bracknell Forest Borough Council administrative area, this
land also includes the vehicular access point to the site. As such the development is a
cross boundary scheme and a duplicate application has been submitted to BFBC for
their consideration.

Impact upon the character of the area
Density:
7. The site occupies an edge-of-settlement location and is currently a reasonably well
vegetated and undeveloped site. The site has been identified for an allocation of
around 100 dwellings, however 116 dwellings are currently proposed. The density of the
proposal is approximately 27.5 dwellings per hectare over the developable area
(excluding 40m vegetative buffer). Whilst minimum densities have been removed by
previous planning policy, the NPPF still encourages the efficient use of land.
8. The proposed density is broadly in line with the densities proposed on the other
allocated sites in the MDD document and is similar to the densities of other recently
residential development sites in the Borough, and as such is considered to be
acceptable, and would not appear unduly excessive in the context of other
developments in the Borough.
Housing Mix
9. The proposal for 116 new dwellings incorporates the following mix:
•
•
•
•

10 x 1 bed dwellings
19 x 2 bed dwellings
49 x 3 bed dwellings
38 x 4+ bed dwellings

10. This incorporates several different housing types to cater for a range of household
sizes. Whilst it would be preferable for a slightly higher proportion of smaller units to be
provided on the site, it is accepted that the form and type of dwellings is reflective of
local character and the requirements of the Core Strategy and MDD. The Affordable
Housing Officer is satisfied that the mix allows for potentially adequate affordable
housing to be provided to meet local need and as such this is acceptable.
Character, layout and design
11. The site is located on the north eastern edge of the settlement of Crowthorne. The
site is well vegetated and has become fairly overgrown particularly in recent years since
its initial reserve allocation. The site is however an allocated site which was allocated in
February 2014 for residential development of around ‘100 dwellings’ and as such it is
fairly inevitable that there will be a relatively significant change in the appearance of the
area as it has been identified for housing. The applicant has recognised this verdant
existing character and as a result has maintained a significant 40m vegetative buffer
between the proposed housing and Old Wokingham Road to help retain some of this
green character. The 40m buffer is considered to be a significant benefit to the site and
provides significantly greater landscaping than on comparable sites which helps to
partially mitigate the loss of vegetation.
12. Bracknell Forest Council have expressed concerns that the access through the
buffer could impact upon the character of the area. However WBC officers consider that
the access takes up a very small proportion of the overall frontage, is an entirely

ordinary feature within settlement limits, and that the substantial 40m deep buffer helps
to provide far superior screening to the development than on most other sites in either
borough and as such a reason for refusal could not be substantiated on this point.

13. The scheme is residential in nature and proposes dwellings of traditional scale and
design, comprising 1 2, 3, and 4 bed houses constructed of brick, tile and other
traditional materials, incorporating integrated parking and proportionate landscaping
around dwellings. The dwellings are generally designed in detached and semi-detached
forms as well as small terraces of generally no more than three dwellings. A 3 storey
block of flats is located at the South east which addresses the main public open space
on the site.
14. Generally, dwelling heights are two storey, with some plots incorporating an
additional upper floor in the roof space (to make 2.5 storeys). Three storey dwellings are
less common throughout the development and are strategically placed in areas where
they would not have a significant adverse impact upon character. This traditional scale
has been adopted in order to fit with the surrounding forms of development in the area.

(Indicative streetscene)

15. The design of the buildings has been broken down in visual terms by the use of
gables, variations in building lines and a wide pallet of materials proposed. Generally,
the building styles and design have adopted a relatively traditional approach which is
considered reflective of Crowthorne. Other design features adding visual interest to the
scheme include the curved nature of the main cul-de-sac road, the large open space in
the centre of the site, adequate areas for landscaping at the front of the properties,
gable designs with mixed brickwork and rendering styles, along with the use of
attractive traditional pitched roofs. Generous buffer areas particularly facing on to Old
Wokingham Road mean that the development would be significantly more verdant than
other new developments in the Borough, particularly when viewed from the main public
viewpoints surrounding the site.

(Flats and houses addressing open space)
16. The development has been through several changes to the design of its layout and
is considered acceptable and in accordance with the Borough Design guide. The most
significant amendments during the application process were alterations to the southern
boundary properties adjacent to Hatch Ride. These have been moved away from this
boundary and a small vegetative buffer created in order to provide separation from
properties to the south on Hatch Ride, a soft edge to the development, as well as an
ecology corridor. The buffer has also helped to create the required minimum separation
distances to properties on Hatch Ride. Other amendments have reduced the density of
the development and created a looser fit for buildings in certain parts of the site.
17. The affordable units have a similar overall design as the rest of the development
,are well distributed across the site and will integrate well with the development as a
whole. Furthermore, all affordable units exceed the minimum floor space dimensions
and this element is considered acceptable.
18. The open landscaped area created to the north adds to visual openness and
provides good landscaping opportunities. Properties surrounding the open space
address it well and this providing natural surveillance over this area and it forms a
natural entrance point for residents in to the SANG. The development will be bordered
by a 5 hectare SANG which will offer a green backdrop to the development and provide

landscaping to the north of the site. The SANG is considered well designed and
provides paths and other furniture to promote access to the green space. It is
considered that all features with in the SANG including the proposed bridge are
reasonable and proportionate and will not detract from its character.
19. The above design and layout elements are considered typical of modern
development in the Borough and are reflective of local character, further integration can
be secured by a condition requiring the submission of material details (condition 2) and
landscaping.
Tree and Landscape issues
20. As previously detailed the site is significantly vegetated, however this was the case
at the time of its allocation. The vegetation on the site is generally relatively young and
the scheme has been designed to try to prioritise the retention of the higher quality trees
on site. The Tree and Landscape officer has expressed regret over the loss of
vegetation at the site however recognises that this is in the context of the sites
allocation. During the application process the Tree and Landscape officer has requested
significant alterations to the scheme including the re-orientation of houses to the south
of the site, creation of the southern buffer and various amendments to the layout. These
requests have been accommodated by the applicant.
21. Bracknell Forest Borough Council expressed concerns over the widening of the
footpath to accommodate a 3m wide cycleway and requested that this be reduced.
Bracknell had concerns over the impact on vegetation adjacent to the highway and the
potential need for culverting. In order to avoid these issues and protect vegetation the
applicant has agreed to drop the widening of this part of the path from the scheme and
this should address this concern.
22. Following the negotiated revisions to the scheme the Trees & Landscape Officer is
satisfied that the site is capable of accommodating the development proposed, and as
such has withdrawn their objections to the scheme. Subject to conditions improving the
landscaping details, detailing final levels and drainage details and conditions securing
tree protection details the development is considered acceptable in tree and landscape
terms (Conditions 4-10).
Impact upon the countryside.
23. All of the proposed residential development is located within settlement limits. The
northern part of the site is located within the designated countryside outside of the
designated settlement. This part of the site incorporates the SANG open space for the
site and the drainage basins/pond. Development such as the bridge and the SANG
access paths and fencing that promote countryside access are acceptable in principle
and no objection has been raised to them by the Landscapes Officer or the Countryside
Ranger. These are considered acceptable rural uses will enhance the green space and
maintain the character of the rural locality and their design is considered acceptable. As
such no conflict with Core Strategy Policy CP11 is considered to arise.

Amenity space & Internal Space Standards:
24. The Borough Design Guide also establishes requirements for private amenity
space. Houses should generally have a ‘roughly rectangular shape’ garden and good
access to sunlight, with a useable private garden of at least 11 metres in depth.
25. The proposed layout would achieve roughly rectangular gardens of at least the
minimum recommended depth in each case for each house. (The small garden on plots
82 serves a flat over a garage). All gardens for houses are considered to be of an
acceptable size and usable nature compliant with the aims of the Borough Design
Guide.
26. The MDD policy TB07 seeks to achieve certain internal space standards in new
dwellings. These have been achieved on all dwellings within the site, including the
affordable housing. Both the Gross Internal Area (GIA) and Combined Living, Dining
and Kitchen area standards have been met on all units and the developer has clearly
marked this up on all floor plans.
Residential amenities:
27. The dwellings proposed are considered to be of ordinary and traditional scale and
there is not a significant change in levels between the site and surroundings. The
Borough Design Guide sets out minimum recommended separation distances between
dwellings in order to preserve amenity and character. The recommended distances are
as follows:

28. All the two storey dwellings proposed (with rear to rear, or rear to front relationships)
would be more than 22m from all residential dwellings adjacent to the site. With the
exception of the flats all properties in close proximity to the boundary are two storey, as
22m is the longest of the Borough Design Guide’s recommended separation distances
and there are no significant other material considerations it is considered that in this

case all dwellings beyond this distance are far enough away to avoid significant loss of
light, overbearing or overlooking. Any dwellings within 22m of existing properties have
side to side relationships or side to rear relationships and exceed the respective
minimum separation distances.
29. The site proposes some elements of three storey development in close proximity to
the boundary with Hatch Ride. This takes the form of the flats adjacent to the open
space. The rear elevation of the flat block faces on to the diagonal flank elevation of 64
Hatch Ride with a separation distance of 28m. The back to flank separation distance
required by the Borough Design guide is 15m and in this regard the scheme is
compliant. Even if a greater separation distance was to be required due to the diagonal
orientation of number 64, the scheme nearly meets the 30m requirement for three
storey “back to back” development, and is separated by car ports and a good vegetative
buffer, as such this relationship is considered more than satisfactory.
30. Within the development site the scheme has been designed to comply with the
Borough’s separation distances and there are no areas of concern with regards poor
amenity between individual two storey plots. The separation distances between the 3
storey dwellings numbered plot 17, 19, 20 and 21 are considered to be acceptable
given the orientation of the buildings and the separation distances from elevations with
windows in them. It is considered that no unacceptable loss of light, overbearing or
overlooking arises as a result of this proposal.
Noise and Disturbance and other Environmental Health matters:

Noise and other issues arising from general residential use and access:
31. The proposals are unlikely to have any significant impact on the existing residential
properties with regards noise and disturbance. The proposed residential properties are
not considered to cause any more significant an impact than any other residential
scheme and as such would be acceptable. If any out of the ordinary unacceptable noise
arose then this would be separately controlled by the Environmental Health legislation if
a Statutory Nuisance is found to result. Impacts during construction will be controlled
through an hours of construction condition (Condition 9).
32. The occupiers of some of the dwellings on Hatch Ride have expressed concerns
over the proximity of the southern access road to their dwellings. Similar issues have
been highlighted by the Parish Council for the access paths near St. Michaels Cottages.
Whilst officers have sympathy with the occupiers that their property will no longer back
on to vegetated green space, this cannot be apportioned any significant weight. Loss of
view is not a planning issue, and whilst some occupiers have suggested there may be
unacceptable noise and air quality issues as a result this claim cannot be substantiated.
Relationships like this are common place throughout the Borough especially on corner
plots in particular and refusal for this reason could not be substantiated.
Land Affected by Contamination
33. The proposed end use is sensitive in nature being residential with private gardens.
WBC Environmental Health has no knowledge of known pollution or contamination on

this site. In accordance with the NPPF, the possibility of contamination should be
considered on a precautionary basis when considering sensitive proposals such as
residential in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and the
precautionary principle.
34. A Ground Appraisal Report (Ref: GE9790/GAR/JUNE14 dated June 2014 by
Geoenvironmental Services Ltd) has been submitted with the application. The report
provides an assessment of potential contamination at the subject site which includes a
Phase 1 Desk Study with Conceptual Site Model and site walkover survey as well as a
preliminary intrusive investigation comprising soil sampling and chemical testing. This
meets the minimum requirements of the NPPF with respect to the assessment of land
affected by contamination.
35. The Phase 1 Desk Study did not identify any sources of potential contamination on
or in the immediate vicinity of the site which could give rise to contamination. However,
a relatively small number of exploratory holes were undertaken on site and soil samples
submitted for chemical analysis as a precaution. No concentrations of contaminants
were recorded above their guideline values for a residential end use and the report
concluded that no further works are required.
36. It is considered that an insufficient number of exploratory locations and samples
were undertaken across the site for even a preliminary investigation to inform a suitable
and reliable human health risk assessment. However, as no potential sources of
contamination were identified on or in the vicinity of the site, and no Made Ground was
recorded. The Environmental Health Officer considers that it is unlikely that significant
contamination is present at the site which would present an unacceptable risk to end
users. In order to address the insufficiency of the human health risk assessment
Condition 30 is recommended.

Access and Movement:
Traffic Impact/Travel Demand
37. Highway works to Old Wokingham Road (south of the Pinewood roundabout) lie
within the administrative area of Bracknell Forest Council. WBC has no objections to
the construction of the access junction to the site and other associated works.
38. The immediate impact of the development traffic will directly affect junctions which
fall mainly in Bracknell Forest as well as some within Wokingham Borough. The TA
Addendum has provided additional analysis using data from BFC’s Transport Model and
from the Transport Assessment produced for the TRL development for the Pinewood
Crossroads roundabout junction of Old Wokingham Road with Nine Mile Ride. The
results indicate that the junction improvement required by the TRL development at this
roundabout will have sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional traffic generated
by this proposal and that this development in isolation will not warrant the capacity
improvements.
39. The number of dwellings proposed has been reduced from the original 123 to 116

and the Highway Authority Considers that about 60 vehicle movements could be
expected in each of the am and pm peak hour periods. The original (Pinewood
roundabout) junction capacity calculations (Table 4.1 of the Transport Assessment
Addendum report) showed existing (2012) queueing on the Old Wokingham Road
northbound and southbound approaches (34 vehicles southbound in the pm peak hour
and 34 vehicles northbound in the am peak hour). Table 4.3 of the Transport
Assessment Addendum shows that as a result of this development proposal these
queue lengths would increase to 49 vehicles northbound (am peak hour) and 41
vehicles southbound (pm peak hour).
40. Capacity improvements to the Pinewood roundabout have been approved as part of
the forthcoming development of the TRL site. These improvements are shown in the
Transport Assessment Addendum report that supports this application at Appendix F
(Vectos drawing number 110015/B/17) and will reduce the northbound queue to 4
vehicles (in the am peak) and the southbound queue to 5 vehicles (in the pm peak).
41. The Nine Mile Ride eastbound approach to the roundabout is however shown to be
operating at capacity with queues of 19 vehicles being predicted during the am peak
hour period (Table 4.8). It is clear that some worsening of the operation of the
Pinewood roundabout is anticipated in advance of the Pinewood roundabout capacity
improvement works that will be carried out as part of the forthcoming TRL development.
It should be noted however that the 49 vehicle queue northbound and the 41 vehicle
queue southbound would result in average queueing delays of 2.61 min and 1.93 min
respectively (detailed Arcady output from Appendix G of the Transport Assessment
Addendum Report).
42. It is considered by WBC Highways that the impact of this development would not be
severe, and in isolation would not require direct highway works to be undertaken.
Bracknell Forest have requested additional information on interim works that could be
undertaken to the Pinewood Roundabout by the applicant, these have been reviewed
by WBC Highway Authority, and whilst they would improve the situation ahead of the
arrival of the TRL scheme, they are not considered necessary for this development to
be approved and as such officers have not required a condition requiring this work to be
undertaken. Furthermore, whilst it is likely that this site will come forward ahead of the
TRL site there is no guarantee that it will. If BFC consider that there is a need, and can
justify a planning condition, this can be secured through the application currently under
consideration by Bracknell Forest.
Highway Safety & Road Design
43. The Highway Authority considers that internal road layout has been designed to
follow best practice. The guidance contained in Manual for Streets has been followed
and the importance of permeability and connectivity has been recognised.
Pedestrian/cycle connections link the development to Nine Mile Ride, Hatch Ride and
Lupin Ride. Hatch Ride will also serve as an emergency vehicle access which is
considered appropriate in all regards given the limited use. Funding for a controlled
crossing at Hatch Ride is being secured through a unilateral undertaking to Bracknell
Forest Council as part of the planning application being considered by BFBC.

44. No details have been provided of any improvement works to the Nine Mile Ride and
Lupin Ride connections and, for that reason, a condition will be required to ensure that
these connections will be provided to a safe all-weather standard that that is appropriate
to the setting and is acceptable to the LPA (Condition 25).
45. A condition will also be required that a drawing showing the extent of highway that
will be offered for adoption will be submitted to the LPA for approval prior to
construction. This is to ensure that the connections to and through the site will be in
public ownership as rights of way (Condition 26).
Car Parking
46. The car parking provision has been reviewed by the applicant and a number of
additional spaces have been identified on site. The overall level of parking provided is
considered acceptable and satisfies the guidance contained in the council’s Parking
Standards Study Report. The overall provision on site is 255 spaces (212 allocated and
43 unallocated) for 116 dwellings. In addition to these spaces the development is
providing 71 garage spaces. The Highway Authority is satisfied with the distribution of
spaces within the scheme and vehicle parking is secured by conditions 21 & 23.
Sustainability & Public Transport
47. The Transport Assessment includes an evaluation of the accessibility of the
application site by non-car modes. The application site is within a convenient walking
distance to certain key facilities such as primary schools and is within a reasonable
walking distance to other local facilities. A wider range of facilities and services is
available in Crowthorne village centre which is within 20 minutes’ walk and a convenient
5 minute cycle ride. Crowthorne railway station is also within a convenient cycle
distance. In the future, additional facilities such as a local centre will almost certainly be
available in the nearby ‘TRL’ development (however the development is not dependent
on these services being provided on the TRL site, and in fact the initial allocation of this
site occurred before the allocation of the TRL land).
48. Currently there are no dedicated cycle facilities along Old Wokingham Road. The
TRL site is to provide a cycleway on Old Wokingham Road to connect to routes on Nine
Mile Ride. This development initially proposed to provide an additional section of
shared footway/cycleway from the north of the site junction to the Hatch Ride junction
indicated in Proposed Site Access Layout drawing. This additional section was to be
within public highway in BFC’s jurisdiction; however BFC have requested that this is
removed from the scheme. A further length of Cycle way runs from the south of the site
into Hatch Ride increasing local permeability and as such given this provision and the
likely future provision of a cycleway within BFC control at TRL there are no concerns
with accommodating BFC’s request.
49. Old Wokingham Road is a bus route for 94 and 194 services which combined
provides a good level of frequency between Camberley and Bracknell (three to four
buses per hour in each direction). Bus stops are located within a convenient walking
distance to the site. Whilst, in the future the 94 and 194 services are anticipated to be

diverted along the TRL site’s spine road which will increase the distance to the bus
stops, it is anticipated the 122A service from Wokingham to Crowthorne Station will then
operate an hourly service along Old Wokingham Road; increasing the choice of
destination and ultimately improving the accessibility of this application site by public
transport.
50. Sufficient cycle parking is not shown on the application drawings. Cycle parking
should be provided in accordance with the council’s Parking Standards Study Report
(Section 5). Where provided, the garages are not of sufficient size to comfortably
accommodate cycles and a parked car, additional cycle storage can however be
secured by condition (condition 22).
51. A Travel Plan (TP) has been produced for this application which aims to encourage
travel by non-car modes. This is secured by condition 29.
Sustainable Design and Construction
52. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policy CC05 requires new development to contribute towards the goal of achieving zero
carbon development by including on-site renewable energy features and minimising
energy and water consumption. This is amplified by the Council’s Sustainable Design
and Construction Supplementary Planning Document and accompanying Developers’
Guide.
53. The application is accompanied by a Sustainability Statement (Tetlow King, July
2014) which demonstrates that energy saving and generating measures will be
undertaken on site in accordance with the Sustainable Design and Construction
Supplementary Planning Document. The following renewable energy initiatives will be
employed to ensure that the proposed development achieves a high level of energy
efficiency and a 10% contribution to the development’s calculated energy demands and
are secured by condition (Condition 14):
•
•
•

Provision of solar thermal panels and photovoltaic panels to offset at least
10% of the development’s energy usage;
Enhanced insulation & fabric efficiency measures to help achieve long term
energy efficiency.
Enhanced water efficiency measures on all dwellings

54. It has been stated in the Sustainability Statement that the dwellings will be built to a
level in excess of the minimum requirements for Code for Sustainable Homes level 4
which accords with policy CC04 of the MDD. As the CfSH was abolished on 27th March
2015 this cannot be secured by planning condition. The application does however show
a commitment to sustainable construction and therefore is considered broadly complaint
with the NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD policies CC04 & CC05.
Flood risk, Drainage and Water:
Flood Zones and Flood risk
55. The NPPF carries forward the sequential approach to flood risk, establishing the
development should be directed away from the areas at highest risk and, where

development is necessary in areas at risk of flooding, it should be made safe without
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD submission policy
CC09 are consistent with this approach, requiring that new development should avoid
increasing and where possible reduce flood risk.
56. The Core Strategy, which was subject to a strategic Flood Risk Assessment,
identifies the area of the site where the dwellings are to be built in as being situated in
Flood Zone 1, where the risk of flooding is low and as such all forms of development including ‘more vulnerable’ uses - are acceptable. Therefore, the proposal complies
with the sequential test with regards flooding.
57. Both WBC Drainage and the Environment Agency have been consulted on the
proposals and both have formally raised ‘no objection’ to the proposals subject to
conditions (Condition 37).
Drainage:
58. WBC Drainage Consultants have reviewed the drainage proposals for the site. The
site drainage solution incorporates a series of drainage measures to help deal with
surface water on the site. These include the attenuation basins located to the site and a
French drain surrounding the development and feeding into the basins. WBC Drainage
have reviewed the proposals and consider that they are acceptable subject to
conditions (Conditions 37).
Crime prevention:
59. Thames Valley Police are not currently in a position to offer comments on planning
applications. However it is recommended that a condition requiring construction to Part
2 of Secure By Design (physical security) be imposed to insure that these issues are
appropriately addressed. (condition 19).
Archaeology
60. Berkshire Archaeology are satisfied with the initial archaeological information
provided and have recommended that a post-determination field evaluation be
undertaken. A Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) for a field evaluation has been
prepared by the applicant’s archaeological consultant and approved by the Borough
Archaeologist.
61. This approach is appropriate to mitigate the impacts of the development proposal on
the buried archaeological heritage in accordance with local and national planning policy.
The Borough Archaeologist recommends a condition requiring an archaeological
evaluation is attached to any planning permission granted, to mitigate the impact of the
development (Condition 18).
Infrastructure Mitigation & Affordable Housing:
Service, Amenity and Infrastructure impact:

62. Wokingham Borough Council’s (WBC) Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Independent Examination was held on the 18th and 19th of September 2014. The Final
Examiner’s Report was received on the 29th October 2014 and concluded that the
Charging Schedule was sound, subject to some minor modifications. CIL was adopted
by Full Council on 19th February 2015 and came into effect for new planning
permissions granted from 6th April 2015. This application is CIL Liable. CIL will provide
infrastructure including highway improvements and education improvements as per the
123 list.
63. In addition to its CIL Liability, commuted sums are required for the ongoing
maintenance of the public spaces. The required SAMM payment for the open space is
£77,213.29 this will be secured by a s106 agreement. A maintenance contribution is not
required for the SANG as this is to be provided privately further details of this
arrangement are detailed later in this report.
Affordable housing
64. To meet the requirements of Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy, a minimum of 40% of
the total number of units (net) should be provided as affordable housing, this equates to
45 units in the proposed 116 dwellings. Based on the Viability Study undertaken by
Levvel Ltd, the Council’s approach to calculating commuted sums for affordable housing
is based on the difference in the residual development value of a scheme without onsite affordable housing and the same scheme with on-site affordable housing. The
executive members for Affordable Housing have agreed a commuted sum of
£4,296,000 (Index Linked) in lieu of the direct provision of affordable housing on the
site.
65. The Housing Strategy Officer and Executive members for affordable Housing
considers that this is acceptable and in line with policy CP5. As such this element of the
scheme is considered satisfactory and will be secured through a s106 Legal Agreement.
Biodiversity and SANG Provision
General Ecology:
66. The Borough Ecologist has considered the implications of this application against
EC Habitats Directive 1992 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010. The Ecologist considers that subject to the application of conditions the actions
proposed will not be detrimental to the ecological value of the site, subject to conditions.
67. The Borough Ecologist has reviewed the submitted EcIA addendum (Capita,
February 2015) and confirms that this demonstrates that this development is unlikely to
adversely affect the local reptile population, bats or other species subject to the
condition requiring the agreement of the management strategies (conditions 30-33).
SANG Provision, open space and Countryside access

Open Space, Childrens Play and LEAP :
68. The Countryside Officer has reviewed the onsite provision of open space and
considers it to be acceptable. An open space with children’s play space is provided in
the middle of the site and is considered to be of an adequate standard. Subject to the
provision of a £77,213.29 contribution for its ongoing maintenance the open space
provision on site is considered acceptable.
SANG:
69. The northern half of the application site lies within the allocated Suitable Alternative
Natural Greenspace (SANG) site known as Land south-west of junction of Old
Wokingham Road and Nine Mile Ride, Crowthorne (5.12ha) under policy SAL05 of the
MDD.
70. The SANG proposal designs are informed by Natural England’s Design Guidance.
The SANGs land will retain the woodland character as far as reasonably practical.
There is to be a circular walking route created through the woodland to promote access
to the SANG. The walking route will provide connectivity to the residential development,
the Public Right of Way (PRoW) along the western boundary as well as to Old
Wokingham Road and Nine Mile Ride.
71. The walking route will utilise existing tracks within the woodland to minimise the
impact on the existing trees. Where additional tracks will be forged, they are to be inkeeping with the wooded, semi-natural character, using natural ground surface and will
utilise more natural materials such as woodchip. A bridge is incorporated within the
SANG to help promote access and this is considered acceptable. The SANG also
incorporates a number of ecological features to help mitigate the impact of the
development including reptile areas and other ecological mitigation as detailed in the
EcIA.
72. The developer has proposed to provide the SANG on this site as a private SANG.
Whilst this is not the traditional approach to SANG provision in the Borough, Natural
England has reviewed the SANG and considers that it has the potential to meet the
requirements for a SANG subject to review of the funding and maintenance
mechanisms in the S106. Maintenance of the SANG will be funded through the use of
an annual service charge. The developer will be required to provide a contingency sum
of circa £497,223 (the equivalent of 10 years maintenance costs), agree to step in rights
should the SANG not be suitably maintained and to maintain the SANG to an
acceptable standard.

CONCLUSION
The proposal is for the erection of 116 dwellings with associated access, parking and
landscaping, SANG and ancillary features. The site is allocated for housing and located
within the major settlement location of Crowthorne.
The application has been subject to revision which has been subject to public
consultation. The amendments to the scheme saw the removal of seven proposed
dwellings from the site and re-orientation of a number of the units to better address the
streets and open spaces as well as the formation of a vegetative buffer to the south of

the site.
It is considered that the proposals are of acceptable form, appearance and scale and
would not be harmful to the street scene or character of the area.
The proposal provides an adequate level of amenity for future residents and the
Highway Officer is satisfied that the scheme will not impact unsatisfactorily upon the
Highway network and provides adequate parking in line with the Council’s Parking
Standards Study Report.
This application is before the Planning Committee as it is major development. It is
considered that the proposed development is acceptable in principle given the
settlement location and current use of the site. The proposals are considered
acceptable and therefore approval is recommended subject to conditions and the
completion of a satisfactory Section 106 agreement.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management

Development
Management Ref
No
F/2015/0767 (iLap)
151328 - (Civica)

No weeks on day of
committee

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

13/23 – Extension of
time to 18/9

Swallowfield

Swallowfield Major

Applicant
Location

Mr VJ and RJ Butler C/O Bradbeer Planning Ltd
Hill Farm
Postcode RG7 1UR
Jouldings Lane
Farley Hill
Proposal
Proposed bio-gas anaerobic digestion power generation facility, to
include the erection of three digester tanks, creation of a storage lagoon,
together with associated plant and equipment, engineering works and
landscaping.
Type
Full
PS Category 6 – All other large scale majors
Officer
David Wetherill
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 19/08/15
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application is a full application and proposes a bio-gas anaerobic digestion power
generation facility, to include the erection of three digester tanks (19m diameter),
creation of a storage lagoon (38m x 60m), together with associated plant and
equipment, engineering works and landscaping. The application is classed under the
‘major’ category and therefore needs to be determined by the planning committee, as
the recommendation is for approval.
The site is located within the Countryside, in a high quality Landscape Character Area
(Farley Hill Wooded Sand and Gravel Hills).
The primary existing business of the site is the production of hay and haylage for use as
animal feed, both from the immediately adjacent land and from other rented land
elsewhere within Berkshire. The farm has been operated as a family run business on
this site for three generations, dating back to the 1940’s. In addition to the agricultural
activities, a number of the farm buildings are let out to tenants for storage and as bases
to run businesses, which will continue (see planning history section). The site has a
dedicated gated access road for HGV s, with an HGV licence (No. OH1116262 R) for
unrestricted operation of one articulated lorry.
The full list of proposed plant and structures is given on attached drawing BPL 16.01 rev
A. Each component of the proposed development is summarised below:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Solids Feeder
2 No. Primary Digesters (19m diameter)
Secondary Digester (18m diameter)
Digestete Storage Lagoon (38m x 60m)
Container for controls and electrical equipment
Container for hot water distribution to the tanks

7. Container for Combined Heat and Power gas engine and alternator
8. Emergency flare for bio-gas and bio-methane
9. Transformer (11kV/414V) for connection to electricity grid
10. Existing silage clamps
11. Biogas upgrading container with adjacent skid mounted equipment
12. Permanent welfare facility cabin
13. Underground propane storage tanks
14. Bio-methane network entry controls kiosk
15. Existing farm buildings
16. Screw-press to separate solid from liquid digestate product
17. New Silage Clamp
18. Stand-by diesel generator
19. Underground silage liquor storage tank (10,000 litres)
All the above will be permanent structures. The only temporary structures will be
welfare facilities for the contractors during the construction phase, comprising a porta
cabin and portable toilet facilities.
The minimum design life of the plant will be 20 years. In practical terms however,
concrete structures are very resilient and the mechanical components will be regularly
overhauled and refurbished such that a significantly longer lifetime could be expected.
The proposed development is a farm diversification project comprises the installation of
a Green Bio-gas Anaerobic Digestion (AD) plant to be sited upon part of the existing
farm yard. The project will create a Green Bio-gas generation facility within an existing
small farm, using Anaerobic Digester technology with a feedstock of locally grown
energy crops to produce bio-methane gas for injection into the local gas network,
sufficient to supply the energy needs for over 2,000 homes (projected 300m3 approx. of
bio methane gas produced hourly). The by-product of the process comprises liquid
digestate which will be used as an organic fertiliser on the farm thereby replacing the
use of nitrogen based fertilisers.
The plant will occupy two nearby areas. The three digester tanks and associated plant
and equipment are proposed on the existing northern part of the hard surfaced yard.
A storage lagoon for liquid digestate is proposed to be formed within part of the field
immediately to the south of the yard, which consists of an area of grassland. The lagoon
will be formed by cut and fill and bounded by landscaped bunds.
The proposed AD Plant will convert organic matter, the ‘feedstock’, into ‘biogas’. The
proposed feedstock will comprise Maize Silage (15,500 t/a), Rye Silage (3,000 t/a),
Grass Silage (3,000 t/a) and Wheat Grain (1,250 t/a). The ‘biogas’ will be purified by
passing through a biogas upgrading plant before being supplied to the gas grid via the
nearby gas main which passes through Hill Farm.
The applicant has produced evidence from Southern Gas Networks (SGN), who has
carried out a feasibility study for the injection of gas and has confirmed that there is
capacity and that the project is very economically viable given the forecast production
rates. The applicants have agreed heads of terms to supply biogas to the grid.
SGN have agreed to provide a network connection to accept the AD plant output into
the nearby gas main and is willing to invest in the Project by building and operating the

gas upgrading and injection equipment.
The applicant makes the case that there is justification for the siting of this site, given
that it is central to the local sources of the feed stock, in close proximity to an
appropriate gas pipe line and would be sustainable in transport terms.
The application includes the following supporting information:
Planning, Design and Access Statement
Business Plan (abridged)
Ecological Appraisal
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement
Soft Landscape Specification
Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan
Transport Statement
Whilst not a planning consideration, for information the project will also be subject to the
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 and the associated
Approved Code of Practice (ACoP), as administered by the Health and Safety
Executive. These require risk assessments to be carried out during the detailed design
phase of the project. The following studies will be included in this HSE Plan:






HazID. This is part of an overall risk management process and involves
designers, end users and management in assessing all the possible hazards and
required safeguards in the proposed workplace.
HazOP. Focused more on the process design of the plant and equipment, this
uses guidewords and brainstorming to identify hazards. The design can then be
adapted to eliminate the risks, or mitigate the impact.
HazAN. Looking specifically at the construction risks, this ensures that the
sequence of work, heavy lifts, laydown requirements, method statements etc. all
address and minimise any possible hazards.

PLANNING STATUS
The site is subject to the following designations:










Landscape Character Area (Quality – High / Sensitivity - Moderate) – Farley
Hill Wooded Sand and Gravel Hills
Countryside
Wyvols Copse Ancient Woodland 100m Consultation Zone (NW of site).
Hornes Copse Ancient Woodland to the east.
Wyvol Copse also a Local Wildlife site
Gas Pipeline Consultation Zone
Minerals Consultation Zone
5km and 7km Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Linear Mitigation
Zone
Adjacent to Sand and Gravel Extraction Zone (south)
Adjacent to Byway 33 (150m away)




Adjacent to non EA watercourse (west)
Bramshill SSSI (0.5km away)

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION by the
Head of Development, subject to the conditions as follows:
TIME
1.
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: By virtue of Sections 91 to 95 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
MATERIALS
2.
Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings
shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall include the colour finish of the proposed AD tanks. Development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
PLANS
3.
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
details shown on the following approved drawings and documents, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
Document No Title

Scale

Revision

Date

Drawings
-

1:2500 @A4

V6

23-Jul-15

1:500 @A1

B

13-Jul-15

1:100 @A1

A

20-Mar-15

1:100 @A1

A

21-Mar-15

1:100 @A1

A

22-Mar-15

1:200 @A1

B

13-Jul-15

1:100 @A1

A

24-Mar-15

BPL-16/01
BPL-16/02

BPL-16/03

BPL-16/04
BPL-16/05

BPL-16/06

Hill Farm and
AD plant
boundaries
Site Layout
Plan
Plant Plans
and Elevations
Sht 1
Plant Plans
and Elevations
Sht 2
Access Road
Elevations
Storage
Lagoon Plan &
Sections
Site Entrance
Gate

PRI 19496 -03
PRI 19496-11
Sht 1
PRI 19496-11
Sht 2
PRI 19496 - 15

Documents
-

PRI 19496
M&M
PRI 19496 lvia

PRI 19496
ECO
PRI 19496
Spec
PRI 19496
M&M

-

-

-

Tree Protection
Plan
Landscape
Proposals
Landscape
Proposals
Lagoon
Sections

1:500 @A1

A

14-Jun-15

1:200 @A1

E

23-Jul-15

1:200 @A1

E

23-Jul-15

1:200 @A2

C

23-Jul-15

Planning
Design and
Access
Statement
AIA and
method
statement
Landscape &
Visual Impact
Assessment
Ecological
Appraisal
Soft
Landscape
Specification
Management
and
Maintenance
Report
Transport
Statement
Briefing Note
on
Environmental
Classification
Business Plan
(Abridged)
Briefing NoteTraffic
Movement
Queries
Responses to
Planning
Objections

-

-

27-Mar-15

-

A

14-Jul-15

-

-

14-Jul-15

-

A

14-Jul-15

-

-

14-Jul-15

-

B

15-Jul-15

-

02

26-Mar-15

-

01

08-Apr-15

-

03

08-Apr-15

-

A

07-May-15

-

A1

12-Jul-15

Reason: To secure the proper planning of the area in accordance with
Development Plan policies.
LANDSCAPING & TREES
4. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a scheme for
the landscaping of the site, including detailed information of the grass, herb, shrub and
tree seeding and planting of the proposed lagoon bunds, other earthworks and adjacent

land and the proposed species- rich, native hedgerow with standard trees as shown
indicatively on the approved plans, as well as planting to soften views of the proposed
digester tanks and access road. The scheme shall be implemented as approved within
12 months of the final completion of the bunds and other earthworks and thereafter be
maintained in accordance with the approved scheme. In the event of any of the trees or
shrubs so planted dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 years of the
completion of the development, a new tree or shrub or equivalent number of trees or
shrubs, as the case may be, of a species first approved by (or a species otherwise
agreed in writing by) the Local Planning Authority, shall be planted and properly
maintained in a position or positions first approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity. Relevant policies: NPPF,
Core Strategy policy CP3 and CP7and MDD Policies CC03, TB21 and TB23.
LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT PLAN
5. 5. Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales,
timetables and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape management
plan shall be carried out as approved.
6.
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance of
the landscaping hereby approved.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3, CP7 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03, TB21 and TB22.
7. DETAILS OF EARTHWORKS
8. 6. Prior to the commencement of the development, details of earthworks shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. These details shall
include detailed plans and calculations showing existing and proposed land levels and
the amount of soil required to form the earth bund, site areas and re-profiled land have
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall
include a timescale for earth moving activities and the amount, character and quality
specification (including particularly fill intended as a growing medium for future
proposed landscape works under condition 4 above), of earth/ inert materials to be
imported to the site. Details shall also include the means of construction for each
element of the development. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
agreed details unless agreed otherwise in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No
excess or unsuitable excavation materials shall be removed from the site.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity and landscape character of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local
Plan policies CC03, TB21 and TB22.
TREE PROTECTION
7a) The tree protection measures shall be implemented in complete accordance with
the Approved Scheme (Prepared by ACD Arboriculture dated 14/06/15) for the duration
of the development (including, unless otherwise provided by the Approved Scheme)
demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving
use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery and installation of site staff

facilities, temporary service and the storage of materials, plant, machinery, oil and fuel .
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving
use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence until the local
planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice) with a period of no
less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the measures identified in the
Approved Scheme on-site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the
Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority has first been
sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to
the area.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policies CCo3 and TB21.
CEASE USE
8. In the event of the plant becoming permanently disused or disused for a period
exceeding one year, all equipment including the concrete plinth shall be removed and
the site restored in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority within six months of the date of this permission.
The scheme shall include details of:
a. The sequence of phasing of (backfilling and) restoration
b. The re-spreading over the floor of the area of subsoil and topsoil in order that
the site has an acceptable visual appearance
c. The ripping of any compacted layers of final cover to ensure adequate
drainage and aeration; such ripping should normally take place before placing
of the topsoil;
d. The machinery to be used in soil re-spreading operations;
e. Drainage of the restored land including the formation of suitably graded
contours to promote natural drainage and the installation of artificial drainage;
f. Grass seeding of restored areas with a suitable herbage mixture to be
approved by the Local Planning Authority;
g. A scheme for the restoration of the lake and bunds to provide a ‘natural’ lake with
profiles of banks and bunds (both above and below the water-line) re-profiles to reflect
this as well as grassland, herbs, shrub, tree and aquatic and emergent planting to
enhance the lake from an aesthetic and nature conservation perspective.
h. A timetable for implementation and provision of a detailed aftercare
programme for a five year period after completion of restoration;

and upon approval such scheme shall be implemented as approved unless a variation
has been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the site is restored in an orderly manner to a condition capable
of beneficial after use and in the interests of the amenities of local
residents
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3 and CP7 and MDD Policy TB21
and TB23.
FUEL
9. The anaerobic digestion plant hereby approved shall use only biomass energy crops
as set out in the Planning Design & Access Statement and Business Plan (Abridged),
unless otherwise agreed with the local planning authority. In particular no waste
products shall be processed in the plant.
Reason: Use of waste would potentially raise issues of traffic and odour which have not
been considered as part of this application.
ARCHAEOLOGY
10. No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work (which
may comprise more than one phase of work) has been implemented in accordance with
a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority.
Reason: The site is within an area of known archaeological potential, particularly in
relation to the Prehistoric and Roman periods, as illustrated by the Berkshire
Archaeology Historic Environment Record.
HIGHWAYS
11. The use hereby approved shall not commence until the turning space has been
provided in full accordance with the approved plans. The turning space shall thereafter
be retained in accordance with the approved details and shall be used for no other
purpose unless otherwise agreed by the local planning authority.
Reason To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to avoid adverse impact on
the public highway in the interests of highway safety.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
12.The use hereby approved shall not commence until the vehicular access has been
surfaced with a permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the access
for a distance of 10 metres measured from the carriageway edge.
Reason To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of road
safety.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6.
13. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the
construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials,

iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,
iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate,
v) wheel washing facilities,
vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction,
vii)
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety & convenience and neighbour amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
14. The boundary gates as shown on plan no BPL-16/06 shall remain open at all
times during the hours of operation of the ADP.
Reason: To ensure that vehicles do not obstruct the highway whilst waiting for
gates or barriers to be opened or closed, in the interests of road safety
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6
15. All access associated with the ADP shall be derived from the northern access
to the site from Jouldings Lane.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6
DRAINAGE
16. No development shall take place until full details of the Drainage System(s) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These shall
include:
a.
Demonstration that the existing low risk of surface water flooding will not have a
detrimental effect on the proposed development or neighbouring properties and that the
proposed development will not exacerbate the risk.
b.
Full details of all components of the proposed ‘Sustainable drainage system’
including dimensions, locations, gradients, invert and cover levels and drawings as
appropriate.
c.
Evidence of agreement with the Environment Agency or Wokingham Borough
Council for discharge of surface water, including the agreed rate of discharge.
d.
Full details of the maintenance arrangements for the drainage system(s) covering
every aspect of the development.
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal
Change) and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10
WATER QUALITY
17. The storage lagoon shall be constructed and maintained at a minimum of 10 metres
(m) from the ditch that is located on site which feeds into the River Blackwater. The
lagoon shall be completed prior to operation of the development.
Reason: To prevent risk of water pollution and protect water quality. This is sought in
accordance with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
which states that the planning system should contribute to and enhances the natural
and local environment by preventing both new and existing development from

contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by
unacceptable levels of water pollution.
This is also in accordance with the Water Framework Directive (WFD) which requires
that all water bodies are protected and prevented from deterioration and pollution and in
accordance with Wokingham
LIGHTING
18.
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification), no external lighting shall be installed on the site
or affixed to any buildings on the site. If external lighting is to be installed, this should be
in accordance with details which have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Details shall include the location, height, baffling to reduce
light spillage, levels of illumination and a “lighting design strategy for biodiversity” and
agreement to the effect that such lighting is for use during emergency maintenance and
works only. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details and
retained thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of amenity, biodiversity and highway safety.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 11 (Conserving and Enhancing the Natural
Environment), Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3, CP6 & CP11 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB21 and TB23
CONTAMINATION
19. Unless otherwise agreed by the local planning authority, development other than
that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not
commence until parts A to D of this condition have been complied with. If unexpected
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on
that part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by
the Local Planning Authority in writing until condition D has been complied with in
relation to that contamination.
A SITE CHARACTERISATION
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the
nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the
site. The contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by
competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced. The written
report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. He report of
the findings must include:
(i)
a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;
an assessment of the potential risks to:
a)
human health
b)
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets,
woodland and service lines and pipes,
c)
adjoining land
d)
groundwaters and surface waters
e)
ecological systems
f)
archaeological sites and ancient monuments.

(ii)

an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s)

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s
‘Model Procedures for the Management of land Contamination CLR 11
B SUBMISSION OF REMEDIATION SCHEME
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended
use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and
the natural and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval
in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of
works and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not
qualify as contaminated under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.
C IMPLEMENTATION OF APPROVED REMEDIATION SCHEME
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms
prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out
remediation, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority. The Local
Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement of
the remediation scheme works. Following completion of measures in the approved
remediation scheme, a verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report)
that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced,
and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.
D REPORTING OF UNEXPECTED CONTAMINATION
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately
to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be
undertaken in accordance with the requirement s of condition A, and where remediation
is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the
requirements of condition B, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved
remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition C.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in
accordance with policy
BIODIVERSITY
20. No development shall take place until full details of an amphibian and reptile
mitigation strategy to the minimum standard outlined in sections 5.21 and 5.33 of the
submitted Ecological Appraisal (ACD Ecology, Ref: PRI19496Eco_RevA, June 2015)
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
mitigation and contingency measures contained within the plan shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
21.

Prior to commencement of the proposed use a detailed wildlife enhancement

strategy to include the proposed enhancements outlined in section 5.36 of the submitted
Ecological Appraisal (ACD Ecology, Ref: PRI19496Eco_RevA, June 2015) shall be
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The ecological
enhancements shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the approved details
and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To seek wildlife enhancements within new developments, as per NPPF.
22. Vegetation removal on site shall only be conducted outside the bird breeding
season, March to August inclusive, or within 48 hours of an ecologist confirming the
absence of breeding birds, if in March to August inclusive unless otherwise agreed by
the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) is
complied with and breeding birds, their nests and eggs are not harmed or damaged.
23. During the construction work, any deep excavation should be either covered
overnight or a ramp should be placed in the works to allow any badgers to exit the
excavation in the event they accidently fall in.
Reason: To ensure that badgers are not adversely impacted upon as a result of the
development.
24. No deliveries shall be taken in or dispatched from the site outside the hours of 09:00
– 16:00 Monday to Fridays nor at any time on Saturdays, Sundays, Bank or Public
Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard residential amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC06 and TB20
Informatives
1. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions which
must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. Commencement of the
development without complying with the pre-commencement requirements may be
outside the terms of this permission and liable to enforcement action. The information
required should be formally submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant
fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the development should be carried
out only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case
officer to discuss.
2. As per the letter dated 28th August 2015 from the Environment Agency, the applicant
is advised environmental permits may be required for the operation of the anaerobic
digester.
3. As per the letter dated 4th August 2015 from Southern Gas Networks, any work
carried out will need to be in compliance with the rules and restrictions set out by
Southern Gas Networks.
4. The applicant is advised that due to existing traffic around Farley Hill School pickup
times, any vehicle movements associated with Hill Farm could exacerbate this. As such,
every attempt should be made by the applicant to avoid entering or exiting the site
during these times.
PLANNING HISTORY

AG/2006/9490

Refuse

24-01-07

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

AG/2014/0714

Refuse

24-04-14

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

AG/2014/0728

Refuse

24-04-14

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

AG/2014/0963

REPLIED

12-05-14

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

AG/2014/0964

REPLIED

12-05-14

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

AG/2014/1240

Refuse

24-06-14

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

CLE/2014/1713 Approve

Reference

Decision

Application for an Agricultural
Determination for the erection of barn for
the storage of hay/straw.
Notes
Application for agricultural prior
determination for the erection of a new
building for the storing of hay and straw.
Notes
Application for agricultural prior
notification for the erection of a hay barn.
Notes
Application for agricultural prior
determination for the erection of a Hay
Barn for storing feed.
Notes
Application for agricultural prior
determination for the erection of a
building for storing of hay and straw.
Notes
Application for agricultural prior
determination for the erection of a new
building for the usage of farmyard manure
and agricultural produce.
Notes

23-10-14

Application for a certificate of existing use
for purposes within Class (B8) for storage
of motor vehicles.

Decision

Notes

Number

Date

CLE/2014/2571 Approve

25-03-15

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

F/2005/3760

Refuse

09-03-05

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

F/2008/2488

Approve

05-01-09

Reference
Number

Decision

Decision
Date

SO/2015/0791

EIA NONE 17-04-15

Application for a certificate of existing
lawful development for use of building
within Class B8 for storage of motor
vehicles.
Notes
Proposed change of use of agricultural
land to use for storage of scaffolding
materials and containers. Retrospective.
Notes
Application for continued use of
agricultural land for the storage of
scaffolding materials and containers.
Notes
Application for a Screening Opinion for an
Environmental Impact Assessment for the
proposed development of a Green Biogas Anaerobic Digestion Plant.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Highways Authority
No objection, subject to condition (11 – 15, 24)
Trees and Landscape

No objection, subject to condition (4 – 7)

Environmental Health

No objection, subject to condition (19)

Ecology

No objection, subject to condition (20 – 23)

Environment Agency

No objection, subject to condition (3) and informative (2)

Drainage Officer

No objection, subject to condition (16)

Berkshire Archaeology

No objection, subject to condition (10)

Natural England

No objection – consult with Council’s Biodiversity Officer

Berks, Bucks & Oxon
Wildlife Trust
Forestry Commission

No objection, subject to condition (20 – 23)

Southern Gas

No objection subject to informative (3)

No comments received

Networks
REPRESENTATIONS
John Redwood Would be grateful if we could take account of the views of residents
MP
when determining this matter.
Ward
Member(s)

Cllr Munro requests that the application is determined by Planning
Committee if minded to approve. This is based on the concerns
expressed by the Parish Council. He also understands that the
ground (from landfill) may also be contaminated.

Swallowfield
Parish Council

The Parish Council recognises the need to promote green energy
initiatives but in this case the adverse impact and harm outweigh the
benefits by far. The Parish Council strongly opposes this application
on the grounds that this is simply not the right place to locate such a
large industrial scale facility and operation. There has been a total
lack of community engagement.
The key areas of concern relate to the following:
a) The impact of an industrial scale facility and operation in a
sensitive location
b) Significant adverse impact on highways and traffic
c) Harm to landscape character
d) Loss of amenity for residents
e) Environmental risks including proximity of the Primary School and
pollution of water courses
f) Questionable sustainability and green credentials
g) Status as a Waste Management Facility.
The Council therefore trusts that WBC will refuse this application.
However, in the unlikely event that WBC is minded to approve it we
also include some measures which WBC could take to mitigate its
impact.
In the Event that WBC Recommends Approval
Construction would inevitably cause nuisance to residents living
nearby and on the route of the construction traffic. It would be a
source of noise, dust and fumes - potentially in unsocial hours. A
management plan would be required to address these concerns and
protect the amenity of residents.
Strict conditions would be needed on highways along the following
lines:
a. Requiring all HGVs and tractor-trailer combinations to use the
route along Church Lane from its junction with the A327 at all times,
prohibiting travel past Farley Hill School or through the ford at the
bottom of Jouldings Lane were this to be re-opened.
b. Limiting the times of such vehicle movements to daytime hours on
weekdays only.
c. Prohibiting such vehicle movements during school drop off and
pick up times.
d. Restricting the overall total numbers of vehicle movements in any

four week period and the total number and maximum frequency of
such vehicle movements in any given day.
On the basis that the analysis of vehicle movements relies on a
reduction in the historic levels in order to meet the claimed levels, it is
necessary for these conditions to apply to all vehicles using the farm
site regardless of origin.
The landscape management plan refers to the Butler family by name
and should instead refer to the owner so that responsibility passes to
any future owner and operator.
Extra attention should be paid to minimising the impact on landscape
and views by suitable measures.
Measures would be needed to reduce the impact of the road access
on residential amenity, particularly for those residents nearest the
entrance.
A commitment needs to be secured for the hiring of professional
expertise to operate the facility.
A condition is needed preventing (or restricting to an absolute
minimum) the use of waste as feedstock for the digesters as an
alternative to green vegetable matter.

Additional comments (dated 15/07/15)
The Parish Council have raised concern about the implications of
growing maize and other shallow-rooted crops specifically to be
rotted down in digesters, because of their effect of impoverishing the
soil and making it susceptible to erosion “Department of Energy &
Climate Change (DECC)”. Consequently they claim that this practice
is environmentally unsound and unsustainable and would render the
land useless for crop production in the longer term, referring to the
BBC Countryfile program broadcast 12/07/15.
Additional comments (dated 27/08/15)

Finchampstead
Parish Council
(Adjoining
Parish)

The Parish council raise concern about the catchment area for the
sourcing of feedstock in terms of the sustainably of the scheme and
generation of vehicle movements as a result. Specifically, the
vehicles used would be large, heavy vehicles unsuitable for the area.
The Parish Council reiterates the fact the proposal is in close
proximity to residential properties, a school and a nursing home.
Additionally that landscaping should not be used to justify the
lagoon’s appearance and location being an unsightly addition to the
countryside.
Concerns about the increased traffic movements.

RESIDENT’S COMMENTS
80 letters of objection and 4 letters of support have been received raising the

following issues:
Letters of SUPPORT raising the following issues:
AD plant green energy, availability of mains gas to Farley
Good farm diversification.
Don’t get smell from purpose grown crops as its not waste and little noise
Traffic – farm will be using their own HGV’s/tractors/trailers. No road impact, have been
on site since 1943

Letters of OBJECTION raising the following issues, and applicants response to each:
No
Traffic

Objection/Concern

Response

1. The traffic report seems to be
based on a very low count of
current traffic.

- Not all traffic using Jouldings Lane is
attributable to Hill Farm, there are several
other businesses operating on the Lane.
- Refer to Highways section.

2. Traffic report does not include
size and type of vehicles.

- Full details of the anticipated vehicle types
and sizes have been provided.
- There will be one replacement farm owned
HGV with 30 tonne trailer and a number of
tractors, as at present, with various 14 to
18 tonne trailers.

3.

4.

 Surrounding village roads not
suitable for the type and
frequency of vehicles.
 Impact on the village of the
additional large vehicles
required for the development.
 Any increase in
commercial/HGV traffic will
make existing road safety and
highway issues worse.
 97% of feedstock is to be
brought to site by HGVs

- The vast majority of the feedstock and
digestate movement will be by tractors and
trailers.
- The daily feedstock requirement will be
approximately 80 tonnes. This can be
provided with one return trip by the HGV
and 3 return trips by a tractor and trailer.
- Vehicle movements will be traded off –
existing movements will stop to be
replaced by new movements, there will
only be a slight increase in some months.
Refer to Highways section (para 30-36).

 AD plant traffic during school
collection and drop-off times
will increase risks to children,
parents and residents.
 What happens if one of the
transporting lorries misses the
Jouldings Lane turning?
Where is it going to turn?
 If it misses the HGV entrance
and continues down Jouldings

- All vehicles associated with operation of
the AD plant will be driven by employees of
the farm operating company. These
drivers are already familiar with the school
start and finish times and, as at present,
they time their journeys to avoid these.
They also know the other constraints of the
local road network and are not likely to get
lost.
- For very occasional deliveries that may be
carried out by drivers unfamiliar with the

Lane, this is narrow, used by
walkers and horse riders and
a dead end at the bottom.

area, specific written instructions have
been prepared for issue in advance to
each driver.

5. The junction between Church
Road and Jouldings Lane is on a
corner that includes access to
Woodbury House Residential
Care Home, making exit from the
Home and Jouldings lane difficult
and potentially dangerous

The sight lines up and down Church Road
when leaving Jouldings Lane are more than
sufficient to enable the largest of vehicles to
exit safely.

6. Increased traffic is a risk to
people who walk up and down
Jouldings Lane to reach the
walks along the Blackwater River

There will be no AD plant traffic on the narrow
and twisty parts of Jouldings Lane which are
most hazardous to walkers. All AD plant traffic
will use the dedicated HGV access to Hill Farm
which is situated at the very top of Jouldings
Lane, less than 10metres from the junction.

7.

 Church Road is reduced to a
single lane when parents drop
off and pick up children from
the school. Lorries could not
get through or turn around.
 Access to the village from
Swallowfield is not suitable for
HGVs.
 The main road through the
village is the site of the school
and is effectively a single
carriage road for 2 hours a
day.

The bulk of all the AD plant traffic will use the
north Church Road access to the A327. Small
quantities of feedstock will be grown in
Stratfield Saye and Mattingly, resulting in some
additional tractor and trailer movements
through Swallowfield and up Church Road past
the school. These vehicles will be driven by
employees of the farm who are familiar with the
roads and the school opening times. As with
present farming operations, these journeys are
arranged to avoid the school pick-up and dropoff periods.

8.

 AD plant traffic could
potentially be driving through
the village 24 hours a day
 Will HGV deliveries take place
at night with headlights
impacting resident’s houses?

There is no requirement or intention to deliver
feedstock or remove digestate from the Hill
Farm site during the hours of darkness.

9. It is not believed to be possible to
“double up” vehicles bringing in
and taking out materials (those
coming in would carry dry matter,
those leaving would carry
liquid/wet matter)

-

The raw digestate is a slurry that is
separated into solid and liquid fractions,
both of which will be applied to the land as
a fertiliser. The solid matter will be
transported to remote crop sites by
vehicles that are fetching back feedstock.
The liquid fraction will be transported from
the lagoon to the remote sites by tractors
with 4000 gallon tanker trailers and applied

-

No
Objection/Concern
Environment & Ecology

immediately as fertilizer at that location.
The transport study estimated a ratio of
25% liquid to 75% solid, giving just over
200 tractor movements a year dedicated to
liquid removal (4 per week).
Response

1.

 Unpleasant odours and
harmful gasses generated by
plant affecting local wildlife,
school and residents.
 Feedstock storage
arrangements will result in
bad smells that impact the
local area

2.

Planning to be granted to
include a condition that the
development is to be
implemented in accordance with
recommendations in Ecological
Appraisal Document (Feb 2015)
by ACD Ecology.

This is agreed and an appropriate planning
condition can be imposed.

3.

Noise from the plant and
associated traffic impacts local
residents, including Woodbury
House Residential Care Home
and the school

The two principal sources of noise in an AD
plant are the gas engine, generating electricity,
and the compressor raising the methane
pressure to a high enough level for injection to
the gas pipeline. These items of equipment are
enclosed in insulated containers that provide
acoustic deadening of the sound to a level of
typically no more than 65 dB (A) at a distance

- Anaerobic Digestion is by its very nature a
sealed process. Oxygen is excluded in
order to obtain the methane end product.
The methane has high value and over 99%
of it is used to generate electricity for the
facility, or is immediately injected directly
into the gas grid.
- The Hill Farm digester will be run on
purpose grown crops that are harvested as
silage and stored in large clamps on the
farm, sealed for preservation under sheets
that keep out air. It is no different in
principle to feeding the silage to a herd of
cows, though with the AD plant the
greenhouse gas methane is captured
- Digestate is the other main by-product. It
is high in nitrogen but has had all the other
organic goodness stripped from it by the
digestion process, meaning that there is
little to decay and smell.
- This is very different from commercial
waste anaerobic digesters which
sometimes hit the headlines. With these
units the feedstock contains a variety of
organic materials resulting in a wide range
of by-products, all of which present a
challenge to manage.

of 10 metres.

4.

The plant will produce CO2
greenhouse gases

5.

The development is on the
boundary between woodland
and open fields, forming a
barrier for small mammals and
insects moving between these
two habitats

6.

 Failure of digestate lagoon
results in contamination of
farmland and the Blackwater
River
 Groundwater contamination
and release of methane gas

7.

How will the plant affect ground

- The carbon dioxide produced by an AD
plant has been captured from the
atmosphere in the prior growing season.
This is quite unlike the burning of fossil
fuels where the carbon being released is
continuously adding to what is already in
the atmosphere.
- One of the options with AD plants is to
capture the CO2 being produced and
either use it directly, accelerating crop
growth in greenhouses for example, or
upgrading it for use in food and medical
applications.
The existing farm site proposed for construction
of the tanks and silage clamps already forms a
barrier for these animals and insects. The
length of the site is small in comparison to the
perimeter of the woodland and the wildlife has
clearly adapted over time. The new
landscaping and biodiversity measures will
enhance biodiversity interest on the farm.
- The lagoon design is such that the primary
containment is a purpose built liner with
design life of over 20 years. Secondary
containment is provided by an earth bund
around the perimeter of the lagoon.
Porous field drains are installed around the
lagoon such that if the liner was to fail this
would be detected by sampling of the
water from these drains and corrective
action can then be taken before any leak
escalates.
- In the event of a fault that means methane
gas cannot be injected to the grid, it is first
recycled through the digester tanks which
have large double skinned domes for short
term gas storage. If the upset cannot be
resolved quickly then, when the domes are
full, the excess methane will be burned in
the flare. Operating experience at AD
plants across Europe however shows that
this is a rare event.
The components of the AD plant are

water and water courses?

segregated from both ground water and nearby
water courses. The silage clamps have
primary and secondary means of collecting any
effluent run-off, which is then re-cycled into the
plant. The digester tanks are surrounded by a
bund that will contain the entire contents of the
largest tank in the event of leaks or failure. The
lagoon has secondary containment and
detection facilities to ensure that early
corrective action can be taken should a leak
occur.

No
Objection/Concern
Visual Impact and Loss of Amenity

Response

1. Development perceived to cause
an adverse visual impact in an
area of Outstanding Natural
Landscape / Special Landscape
Significance

The plant has been designed so that it is
substantially screened by existing buildings,
trees and hedgerows. Additional measures are
being taken, including the setting of large plant
below ground level, external finishes of
structures in suitable recessive colours and
new planting at strategic points to enhance the
existing cover.

2. Negative impact on amenity
value of Woodbury House
Residential Care Home
properties

Refer to Neighbour impact section (para 2529).

3. The scale of the development is
out of keeping with the nature of
a working farm and surrounding
area

The development is using land that has been
made-up and used over the years for clamping
silage, housing and management of livestock,
storage of manure etc. The scale of the
proposed crop and digestate movements is
consistent with an intensive livestock operation
on a farm of this size, with noticeably less
impact in terms of emissions and odour.

4.

The flare is 9m tall. It is slender and will be
painted subdued colours to avoid it standing
out. The trees behind the flare are
considerably taller.

The flare will protrude above the
native woodland, detracting from
amenity of the area

5. Concerns have been expressed
about loss of privacy arising from
use of the gateway and access
track, causing loss of residential
amenity to the occupants of the
former Fox and Hounds Public
House
Objection/Concern
Health and Safety

Refer to Neighbour impact section (para 2529).

Response

1. EA recommendation that AD
facilities should not be sited
within 250m of residential
property due to bio-aerosols
from the plant which could
cause lung infections and
breathing difficulties, particularly
in elderly residents and primary
school children

This guidance is not applicable to AD plants
using purpose grown crops (PGC) as feedstock.

2. Insects may carry disease and
impact health of local residents

There is nothing in the Hill Farm AD plant
process for insects to feed off. Unlike a livestock
operation where the slurry and dung have
nutritional value and attract insects, the digestate
output from the AD plant has little value other
than being a nitrogen rich fertiliser for use on the
land bank.
The AD plants that hit the headlines with smells
and insect problems are generally using
commercial waste as feedstock, which is difficult
to store and manage. This is not the case with
the Hill Farm facility since the feedstock is silage
that is stored securely in clamps.

3.

 The chance of air pollution,
explosion and toxic gases
 The EA and Parliamentary
Office of Science and
Technology have issued
warnings about AD facilities,
including emissions, and
combustion causing air
pollution, risks of explosion
and H2S poisoning and
concerns about impact on
soil and water quality by
heavy metals, persistent
organic compounds, nitrates
and phosphates.

4. Risk to human health from
Hydrogen Sulphide and
pathogenic content of feedstock
and digestate

-

-

-

-

Methane is not being stored under pressure
at the site. There are strict regulations
regarding the design and use of equipment
for processing such flammable gases.
Scotia Gas Networks (SGN) will provide the
process plant in line with these regulations
and will be under contract to operate this
part of the plant, using their considerable
experience in this area.
H2S is produced in very small quantities. It
is more of a risk to the operations and
maintenance personnel than to the
community (see 4 below).
The warnings on soil and water quality
generally refer to the effects of using the
digestate from AD plants as fertiliser on
arable land. If the feedstock is commercial
waste then any trace contaminants can find
their way into ground water, or be taken up
by crops and so enter the food chain. This is
not applicable to the Hill Farm facility as it
uses PGC feedstock.
Hydrogen sulphide is produced in minute
quantities in the digester tanks. It is
minimised by injecting very small quantities
of oxygen at a certain point in the process.
There are then special activated carbon

-

-

5. Inadequate combustion of
biogas produces carbon
monoxide, nitrous oxide and
volatile organic compounds

-

-

6.






Storage of methane near a
school and residential homes
is dangerous with incidents
of explosions at similar sites
being cited
Safety concern at having a
methane storage facility so
close to homes and a school
Danger associated with
storage of an explosive gas
so close to housing, a care
home and the school

Objection/Concern

-

-

-

filters that remove any remaining H2S from
the bio-gas before it is used for electricity
generation or upgrading to bio-methane for
injection to the grid.
Warnings on H2S apply to personnel
opening up the system for maintenance
purposes. The volume of H2S produced is
so small that it would not pose a threat to the
local community even if residual quantities
were released.
Regarding pathogenic contents of feedstock
and digestate, this does not apply where the
feedstock comprises purpose grown crops
(see 1 above).
The combustion of bio-gas in a combined
heat and power gas engine is similar to
running a commercial diesel engine, but
using the methane component of the bio-gas
as an alternative fuel. Provided the engine
is serviced regularly and subject to regular
testing of the exhaust emissions, the
quantities of carbon monoxide and nitrous
oxide will be minimal and well within the
limits for equivalent motor vehicles.
Volatile organic compounds only arise where
the input to the AD plant comprises
commercial waste containing these
components. They are not a by-product of
purpose grown crops being used for
feedstock in the proposed development.
Methane is not being stored under pressure
at the AD plant site. There are no inventories
of flammable or dangerous substances that
would necessitate special measures to
control risk of major accident hazards.
The bio-gas is collected at atmospheric
pressure in the double skinned domes of the
digester tanks. Any leakage from the flexible
inner membrane is detected and leads to
shut down of the plant.
The bio-gas is upgraded to bio-methane and
is then immediately compressed and
injected into the gas network, located less
than 30 metres from the plant. The volumes
of methane at high pressure downstream of
the compressor are very small and do not
present a hazard when managed in
accordance with applicable regulations (see
3 above).
Response

Other
1. No consultation with local
community

-

-

2.





The ethics and sustainability
of using purpose grown
crops for fuel are
questionable
1354 acres of arable land will
be used to grow purpose
grown crops for fuel to
produce 500kWe whereas
offshore windfarms can
produce 4 times the energy
in this area

-

-

-

-

-

-

3. No details of point of entry to
Scotia Gas network, or of
propane injection facility

-

-

The WBC consultation process for the
planning application provides the
mechanism for publicising and disseminating
information on the proposed development
and enables members of the public to
express their views.
The NPPG does advise on pre-application
consultations but there is no statutory
requirement.
The case for using PGCs to generate fuel is
well documented. Refer to joint briefing
paper “The Case for Crop Feedstocks in
Anaerobic Digestion”
The land area required to support the AD
plant is just under 1240 acres
In addition to 500kW of electricity, the plant
will produce over 300 cubic metres of biomethane per hour, enough to heat over 2000
homes
The digestate produced replaces man-made
fertilizer and will be used on the land used to
grow the crops, recycling the nitrogen from
the crops
Crops take the greenhouse gas carbon
dioxide from the atmosphere and the AD
process provides an opportunity to capture
and recycle this
The operation has to comply with tough
European and UK Government regulations
on sustainability in order to qualify for
incentive payments
The Hill Farm operation will minimise its
carbon footprint through having a relatively
compact local landbank, reducing
dependency on traditional fertiliser, utilising
the latest farming techniques to reduce the
ploughing and harrowing requirements and
using the latest technology for heat recovery
and raising the efficiency of the AD
processes.
The Scotia Gas Network (SGN) pipeline
passes across Hill Farm some 30 metres
east of the proposed facility. SGN have
offered to provide a connection, also to
operate the biogas upgrade facility on behalf
of the applicant.
Propane is required to raise the heat value
of the upgraded bio-methane to the correct

level for domestic use. Propane will be
delivered to the plant by LNG tanker, in
much the same way as for domestic heating,
and stored in underground tanks.
4. Application form Q 22 regarding
whether the facility is a waste
management development has
both YES and NO boxes ticked.
The subsequent table is not
completed.

The answer to this question is no, the proposed
development is not a waste management facility.

5. What are the benefits to the
community?

Benefits include securing of existing jobs at Hill
Farm, creation of new jobs, the possible creation
of a local gas distribution network in Farley Hill,
possible use of recovered heat from the plant for
district heating or other similar purposes and the
provision of green gas to supply local transport.

6.





No content in the application
regarding management,
ongoing governance or
expertise in operating a
sophisticated and potentially
dangerous installation
There is very little evidence
that and hence assurance
that the applicant has any
experience or expertise in
building and operating a
commercially viable AD plant

-

-

-

Training will be given to all operating
personnel, particularly in relevant specialist
areas, to ensure high levels of competence
when dealing with the plant, also to ensure
adequate cover will be maintained during
holidays and other absences.
The technology provider will be retained
under contract once the plant has been
commissioned to provide guidance and
advice on operation of the digestion plant.
The bio-gas upgrading and bio-methane
injection will be carried out by Scotia Gas
Network operating under contract to the
plant owners.

7.









Feedstock could be rotting
food waste and animal slurry
Waste and children do not
mix
Lack of information on what
waste material will be used
to feed the AD plant and the
potential risk hazards (i.e.
risk to public health from
pathogens in the atmosphere
originating from animal
waste)
Storage of liquid waste near
children is dangerous and
will create foul smelling
odours
Odour is a critical factor
affecting the viable operation
of all biodegradable waste
management facilities…

-

-

The feedstock for the proposed AD plant will
be crops that are grown specifically for the
purpose (PGC), which will be controlled by
condition.
The liquid digestate has had the nutritional
content removed and does not decompose
further to produce odours. It has high
nitrogen content and will be used as fertilizer
on the landbank to grow further crops for the
AD plant.

A second consultation period resulted in the following:
 Three letters of support due to the production of green energy, farm diversification
and limited impact on traffic.
 10 letters of objection with regards to the following:
o Rural area
o Unsuitable road infrastructure
o Proximity to school
o No restriction of hours of operation
o Incorrect figures for traffic generation
o Increase in traffic in area and particularly at school times
o Smells and environmental problems from the AD plant
o Vehicle sizes too large for area
o Instances already occur where cars are forced to mount pavements to
accommodate tractors
o Proximity of entrance/’waiting’ area for vehicles to existing residential
properties
PLANNING POLICY
National policies:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy (NPPG)
Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework – Core Strategy:
CP1 – Sustainable development
CP3 – General Principles for Development

CP6 – Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP8 – Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area
CP9 – Scale and location of development proposals
CP11 – Proposals outside development limits (Countryside)
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document:
Cross Cutting Policies:
CC01 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CC02 – Development Limits
CC03 – Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 – Sustainable Design and construction
CC05 – Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06 – Noise
CC09 – Development and Flood Risk
CC10 – Sustainable Drainage
Topic Based Policies:
TB12 – Employment Skills Plan
TB21 – Landscape Character
TB23 – Biodiversity and development
Other guidance:



Borough Design Guide SPD
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD

PLANNING ISSUES
APPRAISAL
Renewable energy:
1. The NPPF encourages the use of renewable resources in supporting the transition to
a low carbon future in its Core Planning Principles (paragraph 17) and Section 10
(Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change) notes that
planning has a key role in supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy
and associate infrastructure, which is central to sustainable development (paragraph
93). It requires that LPAs should:
Have a positive strategy to promote energy from renewable sources (paragraph 97);
Not require applicants for energy developments to demonstrate the overall need for
renewable or low carbon energy; and,
Approve applications (subject to other material considerations) ‘if its impacts are (or can
be made) acceptable' (paragraph 98).

2.The NPPG ('Renewable and low carbon energy” Para 3) states “that all communities
have a responsibility to help increase the use and supply of green energy, but this does
not mean that the need for renewable energy automatically overrides environmental
protections and the planning concerns of local communities. As with other types of
development, it is important that the planning concerns of local communities are
properly heard in matters that directly affect them.”
3. It goes onto state examples of the considerations for particular renewable energy
technologies that can affect their siting include proximity of grid connection
infrastructure and site size, and:


for biomass, appropriate transport links,



for hydro-electric power, sources of water,



for wind turbines, predicted wind resource, considerations relating to air
safeguarding, electromagnetic interference and access for large vehicles.
4. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy encourages development that minimises
consumption of resources, but also requires that development proposals maintain or
enhance the high quality of the environment. Paragraph 4.6 notes that delivering on
sustainable energy can bring significant social, environmental and economic benefits to
Wokingham Borough.
Policy CC05 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan states that: 'Local
opportunities to contribute towards decentralised energy supply from renewable and
low-carbon technologies will be encouraged'. Proposals for renewable energy
(excluding wind turbines in this instance) must demonstrate that they are:
a) Appropriate in scale, location and technology type;
b) Are compatible with the surrounding area, including the impact on noise and
odour;
c) Do not have a damaging impact on the local topography and landscape; and,
d) No significant impact upon heritage assets, including views important to their
setting.
6. In addition, the Council has a strategy to promote sustainable development; the
Sustainable Environment Strategy 2010. Whilst this is a material consideration this
strategy is not adopted planning policy and therefore limited weight should be attached
to it in determining the application. However, the Strategy notes that the Borough is
falling short in terms of providing non-wind renewable energy technologies and that
renewable energy is an area of significant growth for the economy.
7. In summary, there is support in principle for the proposal, subject to the impacts on
the surrounding area.
Countryside and Landscape Impact:
8. Hill Farm is located to the south of Farley Hill and lies between the block of woodland
at Wyvols Copse to the west and Jouldings Lane to the east. The site sits within
landscape character area L2 Farley Hill Wooded Sand and Gravel Hills, which is a
landscape of high quality whose retention is supported in policy, the design guide, the
Landscape Character Assessment (LCA) and the NPPF. Key characteristics to be

retained are rural views, intimate pattern of pastures, rural lanes, woodland, arable
farmland and vernacular settlement. It is a sensitive and high quality landscape. The
applicant refers to an AD Plant at Icknield Farm Ipsden Oxon (permitted in January
2014 LPA SODC) which was permitted despite being located within the Chilterns
AONB. This is a consideration for the determination of this application.
9. The application site is located within an area classified as outside of development
limits within the countryside. Section 3 of the NPPF (Supporting a Prosperous Rural
Economy) states that planning policy should support economic growth in rural areas by
taking a positive approach to sustainable new development. This includes the
development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural enterprises.
Core Strategy policy CP11 (Proposals outside Development Limits) also encourages
development in the countryside where it contributes to diverse and sustainable rural
enterprises within the borough. The proposal could potentially be considered as
diversification of the existing farm's activities as agriculture, in this instance the haylage
business, which is the predominant use of the site at present.
10.The Hill Farm site is particularly suitable for location of an AD plant for the following
reasons:










Proximity of two existing major gas pipelines which cross the farm within 30m of
the proposed plant location. These can receive the bio-methane product, rather
than shipping this out by road tanker, or facing a major capital cost for an
additional gas pipeline to connect to the national gas grid.
Availability of an existing 11kV electrical connection at the farm. This enables
import of power to start the plant up and, thereafter, export of any surplus
electricity to the national grid.
Integration of the AD plant with the existing Hill Farm operation. This secures the
supply of feedstock and provides an economic disposal route for digestate
product. It also improves efficiency and provides synergies in terms of shared
facilities, machinery and labour.
Central location within a relatively compact local land bank. This minimises the
carbon footprint for obtaining feedstock when compared with many other AD
plants.
Land being used for the development is non-productive from an arable
perspective, having been reclaimed or made-up to support other farm activities
over the last 30 years.

11. Policy CP11 (Proposals outside Development Limits) also encourages development
which does not spread across the site. Wherever possible development has been
located on previously developed non-agricultural land. The farm yard and farm building
complex lies in a depression within the surrounding gently undulating landscape and is
framed by the prominent block of woodland which lies to the west. The proposals
involve the erection of three 15m high bio digesters (12m above ground level given that
they are sunk 3m into the ground with retaining walls), and this development is on
previously developed land, seen in context of established farm complex, with a
multitude of buildings/structures and indoor/outdoor storage.
12. However it has not been possible to locate the proposed lagoon on previously
developed land within the farmstead, as it needs a larger area and to be downslope of
the bio digester tanks. Therefore there will be some encroachment but this is
unavoidable to meet the functional requirements of the proposed lagoon.

13. The original design of the new lagoon was considered too large (80m x 47m with a
max bund height of 5m) with a highly engineered approach which was not considered to
be landscape led. The Landscape Officer suggested reducing the height of the bund
(max of 3m) with more ground modelling to mask the engineered bunding of the
proposed new storage lagoon. He suggested varying the height and width of the
bunding taking it wider and higher in some places so making it appear part of the
landscape rather than superimposed upon it. Revised plans have been received which
meet these requirements.
14. In addition, the Landscape Officer requested restoration of the historic N-S
hedgerow bisecting the large field to the south of the lake so that the lake and its
woodland fringe form part of that restored landscape and sit in it. This ensures that the
proposed lagoon planting isn’t just an isolated, unconnected strip of planting and helps it
to make sense within the wider landscape. Revised plans have been submitted showing
this which are acceptable.
15. The hedgerow has been shown indicatively on revised plans, and further detail will
need to be provided at the conditions (4 and 5) stage. It is anticipated that a 5m wide
strip will be required. A suggested mix is of native species.
16. The native species mix will lead to a biodiversity enhancement, which is another
factor in favour of the scheme. The landscaping condition will also secure planting to
soften views of the proposed AD tanks, the foundations of which will not extend outside
the wall of the digesters, thereby reducing the impact on surrounding trees. A condition
will require the development to be built in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact
Assessment and Tree Protection Plan (7).
17. There is no requirement for security fencing nor for all night security lighting, which
would have a deleterious effect on the landscape. Restrictions on lighting will be
controlled by condition 18. Other than a very brief reference in the Landscape Visual
Impact Assessment no suggestions about the colours of the digesters have been made.
The colour of the digesters and 9m high flare will be key in determining their landscape
impact and this can be adequately addressed by condition 4.
18. In summary, the proposed development is likely to have some impact on the high
quality landscape given its size and scale. However the applicant has revised the
scheme in response to the Landscape Officers comments, and given the mitigation and
enhancement, the impact is not significant enough to warrant refusal of the application.
Environmental Health:
Noise and odour
19. Anaerobic Digestion is by its very nature a sealed process. The Hill Farm digester
will be run on purpose grown crops that are harvested as silage and stored in large
clamps on the farm, sealed for preservation under sheets that keep out air. The
digester by-products are principally water and carbon dioxide, neither of which creates a
hazard to the local population. It is no different in principle to feeding the silage to a
herd of cows, though with the AD plant the greenhouse gas methane is captured.
20. Digestate is the other main by-product. It is high in nitrogen but has had all the
other organic goodness stripped from it by the digestion process, meaning that there is
little to decay and smell. It is stored as a liquid and a solid, neither of which has

significant odour. It is also worth comparing the odour impact to the lawful agricultural
use of the site, which could include the keeping of cows. This would have an odour
impact from the manure etc. The only proposed input into the AD process is energy
crop, and it is not proposed to use other waste products. The nature of the use will be
controlled by condition (8 and 9).
21. The two principal sources of noise in an AD plant are the gas engine, generating
electricity, and the compressor raising the methane pressure to a high enough level for
injection to the gas pipeline. These items of equipment are enclosed in insulated
containers that provide acoustic deadening of the sound to a level of typically no more
than 65 dB (A) at a distance of 10 metres.
22. The Environmental Health Officer therefore considers that odours, emissions and
noise arising from the development will be negligible.
Lighting
23. The plant will operate 24 hours a day, continuously injecting bio-methane into the
gas pipeline. Operations staff will carry out their activities during daylight working hours,
including receiving of feedstock deliveries and despatching outgoing digestate
shipments. There is no requirement for all night security lighting, which could have a
potential impact on neighbours. Restrictions on lighting will be controlled by condition
18.
Contamination
24. Part of the site was used for unauthorised landfill activity in 2006. This land use has
the potential to give rise to contamination at the site. This contamination could be
exposed as a result of the proposed groundworks/landscaping thereby posing a
potential risk to site workers and nearby residential receptors. An assessment of
potential contamination is therefore be required for the proposed development in
accordance with the NPPF and the principles of sustainable development and will be
required by condition 19.
Neighbour impact
25. The closest residential property to the development is 100m away. Farley Hill
Primary School is located approx. 500m away from the proposed digesters (and 3m
away from the access), although it is understood that children use the adjoining copse
which is closer. Woodbury House Residential Care Home is located approx. 150m away
from the proposed development.
26. It is considered that with the proposed landscaping, planting and screening, and
noise attenuation measures on certain equipment and routing of traffic through a
dedicated access, there should be negligible impact on the neighbouring properties,
including the school and care home.
27. The development is using land which has been used over the years for clamping
silage, housing and management of livestock, storage of manure etc. The scale of the
proposed crop and digestate movements is consistent with an intensive livestock
operation on a farm of this size. There is not considered to be a loss of light,
overbearing or overlooking impact.

28. Concerns have been expressed about loss of privacy arising from use of the
gateway and access track, causing loss of residential amenity to adjoining neighbours.
However this is a long established farm access and track which has been used for
many years. Notwithstanding this, the proposed development will achieve a betterment
by electrification of the inner access gate, with mobile phone recognition for authorised
users, thus avoiding the need for vehicles to stop at this gate and unlock it to gain
access. In any event the landscaping condition will require soft landscaping measures
to improve the relationship with neighbours.
29. Objection letters have queried the safety of storing methane, particularly in relation
to Farley Hill school. However methane is not being stored under pressure at the AD
plant site and there are no inventories of flammable or dangerous substances that
would necessitate special measures to control risk of major accident hazards. Further
information on the submissions required to the Health and Safety Executive are
provided in the summary section (non-planning consideration).

Impact on Highways, Access and Movement:
30. The application site is located off Jouldings Lane. There is more than one access
into the site from Jouldings Lane. The submitted information indicates that the northern
access will be used to serve the proposed ADP. Due to the nature of Jouldings Lane
further to the south, it would be appropriate to restrict access for vehicles associated
with the ADP to just the north access. This can be controlled by condition (15), as well
as the requirement for the access to be resurfaced with an appropriate hard bound
material to prevent loose material on the highway (condition 12).
31. It is proposed to provide gates further into the site. These are set back to enable
large vehicles to pull clear of the public highway before entering the site. Adequate
space has been indicated should there be more than one vehicle waiting to enter the
site and this will be required to be kept clear for this purpose. It is noted that a
temporary fence in this location has already been erected prior to this application being
determined; however the applicant is able to do this under permitted development. The
existing gates at the boundary will be retained however it would be appropriate to
control by condition (condition 14) that these shall remain open during the AD Plant
hours of operation. There is ample space within the application site for parking
associated with the ADP and turning area has been indicated. This is also secured by
condition 11.
32. A Transport Statement has been submitted which analyses existing and proposed
monthly vehicle movements at Hill Farm. Additional information in respect of traffic
generation has been submitted over the course of the application. The submitted details
include the locations of other sites where crops for the process will also be sourced;
some of which are outside of the Borough. Hill Farm is in relatively close proximity (less
than 1km) to the main highway network of A327 Eversley Road and it is considered that
this provides good ongoing access to many of the identified sites. In respect of sites at
Beech Hill, the applicant has stated that they will avoid the peak school hours (when
travelling west of the site) to reduce conflict at these times, when Church Road
experiences on-street parking. From the information provided, the majority of the
destinations are in the opposite direction to Farley Hill School reducing the need to
travel in that direction. Some weight should be attributed to the fact the applicant would
be detrimentally affected by travelling at school peak times. Nonetheless, an informative

to this effect has been included (informative 4).
33. The submitted details demonstrate that the introduction of the ADP will largely
replace the existing predominant haylage use of the site. Therefore there would be a
trade-off in terms of vehicle movements (i.e. the site currently has deliveries in respect
of the haylage business). Based on the submitted Transport Statement and the
Highways Officers understanding of the ADP operation, there will be an overall net
increase in vehicle movements on a yearly basis, it is expected that there would be
seasonal variations including some months where vehicle movements would be less
that the current operations on the site. In terms of daily movements this is expected to
be approximately 7/8 trips per day and, on average, over the year would be significantly
lower. It is not considered that this will impact on the local highway network in terms of
capacity and highway safety. It has been stated that all movements will be made by
HGVs, predominantly tractor and trailer.
34. Weight should be attributed to the fact the farm could intensify its existing use,
resulting in additional vehicle movements without the requirement of planning
permission. Although the AD plant does require permission in itself, it does also give the
opportunity to assess and restrict the current vehicle movements. Put simply, any
significant changes to the AD process that may occur would result in a further
application and again, the vehicle movements could be assessed at this point.
35. Access to the A327 is via Church Road, which although a rural road is a two lane
carriageway generally sufficient for the majority of vehicles to pass a tractor/trailer.
Indeed given its location, agricultural uses are expected in the area as well as the type
of traffic they generate. Although Church Road has a derestricted speed limit, due to the
alignment of the road, speeds are much lower. It is acknowledged that should two
HGVs need to pass one another, there are sections of Church Road that would require
such a manoeuvre to be undertaken at low speed; the likelihood of this occurring is
considered low due to the operation of the ADP. Accident data for Church Road shows
that one small accident has occurred in the past three years (05/05/2012); the main
reason for this accident was not attributed to HGV movements. The recorded accident
was a result of an animal / object being in the road which resulted in a single car leaving
the carriageway.
36. The applicant has confirmed that there are currently no plans to expand the ADP
and therefore any additional movements (above those submitted) will be restricted. Any
future expansion is likely to result in a further planning application and the impact of this
would be reassessed. The only proposed input into the ADP process is energy crop,
and it is not proposed to use other waste products. The nature of the use will be
controlled by condition (8 and 9). A construction vehicle management plan is
recommended to ensure construction traffic is managed to minimise any adverse impact
on the public highway (condition 13).
Impact on Biodiversity:
Great Crested Newt
37. The extra evidence and reasoning that has been presented in the updated
Ecological Appraisal (ACD Ecology, Ref: PRI19496Eco_RevA, June 2015) convinces
the Biodiversity Officer that there is most likely only a risk to individual great crested
newts that might be disturbed during construction. This risk could be appropriately

mitigated by working to a precautionary method statement and ACD Ecology has
outlined minimum measures that would be in such a method statement. They have
recommended that the final detail of the mitigation strategy is resolved at the condition
stage (20). The production of the detailed mitigation strategy is mainly necessary to act
as a standalone briefing document for those involved in the construction and
maintenance of the proposed development (Outlining the risk, specifying the nonlicensable avoidance and mitigation measures, giving identification guidance, identifying
persons responsible, providing emergency contact numbers, etc.). Conditioning the
detailed mitigation strategy for great crested newts will also allow synthesis of this
strategy with a reptile mitigation strategy that the applicant’s ecologist is also
recommending (see below) and the Biodiversity Officer thinks that this would be a
sensible approach to ensure their compatibility.
38.The Biodiversity Officer has considered the implications of this application against
EC Habitats Directive 1992 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010 (as amended) and considers that subject to condition (20), the actions authorised
will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the great crested newts concerned at a
Favourable Conservation Status in their natural range.
Reptiles
39. The Ecological Appraisal has identified a risk of encountering reptiles (and killing or
injuring them) during construction. Their recommendation of including a precommencement condition (20) for the submission and approval of a detailed reptile
mitigation strategy is reasonable and proportionate to the level of risk and habitat
loss. The Biodiversity Officer does not think that it is necessary to request a full reptile
survey prior to making a decision on this application provided a mitigation strategy is
conditioned.
Wildlife Enhancements
40. The Biodiversity Officer recommends that a condition (21) is included to secure
more detailed plans of the enhancements proposed and their implementation. :
41.As a general guide, the wildlife enhancement strategy should include:
 Detailed design of enhancements;
 Extent and location of the proposed enhancements;
 Timetable for implementation;
 Monitoring and measures of success;
 After-care and maintenance plans.
42. In relation to the planting of a new hedgerow, which will be one example of a wildlife
enhancement, it may be more appropriate to install a new barn owl box on a pole along
this hedgerow rather than at the back of one of the existing buildings with limited flight
path in and out. However, the pros and cons of various locations can be covered within
the enhancement strategy.
Bats
43. The proposed development is immediately adjacent to hedgerow / woodland on its
western boundary. This is a predominantly rural area with ancient woodland nearby
(approximately 100m to the West) and with several known bat roosts within foraging

distance. The applicant has confirmed that external lighting will not be necessary;
however a lighting strategy for biodiversity is recommended should it become necessary
and this is covered by condition 18.
Birds
44. As there will be some vegetation removal the Ecological Appraisal has appropriately
highlighted the risk to nesting birds if done in the breeding bird season. This can be
avoided by following the recommendations in the Ecological Appraisal. It is appropriate
to secure the avoidance measures by condition 22.
Badgers
45. The Ecological Appraisal has made a not too onerous recommendation for
mitigation the risk to badgers of becoming trapped in any excavations. It would be
appropriate to secure this measure by condition 23.
Soil
46.The Parish Council have raised concern about the implications of growing maize and
other shallow-rooted crops specifically to be rotted down in digesters, because of their
effect of impoverishing the soil and making it susceptible to erosion “Department of
Energy & Climate Change (DECC)”. Consequently they claim that this practice is
environmentally unsound and unsustainable and would render the land useless for crop
production in the longer term. The Biodiversity Officer has commented that it is difficult
to conclude that any potential soil erosion would be a direct outcome of AD plant, given
the fall-back of the agricultural use which could lawfully include the growing of maize
without restriction. It would therefore be difficult to object to the development proposed.

Flood Risk and Drainage:
47. The application site is less than 1 hectare and in Flood Zone 1, and as such is not
required to submit a Flood Risk Assessment with the planning application.
48. The Environment Agency’s Risk of Flooding from Surface Water map indicates that
there are some low risk (between 1 in 1000 and 1 in 100 annual probability) areas of
surface water flooding on the track running though the site, and some areas of low,
medium (between 1 in 100 and 1 in 30 annual probability) and high risk (greater than 1
in 30 annual probability) of surface water flooding on areas of land adjacent to the site
boundary.
49.Wokingham Borough SFRA (Paragraph 6.1.1.5) and Sustainable Design and
Construction Supplementary Planning Document (Sustainability Issue 5) states that all
development is expected to produce a Surface Water Drainage Strategy in compliance
with the most recent guidance, and should involve the introduction of SUDS techniques
and take into account climate change.
50. The Planning Design and Access statement states that the applicants have been
engaging with the Environment Agency concerning a number of matters, including

surface water drainage. The Application Form states that the application site is located
in Flood Zone 1 and surface water runoff will be discharged using a ‘Sustainable
drainage system’. The documents submitted with the application do not provide any
further information on the features that will form the drainage system or where surface
water runoff will be discharged.
51. The application does not give details of the proposed surface water drainage
strategy, including the rate of discharge and capacity of the receiving water body or
sewer. Therefore the Drainage Officer recommends that the application is approved
subject to a condition (16) requiring the submission of an acceptable Drainage System
to be implemented on site.
Impact on Employment:
52. It is estimated that the development will create 5 full-time equivalent positions. The
plant itself will create two full time and several part-time jobs. Activities will include
receiving and documenting incoming feedstock shipments, loading of the digesters,
handling the solid and liquid digestate product, monitoring the health of the digestion
process and the status of the bio-gas upgrading equipment, routine maintenance of the
mechanical plant and general housekeeping duties to ensure that operations are safe
and efficient. In addition, it is anticipated that there will be a further 2 full time jobs
created within the Hill Farm agricultural operation, planting, harvesting and maintaining
the land bank associated with the AD plant.
Loss of agricultural land:
53. The north of the site where the clamps and tanks will be sited has been used
historically for management of livestock, storage of farm machinery and, more recently,
for storage of haylage. It has been levelled with various types of infill and is surfaced
with crushed concrete and hardcore. On this basis it cannot be considered to have
value as arable land, it is simply being re-used in a slightly different manner.
54. The south of the site where it is proposed to locate the lagoon has a different
composition and history. The area of land required for the lagoon will be at most 0.35
hectare and this land has soil that is shallow and of poor quality, such that it has been
used variously over the years as a silage clamp, trailer park and for storage of muck
and has not been used for the growing of crops due to its poor quality. The development
does not affect land which is under cultivation.
55. There will be some loss of agricultural land as a result of the proposed hedgerow;
however this is outweighed by the landscape and biodiversity benefits that the
hedgerow will provide. Therefore no objection is raised.
Archaeology:
56. The proposed site is located less than 100m from the postulated route of the Roman
Road between Londinium (London) and Calleva (Silchester). There is potential for
Roman remains to survive close to the route of this road. A Roman coin hoard was
discovered to the north of the site at Farley Hill and evidence of earlier activity, within
the area, dating to the Bronze Age and Iron Age, has been identified at Riseley to the
west in the form of find spots and crop marks.
57. The proposal includes substantial works that will require excavation for the lagoon

and digestate tanks. There is potential for buried remains to be present in this area and
for the proposal to impact any deposits or features, and therefore a condition (10)
requiring an archaeological investigation is required.
CONCLUSION
The application is a full application and proposes a bio-gas anaerobic digestion power
generation facility, to include the erection of three digester tanks (19m diameter),
creation of a storage lagoon (38m x 60m), together with associated plant and
equipment, engineering works and landscaping. The site is located within the
Countryside, in a high quality Landscape Character Area (Farley Hill Wooded Sand and
Gravel Hills).
The application has attracted a number of local objections, principally in respect of
highway and environmental health concerns. However the Highway Authority and
Environmental Health consider the implications of the scheme to be acceptable.
The broad principle of the development is acceptable and significant weight should be
attached to the accordance with Policy CC05 of the MDD given the provision of
renewable energy. The proposal clearly has significant benefits in terms of the amount
of gas generation, the creation of jobs, and the benefits to the local economy, rural
diversification and these benefits all weigh in favour of the development.
These benefits have to be weighed against any impact on the landscape. The proposed
development is likely to have some impact on the high quality landscape given its size
and scale. However the applicant has revised the scheme in response to the Landscape
Officers comments. Given the scale of development it can never be completely
screened and assimilated into this rural landscape, however given the level of mitigation
and enhancement, the impact is not significant enough to warrant refusal of the
application.
In this case there is justification for the siting of this site, which is central to the local
sources of the feed stock, in close proximity to an appropriate gas pipe line and would
be sustainable in transport terms.
Having given due weight and consideration to all comments received in relation to this
application and for the reasons given above the proposal is considered to be in
accordance with the requirements of the Development Plan. As such it is recommended
that planning permission is granted.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

k

Path

PW

Playing
Field

Farley
Hill Co

5600m

84m

52

Tk

5000m

m

47

47

85

54

75m

Path

Drain

84m

Sch
ck

a
Tr

4200m

4200m

16

75m

5m

Dacre
Farm

7

Farley Court
82m
m

80

Tra

Chusan

Wyvols
Copse

ck

Path

16

Hollycrest
Farm

40

m
70

Picket's
Copse

40

Collects
65m

Tr

ac
k

Hill
Farm

Drain

ac

k

60m

Tr

r's
38

Little
Cheritan
m
55

Cheriton Farm
vil's
The De
R
ROMAN

LA

NE

k

ac

Track

Tr

King's
Copse

52m
L
J OU

NG
DI

S

(course

50m

36

of)

36

45m

Co Con&st

)

FB

UA B

Jouldings
Farm

dy

Jouldings
Ford
m

45

16

3400m

5600m

0

47

54

Path

52

5000m

Bottom Farm
House

3400m

16

47

Nettleb

20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200

Well Croft
m
Stables

Well
Croft
House
WE
L

k
ac

L

HO Local - Landplan
TrStyle
OS VectorMap
U
14 July 2014, ID:SBLJT-00343068
www.planningapplicationmaps.co.uk

Well House Farm

E

Tra

LA

46m

1:5000
ck scale print at A4, Centre: 475339 E, 163878 N

NE

rain

Hornes
Copse 38

©Crown Copyright Ordnance Survey. Licence no.
100051661

Greenacres
Farm

Tra
c

Legend
Existing trees to be retained and
protected during construction

1 No. Viburnum opulus
1 No. Sorbus torminalis
1 No. Viburnum opulus
1 No. Sorbus torminalis
1 No. Corylus avellana

Proposed tree planting within soft
landscape. See detail on sheet 1

Proposed Hazel tree planting within
soft landscape. See detail on sheet
1. To be coppiced in line with
management plan PRI19496 M&M

1 No. Viburnum opulus

Proposed mixed native hedge
planting to be planted in a double
staggered row 300mm apart and at
500mm centres in each row. To be
maintained at 1.8m height adjacent
to site boundaries

1 No. Corylus avellana

1 No. Sorbus torminalis

Proposed native mix shrub planting
areas, to be planted in groups of
5-7 specie and to receive a 75mm
bark mulch layer after planting
operations

1 No. Corylus avellana

1 No. Acer campestre
1 No. Viburnum opulus

Proposed grassland areas, to be
seeded with EM7 grass seed mix as
supplied by Emorsgate and sown at
4 grams per msq, or similar and
maintained as amenity grass in
accordance with management plan
PRI19496-M&M

1 No. Sorbus torminalis

NOTE: DO NOT SCALE FROM DRAWING

Proposed grassland areas, to be
seeded with EM7 grass seed mix as
supplied by Emorsgate and sown at 4
grams per msq, or similar and
maintained as long meadowland
grassland in accordance with
management plan PRI19496-M&M

1 No. Corylus avellana

+0.5m

1 No. Viburnum opulus

196 No. Crataegus monogyna 60%
49 No.Prunus spinosa 15%
17 No. Corylus avellana 5%
17 No. Acer campestre 5%
17 No. Carpinus betulus 5%
17 No.Ilex aquifolium 'Silver Queen' 5%
9 No. Quercus robur 2.5%
9 No.Fraxinus excelsior 2.5%

1 No. Corylus avellana

SPECIFICATION
Forestry Commission Practice note 8.
All native species should be of local stock. Native
trees and shrubs certified as British Native plant
stock.
All planting stock should comply with the
Horticultural Trade Association National Plant
specification.
All planting preparation, handling, planting &
maintenance should be in accordance with CPSE
Code for Handling and Establishing plants.
All trees and shrubs to comply with BS 3936 Part 1
1992, planted to BS 4043:1989 and BS 4428:1989.
All works generally, to comply with the written Soft
Landscape Specification.
Topsoil incorporated into planting beds to be gently
mounded towards the centre of each bed to allow
for settlement.
On completion of planting the whole area of the
shrub bed shall be mulched with 75mm
consolidated thickness of medium textured
decorative grade natural pine bark having first been
prepared in accordance with the specification.
Free standing hedges shall have a 3 strand
galvanised wire and tanalised softwood timber post
fence, to BS 1722 Part 2:2000, erected along a line
between the two rows of hedge plants.
All existing trees and hedges to be protected in
accordance with BS5837:2012 for the duration of
the construction period.

Mounding above engineered lagoon
bunding, to be height as shown on
each mound. To provide natural
mounding around the lagoon. Mounds
to be graded at a 1:3 slope
Proposed Barn owl box to be located
onto a retained barn as specified
within ACD report PRI19496Eco
Proposed invertebrate log piles within
the landscape bund as specified within
ACD report PRI19496Eco
Cut lines

Planting Schedule
Trees
Species Name
Girth
Height
Density
Specification
No.
Ilex aquifolium
40-60cm
Bushy :3 brks :C
25 No.
Ilex aquifolium
40-60cm
C :Planted in native buffer mix
14 No.
Crataegus monogyna
60-80cm
Transplant :Bushy :3 brks :BR
49 No.
Crataegus monogyna
60-80cm
BR :Planted in native buffer mix
79 No.
Crataegus monogyna
80-100cm 0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset Transplant :BR :Planted as mixed hedge 755 No.
Corylus avellana
80-100cm 0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset Transplant :B
64 No.
Acer campestre
80-100cm 0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset Transplant :B
64 No.
Carpinus betulus
80-100cm 0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset Transplant :B
64 No.
Betula pendula
100-125cm
Feather :BR :Planted in native buffer mix 14 No.
Sorbus torminalis
6-8cm 150-175cm Counted
Half Standard :B
12 No.
Acer campestre
10-12cm 300-350cm Counted
Standard :Clear Stem 175-200 :2x :RB 1 No.
Quercus robur
10-12cm 300-350cm 0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset Standard :Clear Stem 175-200 :2x :RB 34 No.
Fraxinus excelsior
10-12cm 300-350cm 0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset Standard :Clear Stem 175-200 :2x :RB 34 No.
Shrubs
Species Name
Height
Pot Size Specification
Density
No.
Corylus avellana
60-80cm
1+2 :Branched :B
Counted
15 No.
Corylus avellana
60-80cm
BR :Planted in native buffer mix
79 No.
Ilex aquifolium 'Silver Queen' 30-40cm 3L
Bushy :C
0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset 64 No.
Ligustrum vulgare
60-80cm
Branched :3 brks :BR
49 No.
Ligustrum vulgare
60-80cm
BR :Planted in native buffer mix
79 No.
Prunus spinosa
80-100cm
Branched :BR :Planted as native hedge 0.5Ctr Double Staggered at 0.3m offset 190 No.
Prunus spinosa
60-80cm
1+1 :Branched :B
49 No.
Rubus fruticosus
40-60cm 3L
Branched :3 brks :C
25 No.
Viburnum opulus
40-60cm 3L
Branched :3 brks :C
49 No.
Viburnum opulus
60-80cm
1+1 :Branched :B
Counted
11 No.

E
D

23.07.15
23.07.15

C
22.07.15
B
15.07.15
A
14.07.15
Rev Date

Client comments
Client comments
LPA comments
Client comments
Layout revisions
Details

AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
Drawn

ACD

Tree Planting Pit Detail
within Soft Landscape

Ecology
Archaeology
Arboriculture
Landscape Architecture

Root Rain Metro tree pit
irrigation system as
supplied by Green-Tech
Industries or similar and
approved
Pressure impregnated
softwood stakes driven into
ground with a minimum of
400mm below ground
The tree should be
positioned in the hole so
that the top of the rootball is
level with the surrounding
ground level

Sheet 1

Sheet 1

Backfilled material to be
either originally excavated
soil or imported soil to
BS3882:2007. If judged to
be of poor quality then
suitable organic matter
must be added.
To be backfilled in layers of
300mm, each layer to be
lightly firmed in with heel, to
exclude large voids

Wire cage to be left on, and
folded back/cut away
around stem, if rootballed.
Rubber belting and spacer
block attached with
galvanised nails as supplied
from Green-Tech Industries
or similar and approved
with tie height 1/3 stem
height
Good quality mulch to be
applied to a minimum of
75mm depth, and no more
than 150mm, leaving the
stem base clear and mulch
free
Tree pit to be no deeper
than rootball, 600mm larger
than rootball on all sides,
and should be square

All components as supplied from GreenBlue Urban or similar and approved

Sheet 2 extension

Sheet 2 extension

ACD Landscape Architect & ACD Ecology & ACD Archaeology
Rodbourne Rail Business Centre, Grange Lane,
Malmesbury, SN16 0ES
Tel: 01666 825646
ACD Arboriculture
Courtyard House, Mill Lane, Godalming. GU7 1EY
Tel: 01483 425714
ACD (Landscape Architects) Southampton
12 Southgate Street, winchester, SO23 9EF
Tel: 01965 855604
www.acdlandscape.co.uk

scheme: Hill Farm, Jouldings Lane,
Farley Hill
client: Bradbeer Planning Ltd
drawing: Landscape Proposals
date: March 2015
scale: 1:200@A1
drawing no: PRI19496 11E Sheet 1 of 2
checked: JC
drawn: AB
Copyright of ACD Landscape Architects Ltd. All rights
described in Chapter IV of the Copyright, Designs and Patents
Act 1988 have been generally asserted: 2011. Copyright of this
plan remains with ACD until all fees have been paid in full.

Sheet 1

Sheet 1

Legend
Sheet 2 extension

Existing trees to be retained and
protected during construction

Sheet 2 extension
Sheet 2 extension

Proposed tree planting within soft
landscape. See detail on sheet 1

Sheet 2
Proposed Hazel tree planting within
soft landscape. See detail on sheet
1. To be coppiced in line with
management plan PRI19496 M&M

1 No. Sorbus torminalis

1 No. Viburnum opulus

Proposed mixed native hedge
planting to be planted in a double
staggered row 300mm apart and at
500mm centres in each row. To be
maintained at 1.8m height adjacent
to site boundaries

+56.5m
+58m

Proposed native mix shrub planting
areas, to be planted in groups of
5-7 specie and to receive a 75mm
bark mulch layer after planting
operations

1 No. Sorbus torminalis

Proposed grassland areas, to be
seeded with EM7 grass seed mix as
supplied by Emorsgate and sown at
4 grams per msq, or similar and
maintained as amenity grass in
accordance with management plan
PRI19496-M&M
Proposed grassland areas, to be
seeded with EM7 grass seed mix as
supplied by Emorsgate and sown at 4
grams per msq, or similar and
maintained as long meadowland
grassland in accordance with
management plan PRI19496-M&M

2 No. Corylus avellana
+58m
+58m

Mounding above engineered lagoon
bunding, to be height as shown on
each mound. To provide natural
mounding around the lagoon. Mounds
to be graded at a 1:3 slope

+0.5m

1 No. Viburnum opulus

+58.5m
+56.5m

Proposed Barn owl box to be located
onto a retained barn as specified
within ACD report PRI19496Eco

+57.5m

Proposed invertebrate log piles within
the landscape bund as specified within
ACD report PRI19496Eco
Cut lines

178 No. Crataegus monogyna 60%
45 No.Prunus spinosa 15%
15 No. Corylus avellana 5%
15 No. Acer campestre 5%
15 No. Carpinus betulus 5%
15 No.Ilex aquifolium 'Silver Queen' 5%
8 No. Quercus robur 2.5%
8 No.Fraxinus excelsior 2.5%

+58m
Sheet 2 extension
Sheet 2

1 No. Sorbus torminalis
+56.5m
+58m

+58m
+56.5m
4 No.Betula pendula 5%
23 No. Corylus avellana 30%
23 No. Crataegus monogyna 30%
4 No.Ilex aquifolium 5%
23 No.Ligustrum vulgare 30%

+58m

2 No. Corylus avellana

+58m

+58.5m
+56.5m

+57.5m

+57.5m
1 No. Viburnum opulus

+58m

2 No. Sorbus torminalis

49 No. Crataegus monogyna 20%
25 No.Ilex aquifolium10%
49 No.Ligustrum vulgare 20%
25 No.Rubus fruticosus 10%
49 No. Viburnum opulus 20%
49 No.Prunus spinosa 20%

1 No. Viburnum opulus

+58m
+56.5m

10 No.Betula pendula 5%
56 No. Corylus avellana 30%
56 No. Crataegus monogyna 30%
10 No.Ilex aquifolium 5%
56 No.Ligustrum vulgare 30%

+57.5m

+58m

+58m

+58m

+58m

+58m

+57.5m

+57.5m
+58.5m

+58m

+57.5m
+55.5m

+57.5m
2 No. Sorbus torminalis

AB
AB
AB
AB
AB
Drawn

ACD
Ecology
Archaeology
Arboriculture
Landscape Architecture

+56.5m

+56.5m

Client comments
Client comments
LPA comments
Client comments
Layout revisions
Details

+55.5m
+56.5m

+56.5m

+57.5m

Gap within the hedgerow for
tractor access down the
track

1 No. Viburnum opulus
+56.5m

Hedgerow extract
1 No. Sorbus torminalis

Crataegus monogyna 20%

Extent of hedgerow from the
south east corner of the site
traveling down the eastern
side of the existing track.
Refer to sheet 2 for planting
mix and planting numbers
required

+56.5m

Gap within the hedgerow for
ACD Arboriculture
House, Mill Lane, Godalming. GU7 1EY
tractor accessCourtyard
down the
Tel: 01483 425714
track

3 No. Corylus avellana

ACD (Landscape Architects) Southampton
12 Southgate Street, winchester, SO23 9EF
Tel: 01965 855604

3 No. Corylus avellana

20%
10%
20%
20%

Sheet 2 extension

ACD Landscape Architect & ACD Ecology & ACD Archaeology
Rodbourne Rail Business Centre, Grange Lane,
Malmesbury, SN16 0ES
Tel: 01666 825646

1 No. Viburnum opulus
+55.5m

+55.5m

Sheet 2

+58.5m
+58.5m

+58.5m

+57.5m

204 No.
51 No.
17 No.
17 No.
17 No.
17 No.
9 No.
9 No.

+58m

+58m

+56.5m

+56.5m

+58m

+57.5m

+57.5m
+58.5m

+58.5m

+58m

E
23.07.15
D
23.07.15
C
22.07.15
B
15.07.15
A
14.07.15
Rev Date

+58.5m
+57.5m

204 No. Crataegus monogyna 60%
51 No.Prunus spinosa 15%
17 No. Corylus avellana 5%
17 No. Acer campestre 5%
17 No. Carpinus betulus 5%
17 No.Ilex aquifolium 'Silver Queen' 5%
9 No. Quercus robur 2.5%
9 No.Fraxinus excelsior 2.5%

Sorbus torminalis

Gap within the hedgerow for
tractor access down the
track

177 No. Crataegus monogyna 60%
45 No.Prunus spinosa 15%
15 No. Corylus avellana 5%
15 No. Acer campestre 5%
15 No. Carpinus betulus 5%
15 No.Ilex aquifolium 'Silver Queen' 5%
8 No. Quercus robur 2.5%
8 No.Fraxinus excelsior 2.5%

www.acdlandscape.co.uk

SPECIFICATION
Forestry Commission Practice note 8.
All native species should be of local stock. Native trees and shrubs certified as
British Native plant stock.
All planting stock should comply with the Horticultural Trade Association National
Plant specification.
All planting preparation, handling, planting & maintenance should be in
accordance with CPSE Code for Handling and Establishing plants.
All trees and shrubs to comply with BS 3936 Part 1 1992, planted to BS
4043:1989 and BS 4428:1989.
All works generally, to comply with the written Soft Landscape Specification.
Topsoil incorporated into planting beds to be gently mounded towards the centre
of each bed to allow for settlement.
On completion of planting the whole area of the shrub bed shall be mulched with
75mm consolidated thickness of medium textured decorative grade natural pine
bark having first been prepared in accordance with the specification.
Free standing hedges shall have a 3 strand galvanised wire and tanalised
softwood timber post fence, to BS 1722 Part 2:2000, erected along a line between
the two rows of hedge plants.
All existing trees and hedges to be protected in accordance with BS5837:2012 for
the duration of the construction period.
NOTE: DO NOT SCALE FROM DRAWING

scheme: Hill Farm, Jouldings Lane,
Farley Hill
client: Bradbeer Planning Ltd
drawing: Landscape Proposals
date: March 2015
scale: 1:200@A1
drawing no: PRI19496 11E Sheet 2 of 2
checked: JC
drawn: AB
Copyright of ACD Landscape Architects Ltd. All rights
described in Chapter IV of the Copyright, Designs and Patents
Act 1988 have been generally asserted: 2011. Copyright of this
plan remains with ACD until all fees have been paid in full.

SWALLOWFIELD PARISH COUNCIL
PARISH OFFICE
SWALLOWFIELD STREET, SWALLOWFIELD
READING, BERKS, RG7 1QX

Tel: 0118 988 5929 email: clerk@swallowfieldpc.gov.uk

27th August 2015
Attn: Graham Vaughan
Planning Department
Wokingham Borough Council
Shute End
Wokingham
Berks RG40 1WR

Dear Graham
F/2015/0767 – Anaerobic Digester Bio-gas Plant, Hill Farm, Jouldings Lane, Farley Hill
Swallowfield Parish Council is responding to the additional and amended information provided
in connection with this application. The additional information does not change the Council’s
position and its continued strong objection to this proposal. The additional detail in the
transport statement only reinforces and increases the Council’s concerns.
Transport Statement
Large Catchment for Sourcing of Feedstock
It is proposed to source over 25% of the feedstock from Maidenhead. This is 6000 tonnes
which requires 400 single way movements by 30 tonne HGV. This is a massive proportion
being transported over a substantial distance. Clearly this is because the material cannot be
sourced from local farms at a time when the economics of growing crops for digesters is
favourable. It is to be expected that the economic balance will shift such that at some point in
the lifetime of the plant this land use becomes less favourable and this will result in either
having to source this material from even further afield or having to change the feedstock to
include material of a far more undesirable nature such as animal waste and putrescible food
waste.
Dubious Green Credentials
This type of facility is successful when the majority of the feedstock is generated within the
confines of its location and this is clearly not the case here.
The distances involved in sourcing the feedstock for Hill Farm are considerable and this adds
considerably to the carbon footprint of the operation when the amount of diesel fuel required to
transport the material is taken into account. This must be offset against the green credentials of
biogas as a source of energy. It is more normal for such facilities to source their feedstock onsite and locally.
Furthermore, expert sources such as the soil association and within Government Departments
(DEFRA and DECC) are now calling into question the wisdom of installations that rely on
purpose grown crops.

Page 1 of 6

Implications of Type of Feedstock
Other digesters, including the “comparable” example now referenced in the application, at
Rainbarrow Farm near Dorchester, use a mix of feedstock so the Council believes that such a
change would be feasible at Hill Farm with relatively minor modification and worse still may
become essential for the continued economic viability of the plant. Given the proximity of the
plant to the resident population of Farley Hill and the school, this would give rise to significant
issues, as these would constitute sensitive receptors for the unpleasant odours that would
arise, the implications of which are not being assessed in this application. The Council
believes that it is insufficient to rely on assurances from the applicant that this would never
happen and that this possibility, whether restricted by planning conditions or not, should be
considered at the outset when all the implications can be taken into account. Once the plant is
in existence, an application to change the feedstock mix would be more difficult to resist
because it could affect the future viability of the plant in a scenario where, if it had been
assessed at the outset, the installation might never have been permitted.
Nature of the Traffic
It cannot be emphasised strongly enough that these tractor and 18 tonne trailer combinations
are noisy. You require a large powerful tractor (200HP plus) and the trailers must have air
brakes as would the 30 tonne HGV.
The “before and after” comparison of traffic movements gives a misleading impression that
there will be little difference. A similar before and after comparison by weight transported would
yield a very different picture. Although a proportion of these vehicle movements will apparently
be taking the place of existing traffic movements, the difference in vehicle types is vast. Existing
traffic comprising predominantly cars, vans and pickups has far less impact than the large and
noisy vehicles that will replace this traffic. The greater harmful effect of these larger vehicles on
local amenity and safety must be taken into account.
The Council’s previous comments about the frequency and incessant nature of the traffic day in
day out, week in week out, year in year out still apply. This is not a seasonal operation.
Proximity of the Plant and Access Routes to the Resident Population
The example of a “comparable” installation (Rainbarrow Farm) is situated well away from
resident population (about 1km from Poundbury) and its feedstock is sourced locally. It has
excellent access to the primary road network (the A35 and A37) which does not pass any
houses. Despite all these advantages, concerns were raised about the transport impact at the
application stage. The situation at Farley Hill could not be more different and is dire by
comparison.
The new track to the proposed installation passes within just a few metres of the back gardens
of houses on Church Road at the top of Jouldings Lane. The school, Woodbury (sheltered
accommodation) and Cheriton Farm are approximately 200 metres away.
There is no doubt that the access route from the A327 is far from ideal. It is narrow, traffic is
sometimes forced to mount the footway and elsewhere there is no footway at all. So there is a
safety issue to be taken into consideration. There is housing all the way up the hill to the
junction with Jouldings Lane and there will be extra noise as these heavy vehicles are forced to
stop and start and engines labour to get up the hill.
The proximity of residential housing and the school is in sharp contrast to the situation at
Rainbarrow Farm. This is very apparent when looking at the two clips of maps in the appendix
to this letter which have been reproduced from Ordnance Survey at the same scale.

Page 2 of 6

Unsuitability of Access Routes
Despite previous statements that ALL traffic would travel to and from the facility in the A327
Arborfield direction, it now transpires that this is not to be the case. Some traffic would be
taking the route passing significant centres of population along Swallowfield Street and Church
Road from Swallowfield through the whole of length of Farley Hill and past the primary school.
Even if this traffic is restricted to outside school pick up and drop off times, the noise of the
vehicles will be disruptive to school activities. Furthermore, negotiating Salter’s Bridge in
Church Road, Swallowfield with the lack of pavement through to All Saints church, its 18 tonne
weight restriction and it being impassable to HGVs and long vehicles make this route extremely
risky from a road safety viewpoint.
Taking Proper Account of the Harmful Impacts
All the harmful impacts including harm to local and residential amenity, inconvenience to
residents, road safety and danger, environmental risk, harm to landscape character, etcetera
need to be taken into proper and full account in the overall assessment and weighed against
the environmental benefits which in this case are limited for reasons such as the large
catchment for feedstock.
The Council believes that the Highways Department does not take into account the harm the
traffic may cause to local amenity and in the Council’s opinion have underestimated the impact
from a road safety viewpoint.
The applicant has sought to mitigate the harmful effects by suggesting that there could be
benefits to the local community such as mains gas and district heating but these are not part of
the application, would be prohibitively expensive and are frankly fanciful. Consequently these
suggestions should be discounted completely.
The Council accepts that green energy is a priority nationally but this is not a reason for
overlooking or underplaying the negative impacts which are many. The harmful effects should
be weighed up in exactly the same way as in any application. The Parish Council believes that
insufficient weight is being given to the degree of actual harm that would be caused by this
proposed development.
Lagoon Landscaping
The Council contends that landscaping should not be accepted as the primary means of
legitimising an otherwise unsightly and unacceptable installation in the countryside. This
principle has been upheld by planning inspectors, e.g. at the appeal for a Builder’s Merchant
use at the Balcombe Nurseries site on the Basingstoke Road. No amount of landscaping alters
the fact that this is an enormous unsightly installation.
The lagoon of nitrogen rich liquid is only a few metres uphill from a significant watercourse, the
River Blackwater which feeds the River Loddon and subsequently the River Thames. The
adverse impact of leakage would be devastating and so the risk is significant even if the
probability of such an occurrence is low. Consequently this risk should be taken seriously.
Conclusion
The Parish Council understands the need of local farmers to diversify and maintain other rural
businesses and is supportive of this where it can be demonstrated that the benefits outweigh
any harm.
However, the harm in this case is substantial and the green credentials are undermined by the
large catchment area for, and transportation of, feedstock.

Page 3 of 6

The location of the proposed plant is too close to populated areas and the traffic generated will
have a substantial harmful impact. It will be harmful to the lives of too many people locally and
this is simply not acceptable.
Swallowfield Parish Council contends that, whatever the arguments for this form of energy
generation, this is an inappropriate location for an anaerobic digester on this scale.
The Council therefore reaffirms that it objects strongly to this proposal.

Yours sincerely,
Mrs. E. Halson
Parish Clerk

Page 4 of 6

Appendix – Maps contrasting the location of digesters relative to populated areas

Hill Farm, Farley Hill. It can be seen that the facility and the route in and out of it come into
close proximity to residential housing and the school.

Page 5 of 6

Rainbarrow Farm, near Poundbury, Dorchester. It can be seen that the immediate surroundings
are completely devoid of population and the route to the site from the A35 does not pass any
houses at all. The population of Poundbury is a kilometre away, the other side of the A37 / A35
ring road.

Page 6 of 6

Development
Management
Ref No
RM/2014/2062

No weeks on
day of
committee
17/13

Parish

Ward

Shinfield

Shinfield South

Major
Development
Proposal

Applicant
Location

Persimmon Homes
Land at the Manor, bordered by Brookers Hill,
Postcode RG2 9BX
Hollow Lane and Church Lane, Shinfield
Proposal
Reserved Matters application pursuant to planning consent
VAR/2013/0602 for a development of 126 dwellings a sports pavilion
public open space landscaping and associated works. This application
comprises details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.
Type
Reserved Matters
PS Category 7 (small scale major developments, dwellings) (EIA development)
Officer
Nick Chancellor
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 16/09/2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The Reserved Matters application site is located to the south of Brookers Hill, west of
Hollow Lane and north of a recent residential development at Gloucester Avenue. The
site consists of previously developed land within the Modest Development Location of
Shinfield, within development limits but outside of the South of M4 Strategic
Development Location.
Followed the council’s decision to refuse application O/2011/0204, Outline planning
consent for up to 126 residential units on the site was granted on 08/01/2013 under
appeal reference APP/X0360/A/12/2179141 and subsequently varied under application
VAR/2013/0602. This planning permission establishes the principle of access to the
site together with the quantum of development and development parameters, details of
which were reserved for later determination. Thus, the principles for development of the
site have already been established and the reserved matters applications will add
further detail to what has already been agreed.
This current application is a reserved matters application for 126 dwellings. The
purpose of this application is to provide further detail in respect of the layout scale, and
the appearance of the buildings and landscaping as it relates to the eastern part of the
site approved for residential development. The application relates only to the eastern
part of the larger site approved in Outline and does not include details for the public
open space, sports pitches and pavilion that were approved immediately to the west. A
Reserved Matters application for the western part of the Outline site has not yet been
submitted; however, the two halves can each be brought forward independently, as
established by the Inspector within the appeal decision. There is not therefore a
planning requirement for the pavilion and public open space to be provided in
conjunction with the eastern residential component.
The application is before the Planning Committee as it is a major development that is
recommended for approval. The scheme has been revised following pre-application

discussions and during the course of this application to ensure compliance with the
Council’s amenity standards and to secure a high quality public realm.
The proposal would provide for an acceptable level of amenity for the future occupants
of the dwellings together with an acceptable impact on ecology, traffic, highway safety
and flood risk. In addition it would also contribute to the delivery of housing numbers
and assist the council in maintaining a 5 year housing supply. The development would
not have a significant detrimental impact on the character of the area or on existing
residents. In design terms, the proposal meets the council’s standards pertaining to
internal space, garden depths and parking. Parts of the development are not requested
to be adopted as public highway and the developer’s responsibility to maintain the
private roads in perpetuity will be secured by a new section 106 legal agreement. There
is no unacceptable impact on ecology, traffic, highway safety or flood risk subject to
compliance with the conditions attached to the Outline planning permission and further
conditions set out below. A section 106 legal agreement has been secured under the
Outline planning permission and will mitigate the impact of development on local
infrastructure, in accordance with the council’s (now superseded) Planning Advice Note.
The development is therefore considered acceptable and it is recommended that
Reserved Matters are approved.

PLANNING STATUS
 Modest Development Location (southern and eastern, developed part of the site)
 South of the M4 Strategic Development Location (SDL) (pocket of land to the far
west of the site, required for SUDS infrastructure)
 Allocated Housing Development Site (sites within modest development locations)
 Avenue of trees along the access road protected under TPO 1193/2007
 Green Route (A327 Hollow Lane north of Brookers Hill and south of Shinfield FP10)
 Green Route Enhancement Area (A327 Hollow Lane between Brookers Hill and
FP10 – also further south)
 Listed Buildings: St Mary the Virgin, Church Lane (Grade 1); Milton Sandford
Restaurant, Church Lane (Grade II); Church Farmhouse, Church Lane (Grade II);
and granary at Church Farm House (Grade II); Lane End Farmhouse, Shinfield Road
(Grade II)
 Area of Special Character to the south (Hollow Lane)
 Shinfield Footpath 10
 Gas pipeline consultation zone, parallel to Brookers Hill (Burghfield Power Station
supply)
 Mineral Consultation Area (south-western corner)
 Contaminated Land
 Groundwater protection zone
 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 7km linear consultation zone
 Nuclear Consultation Zone (HSE to be consulted on schemes of 200 or more
dwellings)
 Area of archaeological potential (southern corner of site)

RECOMMENDATION
APPROVE RESERVED MATTERS subject to the conditions listed below and
completion of a new section 106 agreement to confirm the extent of adoptable highway.
The agreement will also require the delivery and future maintenance of non-adoptable
areas (including parts of the Public Right of Way) to an appropriate standard and for
these non-adopted roads to be maintained in perpetuity as such.
1) Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions imposed by
planning permission O/2011/0204 dated 08/01/13 as varied by VAR/2013/0602 dated
18/06/13 which conditions shall remain in full force and effect save in so far as they are
expressly affected or varied by this permission.
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
Drawing No

Title

Received by
the LPA

793-PL-01 Rev B

Planning Layout

04.09.2015

793-PL-02 Rev B
793-PL-03 Rev A
793-PL-04 Rev A
793-PL-05 Rev A
793-PL-08 Rev A
793-PL-09 Rev B

Information Layout
Storey Heights Plan
Unit Types Plan
Parking Strategy Plan
Character Area Plan
Location Plan

04.09.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
21.08.2015

Proposed Street Scene 01
Proposed Street Scene 02
Proposed Street Scene 03
Proposed Street Scene 04
Proposed Street Scene 05
Proposed Street Scene 06

25.08.2015
25.08.2015
25.08.2015
25.08.2015
25.08.2015
25.08.2015

Grazely - Elevations
Grazely - Floor Plans
Hatfield - Elevations
Hatfield - Floor Plans
Clayton - Elevations
Clayton - Floor Plans
Clayton Corner - Elevations - Brick
Clayton Corner - Elevations - Render
Clayton Corner - Floor Plans
Longthorpe - Elevations

20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015

Layout Drawings

Street Scenes

793-PL-SS01 Rev A
793-PL-SS02 Rev A
793-PL-SS03 Rev A
793-PL-SS04 Rev A
793-PL-SS05 Rev A
793-PL-SS06 Rev A

House Types

793-PL-GR-E1 Rev A
793-PL-GR-P1 Rev A
793-PL-HT-E1 Rev A
793-PL-HT-P1 Rev A
793-PL-CL-E1 Rev A
793-PL-CL-P1 Rev A
793-PL-CL-C-E1 Rev A
793-PL-CL-C-E2 Rev A
793-PL-CL-C-P1 Rev A
793-PL-LO-E1 Rev A

793-PL-LO-P1 Rev A
793-PL-LE-E1 Rev A
793-PL-LE-E2 Rev A
793-PL-LE-P1 Rev A
793-PL-LU-E1 Rev A
793-PL-LU-E2 Rev A
793-PL-LU-P1 Rev A
793-PL-MY-E1 Rev A
793-PL-MY-E2 Rev A

Longthorpe - Floor Plans
Leicester - Elevations - Render
Leicester - Elevations - Brick
Leicester - Floor Plans
Lumley - Elevations - Tile
Lumley - Elevations - Brick
Lumley - Floor Plans
Mayfair - Elevations - Render
Mayfair - Elevations - Brick

20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015

793-PL-MY-P1 Rev A
793-PL-MB-E1 Rev A
793-PL-MB-P1 Rev A
793-PL-RE-E1 Rev A
793-PL-RE-P1 Rev A

Mayfair - Floor Plans
Marylebone - Elevations
Marylebone - Floor Plans
Regent - Elevations
Regent - Floor Plans

20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015

793-PL-GR-E2 Rev A
793-PL-GR-P2 Rev A
793-PL-HT-E2 Rev A
793-PL-HT-P2 Rev A
793-PL-WH-E1 Rev A
793-PL-WH-P1 Rev A
793-PL-LO-E2 Rev A
793-PL-LO-P2 Rev A
793-PL-MY-E3 Rev A
793-PL-MY-P2 Rev A
793-PL-CH-E1 Rev A
793-PL-CH-P1 Rev A
793-PL-CH-E2 Rev A
793-PL-CH-P2 Rev A
793-PL-MB-E2 Rev A
793-PL-MB-E3 Rev A
793-PL-MB-P2 Rev A
793-PL-BO-E1 Rev A
793-PL-BO-P1 Rev A
793-PL-OX-E1 Rev A
793-PL-OX-P1 Rev A
793-PL-OX-E2 Rev A
793-PL-OX-P2 Rev A
793-PL-PO-E1 Rev A
793-PL-PO-P1 Rev A
793-PL-PO-E2 Rev A
793-PL-PO-P2 Rev A
793-PL-SH01

Grazely - Elevations
Grazely - Floor Plans
Hatfield - Elevations
Hatfield - Floor Plans
Whitehall - Elevations
Whitehall - Floor Plans
Longthorpe - Elevations
Longthorpe - Floor Plans
Mayfair - Elevations
Mayfair - Floor Plans
Chillingham - Elevations - Render
Chillingham - Floor Plans
Chillingham - Elevations - Brick
Chillingham - Floor Plans
Marylebone - Elevations - Render
Marylebone - Elevations - Brick
Marylebone - Floor Plans
Bond - Elevations
Bond - Floor Plans
Oxford - Elevations
Oxford - Floor Plans
Oxford - Elevations
Oxford - Floor Plans
Portland - Elevations - Brick
Portland - Floor Plans
Portland - Elevations - Render
Portland - Floor Plans
Proposed Garden Sheds

20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
20.08.2015
25.08.2015

Engineering Plans (Tracking, Visibility, Levels and Drainage)
5212-01-P1

Engineering Layout Sheet 1

20.08.2015

5212-02-P1

Engineering Layout Sheet 2

20.08.2015

5212-10-P1

Longitudinal Sections Sheet 1

20.08.2015

5212-11-P1

Longitudinal Sections Sheet 2

20.08.2015

P667/01 rev. H

Swept Path Analysis

20.08.2015

P667/3 rev A

Emergency Access

20.08.2015

n/a

Drainage Strategy for the Manor Shinfield
(prepared by Woods Hardwick, project
17150, revision A dated 13.05.2015).

20.05.2015

To be reported in
Members Update

Adoption Plan

To be
reported in
Members
Update

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted either:
i)
a strategy detailing how the development will secure a 10% reduction in carbon
emissions above the minimum requirements of Part L: Building Regulations shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority; or
ii)
an alternative strategy which can demonstrate a greater carbon saving than
would be achieved by i) above
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
The approved measures shall be installed and functional before first occupation of the
buildings they are intended to serve.
Reason: To ensure a high standard of sustainable development in accordance with
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1, MDD Local Plan 2014 policy CC05, the
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (2010) and
the South of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning
Document (October 2011).
4) Before the commencement of the development a Water Management Strategy to
demonstrate how the development will achieve internal potable water consumption
targets of 105 litres or less per person per day shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved Strategy.
Reason: To ensure a high standard of sustainable development and water management
in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP1, MDD Local Plan
2014 policy CC04, the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document (2010) and the South of the M4 Strategic Development Location
Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011).
5) Boundary treatments for land to the west of the reserved matters site shall be
implemented in accordance with the Phasing and Landscape strategy required by
condition 4 and the details approved under 8 and 9 of VAR/2013/0602 (conditions
application reference C/2014/0560). The works pertaining to “phase 1” (boundary

planting) shall be implemented in full in accordance with the approved details prior to
the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the privacy of occupants, security and visual amenity in
accordance with Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3 and MDD Local Plan Policy TB21
6) No development other than works of demolition and remediation shall commence
until a Diversion Order for the Public Right of Way bisecting the reserved matters site
(Footpath 10 as shown on 793-PL-02 rev B) has been confirmed through the
appropriate formal process. Development shall not commence until evidence
confirming approval of the Diversion Order has been submitted to and agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: Failure to obtain a Diversion Order to the Public Right of Way would
necessitate major and significant changes to the layout that would require the
submission of a new Reserved Matters planning application – it is therefore necessary
and relevant to planning. The condition is reasonable as it ensures the development
can be implemented in accordance with the approved plans and as there would
otherwise be serious doubt as to whether a part-implemented scheme could be adapted
so as to comply with the policies and standards of the Local Planning Authority.
7) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the utilities and service
margins shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
These service margins shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details,
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that would
be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests of providing a
functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP3, CP4 & CP6.
8) Prior to the commencement of development, full details of garages (including
integrated garages) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. All garages shall be built with minimum internal dimensions of 3m x 6m and
with a front opening to allow for a garage door width of at least 2.4m.
Reason: To ensure that all garages within the site are suitable for the parking of cars, in
accordance with the Council’s standards set out in the Parking Standards Study Report
2011. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3, CP4 & CP6.

Informatives:
1. The development accords with the policies contained within the adopted
development plan and there are no material considerations which warrant a
different decision being taken.
2. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreements under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act that relates to the site, the
contents of which relate to this development.

3. The Corporate Head of Environment at the Council Offices, Shute End,
Wokingham should be contacted for the approval of the access construction
details before any work is carried out within the highway. This planning
permission does NOT authorise the construction of such an access.
4. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent
the deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further
information contact Corporate Head of Environment on tel: 0118 974 6302.
5. If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority,
to adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public
expense, then full engineering details must be agreed with the Corporate Head of
Environment at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer is
strongly advised not to commence development until such details have been
approved in writing and a legal agreement is made with the Council under S38 of
the Highways Act 1980.
6. Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the developer,
whether they are located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway,
as defined under Section 87 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or
on or affecting the public highway, shall be coordinated under the requirements
of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and the Traffic management Act
2004 and licensed accordingly in order to secure the expeditious movement of
traffic by minimising disruption to users of the highway network in Wokingham.
7. Any such works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those
involving the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in
liaison with Wokingham Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone
01189 746302). This must take place at least three month in advance of the
works and particularly to ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to
the site are coordinated to take place wherever possible at the same time.
8. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on
construction and demolition sites. Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for
prior consent to the works, can be made to the Environmental Health and
Licensing Manager.
9. In respect of surface water it is recommended that the applicant should ensure
that storm flows are attenuated or regulated into the receiving public network
through on or off site storage. When it is proposed to connect to a combined
public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and combined at the final
manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not permitted for the removal of
Ground Water. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer,
prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. They can
be contacted on 0845 850 2777.
10. Licences, consents or permits may be required for work on this site. For further
information on environmental permits and other licences please visit
http://www.businesslink.gov.uk/bdotg/action/layer?r.s=tl&r.lc=en&topicId=107906
8363

11. The applicant is advised that the Council seeks that employers or developers
within the borough commit to using local labour / contractors where possible. This
should include:




Advertisement of jobs within local recruitment agencies / job centres;
Recruitment and training of residents from the local area;
Seek tender of local suppliers or contractors for work.

12. Construction Noise. The applicant or the operator is advised to submit to the
Council’s Environmental Health Team a ‘prior consent’ application under s.60 of
the Control of Pollution Act 1974.
13. Outline planning permission VAR/2013/0602 requires the submission of details to
be approved by the Local Planning Authority in relation to certain conditions. The
Local Planning Authority does not consider that the granting of Reserved Matters
planning permission constitutes formal discharge of any condition (except
condition 1). Further application(s) to discharge certain conditions will therefore
be required in accordance with the specific requirements of each condition.
14. In the event that there is a discrepancy between the 2.4m minimum garage door
width requirement set out in condition 8 and a plan listed under condition 2;
details submitted to discharge condition 8 shall include amended plans for that
house type to show a minimum 2.4 garage door width.

PLANNING HISTORY
Late 1940’s -1980’s

Various applications for development associated with the use of
the site by the National Institute for Research and Dairying
(NIRD) which occupied land west of Hollow Lane between
Brookers Hill in the North and Church Lane in the South.

36941

18,766m2 B1 floorspace occupying most of the NIRD site, with
the exception of the north-eastern corner, allowed at appeal in
May 1992. The time for implementation was extended in May
1995 (application 43818)

43818

O/1997/64991
(& duplicate
O/1997/64992)
RM/1998/67568
F/1998/68190

Outline application for the erection of 25 dwellings (five twobedroom affordable units and 20 four-bedroom market houses)
with associated access roads, car parking and open space
approved on 1 October 1997 with reserved matters conditionally
approved 24 July 1998. A subsequent full application for 20 fivebedroom houses as an alternative to the four-bedroom houses
already approved was conditionally approved on 28 October
1998. (Now the Manor).

O/2000/2590
(& duplicate
O/2000/2605)

Outline planning permission for a 18,766m2 Class B1 business
redevelopment on 6.18 hectares of land (the central part of the
NIRD site, north of the residential development that had already
taken place at the Manor) conditionally approved on 7 June 2001.
Access was to be from Brookers Hill.

O/2003/8535
(& duplicate

Outline application for the erection of 80 dwellings with access via
The Manor onto Church Lane conditionally approved on 24

O/2003/8536)

February 2004.

RM/2005/3851

Reserved matters for 78 dwellings was conditionally approved on
3 May 2005 and reserved matters for conversion of a barn to two
dwellings conditionally approved on 8 March 2006. Subsequent
full applications for conversion of the barn to one and three
dwellings were refused (F/2007/2060 & F/2007/3056) but a full
application for three dwellings was approved on 28 January 2009.
(Now Gloucester Avenue).

RM/2006/6701
F/2008/2526

O/2003/8537
(& duplicate
O/2003/5838)
VAR/2006/7731
O/2008/0792

TP/2007/0435
VAR/2008/2374

C/2011/0204.
Appeal reference:
APP/X0360/A/12/21
79141

Outline application for erection of 18,766m2 buildings for B1 use
on 6.18 hectares of land (on the northern part of the NIRD site)
conditionally approved 12 January 2004. A two year extension of
the time for submission of reserved matters until July 2009 was
conditionally approved in July 2006 but a further extension of time
was refused on 30 June 2008 due to the use of land in the
Countryside, failure to demonstrate the proposal would not cause
harm in terms of the amenity of neighbours, flooding and bats or
to secure infrastructure impact mitigation.
Temporary use of hard standing for offices, car parking site
vehicle parking and temporary materials store by Balfour Beatty
granted until May 2007. An application to extend this period and
allow 24 hour use was withdrawn on 5 February 2009.
Outline application for demolition of existing buildings and a
residential development comprising up to 126 dwellings, a sports
pavilion, public open space, landscaping and associated works
(means of access to be considered: appearance, landscaping,
layout, and scale reserved). The application was refused by
Planning Committee on 30/05/2015. Planning permission was
subsequently granted permission by the Planning Inspectorate on
08/01/2013.

VAR/2013/0602

Application to vary conditions 1, 9, 14, 15, 29 and removal of
conditions 50 and 53 of planning consent granted on appeal
O/2011/0204 dated 8.1.13 for up to 126 dwellings, a sports
pavilion, public open space, landscaping and associated works.
Approved 18/06/2013.

C/2014/0554

Application for submission of details to comply with condition 42
of VAR/2013/0602 (Access from Brookers Hill). Details approved
19/06/2014

C/2014/0560

Application for submission of details to comply with the following
conditions of VAR/2013/0602):
Conditions 4, 8 and 9 (phasing of public open space, boundary
treatments, structural landscaping).
Conditions 29(A) and 29(B) Contamination
Details approved 19/06/2014

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area

4.5 hectares mainly previously

developed land within Development
Limits.
Existing units

6,609m2 B1(b) research and
development
One two-bedroom bungalow

Proposed use

126 market dwellings comprising :
Two bedroom houses ........
20 (16%)
three bedroom
37 (29%)
houses ..............................
four bedroom houses ........
41 (33%)
five bedroom houses .........
28 (22%)
No affordable units to be provided on
site. An affordable housing contribution
is to be provided in lieu in accordance
with the section 106 agreement.

Proposed density - dwellings/hectare

28 dwellings per hectare – excludes
adjoining open space outside red line
boundary)

Number of affordable units proposed

As agreed under outline planning
permission and section 106 agreement,
no affordable units will be provided on
site, although a contribution in the sum
of £298,500 (equivalent to 3 units) will
be made towards off-site provision

Previous land use

6,609m2 Class B1(c) research and
development

Public Open Space proposed

No formal on-site provision within the
Reserved Matters red line area
(informal open areas adjacent to
Veteran Trees are to be managed in a
way that discourages active use). This
is in accordance with the development
parameters of the outline planning
permission.
Note: the outline planning permission
includes 1.88 hectares of amenity open
space on adjoining land for pitches, play
amenity/natural green space and
allotments. These can be brought
forward independently at a later date.
Existing Play area at The
Manor/Gloucester Rd lies within 65m of
the site

Proposed parking spaces

233 allocated

55 unallocated / visitor
A number of the properties also include
garages. Condition 8 has been
included to require these garages to be
constructed in accordance with the
council’s standards.
The parking is in line with adopted
standards

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Land Use and Transportation
Landscape Officer

Conservation Officer

Ecology Officer

Access and Movement

No objection
No objection. Details of hard and soft
landscaping still to be agreed as per
conditions of outline planning permission.
No objection. Requests condition to
secure screening between L’Ortolan
Restaurant (a listed building) and units
65-68. [officer note: this is no considered
necessary as appropriate screening can
be secured through the landscaping
conditions required by the outline
planning permission].
The layout is not strictly in accordance
with Design Guide and Management
Strategy for veteran and mature trees
that forms part of the outline planning
permission. The layout does not provide
the full Tree Reserve Area requirement
for 3 veteran trees on site. [Officer note:
The development is unlikely to cause
harm to the veteran trees themselves as
root protection areas and canopy spreads
have been taken into account]
The development is otherwise acceptable
in ecology terms.
The layout is not fully in accordance with
WBC Highway Design Guide in respect of
service/ utility margins and conflicts with
the developer’s DAS. The developer had
initially intended for the estate to remain
private and not offered for adoption as
public highway. However, this design
requirement has recently changed and
the developer is now seeking for the main
spine road to be designed to adoptable
standards. Condition 7 has therefore
been included. In respect of the
remaining residential private streets to be

WBC Drainage Advisor
Public Right of Way Officer

Environmental Health Officer
WBC Skills Broker

served from the main spine road, the
developer has agreed to enter into a new
S106 legal agreement with WBC. This
agreement shall secure the developer’s /
residents’ future street maintenance
responsibilities in perpetuity and protect
the highway authority from any future
requests to adopt the estate roads. The
details of this legal agreement will be
finalised prior to the issuing of a planning
decision notice, in accordance with the
recommendation.
No objection
No objection in principle, but notes that
the applicant will need to apply to divert
the PROW.
No objection.

Environment Agency

Requests new condition to require an
Employment Skills Plan [officer note: a
condition was not attached to the outline
application and cannot therefore be
insisted on for reserved matters].
No formal objection. Notes that outline
planning permission does not require an
archaeological evaluation to take place
prior to determination of the Reserved
Matters (only prior to commencement of
development) and therefore cannot be
insisted on as part of the current
application.
No objection

Natural England

No objection

English Heritage

No objection

Highways Agency

No objection

Sport England

No objection

Crime Prevention Design Advisor

No objection. Recommends conditions
that development obtains Secure by
Design accreditation, provides a rear
boundary treatment plan and that the
public realm is lit to CS4589 standard.
[officer note: A condition on secure by
design and was not imposed within the
outline planning permission and it would
not be reasonable to do so at reserved
matters stage. Conditions on lighting and
boundary treatments were included within
the outline permission: there is no need
to duplicate these.

Archaeological Advisor

Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue

No objection

Thames Water

No objection

Southern Gas Networks

No comments received.

Scottish and Southern Electricity

No comments received.

National Grid

No comments received.

Loddon Valley Ramblers

No objection

Open Space Society

No objection

Ward members

No comments received

Shinfield Parish Council

“This planning application indicates the
provision of a sports pavilion and sports
pitches – we request some clarification
from the planning officer as to whether
this provision will go ahead on this site.
The parish council believes that this plan
demonstrates a reasonable development
for this site.”

REPRESENTATIONS
4 representations were been received in response to the original consultation, all
objecting to the application. In summary, the issues raised were:
Highways
Concern that the development will result in an unacceptable impact on traffic [officer
note: highway impacts were assessed as part of the outline application and found to be
acceptable. Also see paragraph 37].
Trees and ecology
Concern that trees are being removed and the corresponding impact on wildlife,
particularly birds [officer note: ecology is addressed in paragraph 55-57].
Overlooking
Concern that loss of trees will result in overlooking to Vicarage Court properties [officer
note: this is addressed in paragraph 30].

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework 2012
Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 2012
National Planning Policy Guidance
South East Plan 2009
Saved policy NRM6 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area

Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policies:
CP1 - Sustainable Development
CP2 - Inclusive Communities
CP3 - General Development Principles
CP4 - Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 - Housing Mix, Density and Affordability
CP6 - Managing Travel Demand
CP7 - Biodiversity
CP8 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 - Scale and Location of Development Proposals
CP11 - Proposals outside Development Limits (including countryside)
CP17 - Housing delivery
CP19 – South of the M4 Strategic Development Location
Appendix 7 – Additional Guidance for the Development of Strategic Development
Locations
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD LP) policies
CC01
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CC02
Development Limits
CC03
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04
Sustainable Design and Construction
CC05
Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06
Noise
CC07
Parking
CC09
Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
CC10
Sustainable Drainage
Residential Uses
TB05
Housing Mix
TB07:
Internal Space Standards
TB09
Residential accommodation for vulnerable groups
Landscape and Nature Conservation
TB21:
Landscape Character
TB23:
Biodiversity and Development
SAL05:

Delivery of avoidance measures for Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area

Emerging Shinfield Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan:
At this stage, the Parish Neighbourhood Plan is being consulted on and has
not been adopted. Having regard to the NPPG and NPPF, it should be
afforded very limited weight at this stage.
Supplementary Planning Documents
Wokingham Borough Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (June 2012)
Planning Advice Note, Infrastructure Impact Mitigation, Contributions for New
Development (Revised 28th April 2010)
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (28 May

2010)
South of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011)
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (October
2011)
Wokingham Borough Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (2 June
2011)
Shinfield School Green Village Character Statement

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of development and infrastructure delivery
1.

The principle of development has been established through appeal decision
APP/X0360/A/12/2179141, whereby outline planning permission was granted on
08/01/2013 for up to 126 dwellings (125 net additional) on the eastern part of the
outline application site. This permission establishes the principle of access
together with development parameters.

2.

The purpose of the current reserved matters application is therefore to provide
further detail in respect of the layout, scale and the appearance of the buildings
and landscaping. The application relates only to the eastern element of the
Outline site and does not include details for the public open space, sports pitches
and pavilion that were approved immediately to the west under the same parent
planning permission. A Reserved Matters application for the western part of the
Outline site has not yet been submitted; however, the two parts can each be
brought forward independently, as established by the Inspector within the appeal
decision. There is not therefore a planning requirement for the pavilion and public
open space to be provided in conjunction with the eastern residential component.

3.

A Reserved Matters application for the western part of the Outline site has not yet
been submitted; however, the two halves can each be brought forward
independently, as established by the Inspector within the appeal decision. There
is not therefore a planning requirement for the pavilion and public open space to
be provided in conjunction with the eastern residential component.

4.

Land forming a residential development immediately to the south (Gloucester
Avenue and The Manor) was formerly part of the same overall larger site (known
as the Manor) and had been occupied by the National Institute for Research in
Dairying for class B1(b) research and development purposes until this use ceased
in the 1980s. The original, Manor site was allocated in the Wokingham District
Local Plan 2004 for a mixed use redevelopment for employment and residential
purposes. The residential component envisaged by the 2004 plan (now
Gloucester Avenue and The Manor) has taken place but the residual part remains
vacant. The Core Strategy explicitly recognises (para 4.72) that the site is no
longer required for employment use and the Outline planning permission has
established that an alternative residential use would be appropriate.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

The Reserved Matters site is previously development land and falls within the
Modest Development Location of Shinfield, although is not formally part of the
South of M4 Strategic Development Location. As such, developer infrastructure
contributions have previously been secured by means of a section 106 legal
agreement and in accordance with the council’s (now superseded) Planning
Advice Note. These contributions will include specified amounts towards the
Shinfield Eastern Relief Road (ERR), the improvement of local bus stops, primary
and secondary education, libraries, various sports and recreational facilities,
country parks, affordable housing, improvement of local walking and cycling
infrastructure and a travel plan.
Affordable and specialist housing
Core Strategy Policy CP5, Housing mix, density and affordability, amplified by
MDD LP Policy TB05: Housing Mix, the Infrastructure SPD and the Affordable
Housing SPD, requires a mix of tenures, including up to 40% on previously
developed land within modest development locations (subject to viability). The
financial viability of the site was considered in appeal for the original Outline
planning application. The Inspector concluded that, allowing the landowner a
competitive rate of return of 50% of the uplift in value of the land, the site was able
to support 2% affordable housing in conjunction with the other contributions set out
within the section 106 agreement. The current application is for reserved matters
pursuant to the outline permission and it is not possible to visit the quantum of
affordable housing issue at this stage.
The provision of a financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision is in accordance
with the adopted Core Strategy and Affordable Housing SPD, both of which state
that a contribution may be justified due to the small number of units proposed.
Consequently, a financial contribution equivalent to 2% affordable housing (in the
sum of £298,500) was secured through a section 106 legal agreement and will
paid on or before commencement of construction. It is therefore considered that,
in view of the Inspectors conclusions and the subsequent section 106 legal
agreement dated 18/06/2013, the development makes appropriate provision of
affordable housing.
Density of development and housing mix
Core Strategy Policy CP5, Housing mix, density and affordability and MDDLP
Policy TB05, Housing Mix seek a mix and balance of densities, dwelling types and
sizes reflecting the character of the area and the current and projected needs of
households. Condition 7 of application O/2011/0204 and VAR/2013/0602 requires
that the reserved matters ‘shall include a mix of dwellings taking account of the
Council’s housing mix policies at the time, the character of the development and
way in which it assimilates to the wider area’. WBC Policies do not require a
specific mix in relation to dwellings proposed for private tenure.
The outline planning permission has established the principle of a development of
up to 126 residential units on the previously developed land and an average
density of 28 dwellings per hectare. This is within the range of densities delivered
on recent developments in the vicinity (for example, the Gloucester Avenue
development to the south is 31dph) and slightly lower that the average of 3035dph anticipated for SDL development.

10. All of the accommodation would be provided within houses and no apartment

blocks are proposed. The proposal for 126 dwellings incorporates the following
mix / storey heights:
Dwelling type (bedrooms) Number provided
on site
2 bed house
20
3 bed house
37
4 bed house
41
5 bed house
28

2 stories

2.5 stories

20
37
15
26

0
0
26
2

11. The Policy Officer raises no objections in terms of the dwelling mix. Taking the
constraints of the site into account, this approach is considered acceptable.
Impact on the Character of the Area
Masterplan – Layout
12. Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP3, General
Principles for Development requires high quality design that respects its context.
This requirement is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03, Green Infrastructure,
Trees and Landscaping and TB21, Landscape Character which requires
development proposals to protect and enhance the Borough’s Green
Infrastructure, retaining existing trees, hedges and other landscape features and
incorporating high quality - ideally native – planting as an integral part of any
scheme, within the context of the Council’s Landscape Character Assessment.
Development parameters
13. The Parameter Plan (Land Use) approved as part of the Outline application
identifies zones for built development, SUDS features (the attenuation pond),
retained trees and their root protection zones, zones for structural landscape
planting, wildlife corridors, highway infrastructure (the main, north-south route into
the site), the existing Public Right of Way and vehicular and pedestrian access
points.
14. Another Outline Parameter Plan (Heights - Drawing No DW-411-103 Rev00)
identifies zones of two and 2.5 storey development within the area to be
development for residential purposes and specifies maximum building heights
AOD within these zones, relating to existing ground levels. This is amplified by the
table on page 66 of the Outline application Design and Access Statement which
establishes width, depth and height ranges for the different types of building
proposed. Residential buildings would be either two or 2.5 storeys (the intention is
that the second-floor accommodation would be partially within the roof space).
Two storey houses would be a maximum of 9 metres to the ridge, plus a further
two metres for chimneys giving a maximum overall height of 11 metres. 2.5
storey houses would be a maximum of 12 metres to the ridge, plus a further two
metres for chimneys giving a maximum overall height of 14 metres.

Assessment against Outline parameters
15. Parts of the overall site layout have changed from those shown illustratively in the
outline application (with changes to internal access road and house positions, in
particular the position of various blocks of terraced dwellings). However, the
Reserved Matters layout is consistent with the principles defined at Outline stage

by the parameter plans. All the dwellings lie within the area of the site designated
for residential use and none exceed 2.5 storeys in height, with the tallest units
situated within the interior of the development rather than adjacent to
countryside/open space. Roof ridge heights are below the maximum specified in
the parameters. 2.5 storey units have been positioned appropriately, facing onto
focal points within the development, corresponding to the Village Green and
Village Triangle areas of open space as anticipated. Veteran, TPO and other
significant trees have been retained in the layout. The location of pedestrian and
emergency access points to the site are also consistent with the parameters,
although the exact line of the Public Right of Way is proposed to be diverted (see
paragraph 48).
Design and Appearance
16. The application Design and Access Statement (DAS) includes a character analysis
of the surrounding area and identifies themes that are common in the locality.
These have been used to help inform the design style of the dwellings, which
generally take on a more traditional form of design. Informed by the character
assessment, the development is divided into two character areas comprising the
Parkland Edge to the north and west of the site and the Avenue to the south. The
former is designed at lower density and with detached properties, appropriate to its
role in forming a settlement boundary to neighbouring open land. The latter is
adjacent to the existing built up area and would be built at a higher density,
utilising a mix of terrace, semi-detached and some detached houses. This
approach mirrors that anticipated at the Outline stage and is also consistent with
the design parameters for the South of M4 SDL set out within Core Strategy CP19,
which anticipates a managed transition between urban and rural at the settlement
periphery.
17. A combination of brick, render and tile materials are proposed, with the
introduction of gables on the front elevations of some properties. The window
openings incorporated brick and stone cill and header details. Taken together,
these features provide an appropriate degree of diversity in the built form. The
precise materials (i.e. brick types and colours) for use in the development will be
agreed through a future submission of details to comply with condition 6 of the
outline planning permission.
Summary
18. Throughout the site, the applicant has provided a good range of housing types and
styles ensuring that there is diversity in the built form and a range of housing for
future occupants. The house types feature detailing such as rendering on some
house types and brick work details on others. The application of character areas
as outlined above is appropriate to the edge of settlement location and is an
appropriate response to the local vernacular and in particular, the style of housing
found immediately to the south at Gloucester Avenue. The design approach
respects the context of the site location and advice provided by the NPPF, policies
CP1 and CP3 together with Supplementary Planning Guidance and is therefore
considered to be acceptable.

Landscaping
19. A landscape strategy has been provided with the application and makes provision
for amenity and structure planting within private, communal and highway areas as

well as buffer planting along the site boundary.
20. The site features a number of veteran or near veteran trees, as well as a row of
Red Oaks protected under TPO and which are located along the access road.
The details submitted have demonstrated that the layout is consistent with the
retention of these trees in terms of their root protection areas and canopy spreads.
21. The principle of removing various existing site trees was established through the
outline planning permission in consultation with the landscape officer. However,
the most significant site trees are to be retained in accordance with the tree
retention / removal plan that has been established through the outline planning
permission. A row of mature trees along the boundary to Hollow Lane are to be
retained and will aid in screening the development. Furthermore, a significant
number of new, semi-mature trees would be planted within the site and along its
boundaries to help soften the built form and provide a verdant character. Outside
of the reserved matters site boundary, details of further screening and structural
planting beyond the western boundary have been agreed with the University of
Reading and will be implemented prior to occupation of the residential
development in accordance with outline condition 9. Recommended condition 5
refers.
22. Conditions 8 - 17 (inclusive) of the outline planning permission control tree
protection and hard / soft landscaping and must be approved in writing prior to the
commencement of development. Following comments from the landscape
officer, a landscape strategy and detailed hard/soft landscaping scheme submitted
with the application were been revised. While the officer considers that the overall
strategy is now generally acceptable in terms of the types and location of
proposed planting, the details of the scheme have not yet been assessed. While it
has been demonstrated that that the layout is capable of accommodating
acceptable landscaping, the details of the scheme will be approved at a later date
by way of the outline planning conditions.
Amenity of Future Occupiers
23. The applicant has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Council that the
proposed development accords with MDD Local Plan policy TB07 in terms of
internal space standards. All the proposed units meet or exceed the minimum
internal space standards and the combined living, kitchen and dining area
specified in policy TB07. This will ensure an appropriate standard of living and
amenity will be enjoyed by future occupiers of the site.
24. Acceptable private amenity space is also provided to serve each proposed
dwelling in line with the advice contained within the Borough Design Guide SPD
with all garden depths meeting or exceeding 11m and being of a regular and
useable shape. The layout of the proposed development is as such that all of the
proposed dwellings would enjoy an acceptable level of privacy and daylight and
sunlight. None of the proposed dwellings would experience unacceptable
overbearing impact from one of its neighbours.
25. When considering the amenities of the future occupiers of the proposed
development, the proposals accord with Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3,
MDD Local Plan policy TB07 and the advice contained within the Borough Design
Guide.

Impact on Neighbouring Properties
26. Core Strategy policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high
quality of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of adjoining land
users. Separation standards for new residential development are set out in
section 4.7 of the Borough Design Guide. In order to maintain privacy and limit the
sense of enclose, flank to boundary relationships should allow for a 1m gap. A
12m separation should apply between the back and flank elevations of two
adjacent properties. 22m should separate two properties where there is a back-toback relationship.
Gloucester Avenue
27. The layout responds to the orientation of existing Gloucester Avenue properties.
Units 31-43 inclusive back onto the side elevations of these properties allowing for
a minimum separation distance of 12m, in line with the council’s standards for a
back-side-relationship. Similarly, units 44-56 relate to existing number 10-21
Gloucester Avenue with a side-to-back relationship, again maintaining a minimum
12m separation.
Flats at 5-9 Gloucester Avenue
28. The rear elevation of a small block of flats at 5-9 Gloucester Avenue faces on to
the side elevation of proposed unit 57. There is an oblique relationship between
the two buildings and a separation distance of 12m is not maintained for the full
length of the elevation; a small section is separated by just 10m. However, the
majority of the elevation is separated by at least 12m. Boundary landscaping is
also proposed and the unit 57 house type does not include windows without
obscure glazing. Therefore, it is not considered that the relationship will give rise
to overlooking or an overbearing impact.
10m separation
at corner, but
mostly 12m+
Proposed soft
landscaping
(trees)

Vicarage Court
29. Proposed unit numbers 58-65 would have a back-to-back relationship with existing
dwellings at 1-9 Vicarage Court. A resident has raised concerns about overlooking

as a number of existing trees and foliage are proposed to be removed close to the
boundary.
30. The proposed dwellings would be separated from the rear elevations of 1-9
Vicarage Court by a minimum of 22m at second storey level, in line with the
council’s standards for a back-to-back relationship. The principal of removing
existing trees in the vicinity of the boundary has been established through the
assessment of the outline application. Replacement planting is proposed along
the boundary which will provide a degree of screening between the new and
existing properties. Therefore, it is not considered that the proposed citing of the
dwellings would give rise to any significant harm to the amenity of Vicarage Court
properties.
L’Ortolan Restaurant
31. The Listed Building and Conservation Area officer has requested a condition to
secure screening between L’Ortolan Restaurant (a listed building) and units 65-68.
An updated version of the soft landscaping plan indicates that planting can be
provided in this location. The landscaping scheme is subject to approval under
condition 10 of the outline planning permission. Therefore, an additional condition
to require further details of the landscape buffer is not considered necessary as
the Listed Building officer will be consulted in conjunction with a future application
to discharge condition 10 of the outline planning permission.
Sustainability
32. The sustainability of the site location was considered as part of the outline
planning application. The site conveniently located for local bus services, facilities
and employment areas.
33. An acceptable travel plan framework has been agreed as part of the outline
planning permission and establishes the principles for a Travel Plan. The Plan will
be prepared and then approved by the LPA prior to first occupation (in
accordance with condition 42 and the S106 agreement) and shall include a
programme of implementation (including funding arrangements), proposals to
promote alternative forms of transport to and from the site other than by the private
car and provide for periodic review.
Sustainable Design & Construction
34. Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy
features and minimising energy and water consumption. MDD LP policies CC04,
CC05 and the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document (May 2010) also emphasise this.
35. Conditions 37 and 39 of the outline planning permission require the achievement
of sustainability targets (a minimum of Code for Sustainable Homes Level 3 for the
dwellings as well as a 10% reduction in carbon emissions). The applicant has
confirmed that the development will be in accordance with the conditions
requirements, with the 10% reduction being achieved through a “Fabric First”
approach. This is consistent with the method taken in other developments across
the Borough including the nearby Bellway Homes development at Land north of
Cutbush Lane, Shinfield.

36. In light of recent changes to housing standards, new development will be required
to meet the requirements of part L of the Building Regulations, which is effectively
the same as Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 (i.e. a higher standard than the
condition requirement). Therefore, the proposal will exceed the sustainability
requirements set out in the Outline planning permission in some respects.
Condition 39 (10% carbon reduction) of the outline permission continues to apply
and has been further clarified within condition 3.
Access and movement
37. Core Strategy Polices CP1 and CP6 require new development in to be in
accessible locations, provide access by a range of modes with emphasis on
sustainable travel, provide appropriate parking, and mitigate any road safety or
other highway related problems. The travel impacts of the development were
considered at the outline stage (in line with the Council’s modelling protocol) in
combination with other planned development within the South of M4 SDL. The
Manor site was shown not to have a significant impact on its own. The SDL is
intended to mitigate its own impact and the modelling of the Shinfield West
proposal, which included the Manor site (and was submitted in support of this
application), demonstrates that the combined impact can be mitigated. Therefore,
the development has been shown to be acceptable in terms of traffic generation
and impact on the wider network; subject to compliance with the outline conditions.
The section 106 legal agreement has secured contributions of towards the
Shinfield Eastern Relief Road and improvement for bus stops along the A327.
Movement layout
38. The outline application established the detail of a main access to the site from the
existing priority junction at Brookers Hill. The existing junction design is capable
of accommodating a development of the size proposed. The outline permission
also established the principle of a secondary access for emergency vehicles in the
broad location of the existing Public Right of Way at the A327 Hollow Lane.
39. The layout is generally acceptable but minor refinement to indicative plans
submitted alongside the application are required to ensure appropriate visibility
from the emergency access onto the A327 Hollow Lane. Details of this access will
be required to be approved under a future s.278. It is anticipated these changes
can be agreed before the committee meeting: revisions will be reported through
the Member’s Update.
40. A service corridor plan was submitted at the end of August by the developer and
does not show complete utilities details or meet the Councils highway design
guidance to fully meet highway standards. Service margins of appropriate widths
are not indicated on either side of the carriageway, the layout will necessitate
multiple utility connections under the carriageway to individual dwellings, and
some utility corridors are proposed within the carriageway and PROW. The
developer had until recently indicated it did not wish to enter in to a S38
agreement (to enable WBC to adopt any of the development’s estate roads as
public highway) and sought for the development to remain entirely private.
However, it has since transpired that there is a requirement for the developer to
deliver the main estate spine road to full adoptable standards. Development roads
leading off the spine road are still intended to be retained as private and are to be
managed and maintained by a management company.

41. In the absence of a S38 agreement for the private road elements and before any
construction begins, the developer will be required to secure the payment of the
estimated cost of the highway works under the Advance Payments Code
provisions as set out in section 219 of the Highways Act 1980. The applicant has
agreed to enter into a S106 legal agreement binding the developer to maintain the
streets, footways and service/ maintenance margins to a reasonable standard and
prevent the developer or residents from seeking adoption at a future point in time.
The details of this legal agreement will need to be finalised, to include
responsibilities for the maintenance of the public footpath through the site and any
additional fees such as inspection fees and street lighting payments to WBC.
Parking provision
42. In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6, Managing Travel Demand and MDDLP
Policy CC07: Parking Condition 44 of VAR/2013/0602 requires reserved matters
to incorporate car and motorcycle parking in line with the Council’s standards. The
standards require allocated parking to be supplemented with unallocated parking.
43. The overall parking provision would consist of 233 allocated parking spaces, plus
35 garage spaces and 18 unallocated spaces for residents; a total of 286 allocated
spaces for residents (equivalent to 2.3 per dwelling) and 323 spaces overall (when
including 37 unallocated visitor spaces, i.e. equivalent to 2.56 per dwelling). The
provision is consistent with the required amount as indicated by the council’s
parking demand calculator.
44. The proposed allocated parking would generally be well located in relation to the
dwelling it is intended to serve and the amount of parking is proportionate to the
size of dwelling. Unallocated parking is also well distributed through the
development. The Highways Officer is satisfied that an acceptable level of
parking has been provided. Condition 46 of VAR/213/0602 requires garages and
car ports to be retained and kept available for parking.
Cycle parking
45. Consistent with Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP6,
Managing Travel Demand, which expect development to make provision to
support sustainable travel, Condition 43 of VAR/2013/0602 requires the reserved
matters to incorporate cycle storage. The council’s cycle parking standards are
set out in MDDLP Appendix 2: Car Parking Standards: the requirement is for
provision of at least one cycle space for dwellings with three or fewer habitable
rooms, two spaces for dwellings with four or five habitable rooms and three cycle
spaces for larger dwellings.
46. The garages are proposed to be 3 x 6 metres internally, which is not large enough
to accommodate a car plus storage for bicycles. Therefore, cycle storage is
proposed to be provided in a shed. Two sizes of shed are identified (depending
on the cycle storage requirement) on the site layout and meet the corresponding
storage requirement relative to the number of habitable rooms in each residential
unit.
Connectivity
47. The existing Public Right of Way, Shinfield Footpath 10 is proposed to be retained
between Hollow Lane and Church Lane and will serve as the main pedestrian and
cycle access through the site, providing connections to existing routes at either

end.
Public Right of Way – Footpath #10
48. A minor realignment to the Right of Way is proposed within the site layout. No
objections have been raised by the Open Spaces Society, Ramblers Association,
local residents or the WBC Rights of Way officer. However, a formal diversion
would be required and is subject to a separate approval process under s.257 of
the Town and Country Planning Act. Although the proposed diversion is relatively
minor, there are significant implications for the site layout. Should the application
to divert the PROW fail to be approve, there would be consequences extending
well beyond those units directly facing onto the route. Therefore, it is considered
to be reasonable and necessary to impose a planning condition to require the
diversion order to be obtained prior to the commencement of development
(excluding works of demolition and remediation). A legal opinion obtained from
the council’s solicitor supports this position and confirms that the condition meets
the six tests set out in NPPF paragraph 206. Condition 6 refers.
Flooding and Drainage
49. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that
new development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk
(from all sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a
sustainable manner.
50. The flood risk was assessed in detail within the Environmental Statement
corresponding to the outline application. Under the terms of a legal agreement
between the applicant and the University of Reading, a SUDS drainage basin will
be constructed on land to the west of units 69-72. The agreement allows for
access and long term maintenance. The WBC drainage advisor has confirmed
that the overarching drainage strategy for the site is appropriate and there are no
areas of concern in relation to flood risk and drainage. The detailed design of a
Surface Water Drainage scheme is required by condition 31 and will be submitted
for approval prior to the commencement of development.
Security
51. The outline planning application did not require the development to obtain Secure
by Design accreditation. However, the layout takes security into account and all of
the communal areas of open space are overlooked by the proposed housing as
are the areas of parking. The layout also means that there are generally back to
back relationships between properties which restricts unauthorised access to
private gardens. Conditions on lighting and boundary treatments will require
further submission of detail and the assessment of these materials will take
account of security considerations.
Noise
52. Core Strategy Policy CP1, Sustainable Development and MDDLP Policy CC06,
Noise direct development away from areas where noise would impact upon
amenity and require mitigation where noise cannot be completely avoided.
53. The Environmental Health initially raised concerns that 13 properties in the north
eastern part of the site may be subject to unacceptable noise levels due to their
proximity to the A327 Hollow Lane. It was also considered that noise in external

amenity areas may exceed recommended levels for 23 of the properties. A noise
report has been submitted with the application and has clarified that higher
specification double glazing and the proposed orientation of plots/garden areas
are capable of providing an acceptable acoustic environment for future residents.
54. Further details of a detailed scheme for protecting the proposed dwellings and
garden/amenity areas from road traffic noise are to be provided under condition 27
of the outline planning permission and are required prior to commencement of
development.
Ecology
55. Core Strategy Policy CP7, Biodiversity and MDDLP Policy TB23: Biodiversity and
Development, require appropriate protection of species and habitats of
conservation value. Design Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of
ecological habitat and biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts
that do arise.
Veteran Trees
56. The site contains a number of veteran or near veteran trees of ecological
importance. The application layout avoids any significant incursion into the root
protection and canopy spread of these trees and is unlikely to result in any harm to
the trees themselves. The Biodiversity Officer has commented that the proposal
does not provide as much space as would be ideal to allow for the shedding and
decomposition of branches in situ. As requested by the officer, the application
layout has been revised and now includes larger and more suitable Tree Reserve
Areas. The planning case officer considers that the revised site layout achieves a
reasonable compromise between the need to provide a reasonable extent of tree
reserve and a high quality, functional development that meets the needs of future
occupants.
57. The Ecology Officer is satisfied that the development is otherwise acceptable in
Ecology terms, subject to compliance with the outline planning conditions.
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
58. The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area was designated under
European Directive due to its importance for heathland bird species. Southeast
Plan Policy NRM6 and Core Strategy Policy CP8 establish that new residential
development within a 7km zone of influence is likely to contribute to a significant
impact upon the integrity of the Special Protection Area. The application site falls
within this zone of influence and, accordingly, Core Strategy Policy CP21 amplified
by MDDLP Policy SAL05 and SDP Design Principle 1c(vi) require provision of
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) and contributions towards
Strategic Access Monitoring and Management (SAMM).
59. The proposed development of 125 dwellings (net) between five and seven
kilometres from the SPA gives rise to a requirement for 1.73 hectares SANG per
1,000 population to mitigate its impact (based on visitor survey information
submitted in support of the application), generating a requirement for 0.52
hectares SANG (based on an average household size of 2.4). This is effectively
too small to be mitigated by on-site provision and has instead be mitigated by the
Loddon SANG, which has been designated to provide sufficient space to
compensate for growth on this and other nearby sites within the South of M4 SDL.

Condition 54 of the outline planning permission requires the Loddon SANG to be
made available for public use prior to occupation of any dwelling.
60. Planning permission for the Loddon SANG (now known as Langley Mead) was
granted under F/2010/1434 and has been open for visitors since May 2015.
Langley Mead has been open for visitors since May 2015 and meets Natural
England’s 'Guidelines for the Creation of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace’
(SANG) (2008) in terms of having all the essential features required to attract
recreational users away from the SPA. Natural England and the Biodiversity
Officer are satisfied with this approach and the applicant is required to provide
SAMM contributions in accordance with the amounts required by the s106 legal
agreement.
Public Open Space
61. The application relates only to the eastern part of the larger site approved at
Outline and does not include details for the public open space, sports pitches and
pavilion that were approved immediately to the west under the same Outline
planning permission.
62. A Reserved Matters application for the western part of the Outline site has not yet
been submitted; however, the two halves can each be brought forward
independently as there is no planning requirement for the pavilion and public open
space to be provided in conjunction with the eastern residential component, as
established by the Inspector within the appeal decision.
63. Fields in Trust (FiT) standards establish that residential development should
generally have a 1,000m2 Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play (NEAP) within
10 minute (600metre walk and a 400m2 Local Equipped Areas for Play (LEAP)
five minute (240 metre) walk. The play area at The Manor/Gloucester Avenue lies
within 65 metres of the site and all of the parts of the site are within 320 metres of
it. Given the proximity to these existing children’s play areas, contributions
towards facilities to meet the recreational needs of other age groups were
considered more appropriate than onsite provision and have been secured
through the s106 agreement.
Archaeology
64. Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDDLP Policy TB25 require the archaeological
impact of development to be taken into consideration.
65. The Archaeological Assessment submitted at the outline stage identified varying
levels of activity across the site. A condition was included within the outline
planning permission to require a programme of archaeological work in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation to be agreed. The applicant has advised
that these shall completed prior to the commencement of development, in
accordance with the timings set out in the condition.

CONCLUSION
The reserved matters are consistent with the principles and parameters established by
the outline planning permission, which themselves reflect the Council’s adopted policies

(including the MDDLP, adoption was more recent than the grant of outline planning
permission). It is considered that the application will deliver high quality development
and it is recommended that the committee approves this planning application.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

Planning observations from Shinfield Parish Council – June 2015.

RM/2014/2062
Proposal

Planning Officer
Comment

Land at The Manor, Brookers Hill, Shinfield, RG2 9BX
Reserved Matters application pursuant to planning consent VAR/2013/0602 for a
development of 126 dwellings, a sports pavilion, public open space, landscaping and
associated works. This application comprises details of appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale.
29 June 2015
Nick Chancellor
Comments by
This planning application indicates the provision of a sports pavilion and sports pitches –
we request some clarification from the planning officer as to whether this provision will
go ahead on this site.
The parish council believes that this plan demonstrates a reasonable development for this
site.

Development
Management
Ref No
RM/2015/1019

No weeks on Parish
day
of
committee
15
Shinfield

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield South

N/A
Major
Development

Applicant

Crest Nicholson (South)

Location

Land East of Basingstoke Road, Spencer’s
Wood, Reading

Proposal

Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning consent
O/2013/0565 for the erection of 100 dwellings - matters of appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale to be considered.

Type

Reserved Matters Application

PS Category 7
Officer

David Smith

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Planning Committee on 16th September 2015

REPORT PREPARED BY

Delivery Programme Director

SUMMARY
The application relates to a 4.2 hectare site to the east of Basingstoke Road within the
designated South of the M4 Strategic Development Location (SDL). Outline planning
consent for the site was granted under planning application O/2013/0565 which
established the principle of development and access to the site.
The current application is a reserved matters application for 100 dwellings. The purpose
of this application is to provide further detail in respect of the layout, scale, and the
appearance of the buildings and landscaping. The application follows the general
parameters established and approved under the outline planning consent.
The application follows several other planning consents for the South of the M4 SDL
and the significant majority of the housing allocation and associated infrastructure
required by the Core Strategy within the SDL has now been approved.
The overarching vision for the SDL is to provide a coordinated approach to the delivery
of infrastructure and services ensuring that developments are of a high quality and are
sustainable. This includes the provision of schools, community facilities, good quality
open space and appropriate local transport and links.
It is considered that this development would be a sustainable urban extension to the
existing settlement whereby residents would have good access to services and
facilities. The development would not have a significant detrimental impact on the
character of the area or upon the amenity of existing residents. The proposal would also
provide for an adequate level of amenity for the future occupants of the dwellings

without detrimental impact on ecology, flood risk, traffic and highway safety. The
proposals provide adequate contributions towards the necessary infrastructure and
services required to mitigate the impacts of development within the wider SDL.
In design terms, the proposal meets all the council’s standards and in particular internal
space, garden depths and parking. The proposals are considered to be acceptable and
therefore it is recommended that members resolve to approve the application subject to
conditions set out below.

PLANNING STATUS
 Strategic Development Location (SDL)
 South of the M4 Strategic Development Location SPD
 Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD
 Within 5 and 7km of the Special Protection Area (SPA)
 Countryside
 Mineral consultation zone
 Nuclear Consultation Zone (HSE to be consulted on schemes of 20 dwellings or
more)
 Adjacent to Local Wildlife Heritage Site
 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 7km Zone
 Modest Development Location
 Landscape Character Assessment
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the Head of Development Management to GRANT
PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:
Conditions and Reasons
Approved Drawings
1. This permission is in respect of plan no's (listed below) received by the Local
Planning Authority on (22nd April 2015 and revised on the 14th August 2015). The
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved drawings and documents listed unless otherwise agreed pursuant to
the requirements of the attached conditions or otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Site Layout Plan, ref. 23719 SL-01 Rev. G
House Type A Elevations, Plots 1, 5-10, 15, 21 and 29, ref. HT-A-02
House Type A Floor Plans, Plots 1, 5-10, 15, 21 and 29, ref. HT-A-01
House Type B Elevations, Plots 25, 28 and 53, ref. HT-B-04
House Type B Floor Plans, Plots 25, 28 and 53, ref. HT-B-01
House Type BF Elevations, Plots 13, 22, 93 and 98-99, ref. HT-BF-05
House Type BF Floor Plans, Plots 13, 22, 93 and 98-99, ref. HT-BF-02
House Type C Elevations, Plots 38-39, ref. HT-C-02
House Type C Floor Plans, Plots 38-39, ref. HT-C-01
House Type D Elevations, Plot 2, ref. HT-D-02
House Type D Elevations, Plot 4, ref. HT-D-04

o House Type D Elevations, Plots 17-18, 26-27, 30-31 and 36-37, ref. HT-D08
o House Type D Elevations, Plots 62-63, 65-66 and 89-90, ref. HT-D-11
o House Type D Elevations, Plots 62-63, 65-66 and 89-90, ref. HT-D-12
o House Type D First Floor Plans, Plots 17-18, 26-27, 30-31 and 36-37, ref.
HT-D-06
o House Type D Floor Plans, Plot 2, ref. HT-D-01
o House Type D Floor Plans, Plot 4, ref. HT-D-03
o House Type D Floor Plans, Plots 62-63, 65-66 and 89-90, ref. HT-D-10
o House Type D Front Elevation, Plots 17-18, 26-27, 30-31 and 36-37, ref.
HT-D-07
o House Type D Ground Floor Plans, Plots 17-18, 26-27, 30-31 and 36-37,
ref. HT-D-05
o House Type D Ground Floor Plans, Plots 62-63, 65-66 and 89-90, ref. HTD-09
o House Type E Elevations, Plots 16, 19, 23-24 and 50-52, ref. HT-E-02
o House Type E Floor Plans, Plots 16, 19, 23-24, 50-52, ref. HT-E-01
o House Type F1 Elevations Sheet 1 of 3, Plots 11-12, 60-61 and 91-92
o House Type F1 Elevations Sheet 2 of 3, Plots 32, 35, 47 and 59, ref. HTF1-04
o House Type F1 Floor Plans, Plots 11-12, 32, 35, 47, 59-61 and 91-92, ref.
HT-F1-01
o House Type F1.1 Elevations Sheet 3 of 3, Plots 44 and 56, ref. HT-F1-05
o House Type F1.1 Floor Plans, Plots 44 and 56, ref. HT-F1-02
o House Type G Elevations, Plots 33-34 and 45-46, ref. HT-G-02
o House Type G Floor Plans, Plots 33-34, 40-43 and 45-46, ref. HT-G-01
o House Type H Elevation, Plot 48, ref. HT-H-02
o House Type K Elevations, Plots 76-78 and 87-88, ref. HT-K-02
o House Type K Floor Plans, Plots 76-78 and 87-88, ref. HT-K-01
o House Type L Elevations, Plots 85-86, ref. HT-L-02
o House Type L Floor Plans, Plots 67-71, ref. HT-L-03
o House Type L Floor Plans, Plots 85-86, ref. HT-L-01
o House Type M Floor Plans, Plots 57-58, 72-75, 79 and 94-97, ref. HT-M01
o Apartments Type N Elevations Sheet 1 of 2, Plots 80-84, ref. HT-N-02
o Apartments Type N Floor Plans, Plots 80-84, ref. HT-N-01
o Apartments Type N Elevations Sheet 2 of 2, Plots 80-84, ref. HT-N-03
o Garages Plans and Elevations, ref. GA-01
o Garages Plans and Elevations, ref. GA-02
o Bin Store Floor Plan and Elevations, ref. BS-01
o Cycle Sheds Type CS2 Floor Plans and Elevations, ref. CS-02
o Elevations Plots 40 to 43, ref. HT-G-03 Rev. A
o Elevation Plan, Plots 3, 14, 20, 54 and 64, ref, HT-BS-06 Rev. A
o Floor Plan, Plots 3, 14, 20, 54 and 64, ref. HT-BS-03 Rev. A
o Elevation Plan, Plot 55, ref. HT-B-04 Rev. A
o Floor Plan, Plot 55, ref. HT-B-01 Rev. A
o Floor Plan, Plot 48, ref. HT-H-01 Rev. A
o Elevation Plan, Plot 49, ref. HT-J-02 Rev. A
o Floor Plan, Plot 49, ref. HT-J-01 Rev. A
o Elevation Plan, Plot 100, ref. HT-P-02
o Floor Plan, Plot 100, ref. HT-P-01
o Elevation Plan, Plots 57-58, 72-75, 79, 94-97, ref. HT-M-02 Rev. A

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Elevation Plan, Plots 67-71, ref. HT-L-04 Rev. A
Landscape Open Space Areas Plan, ref. 3023-LP-P02F
Landscape Masterplan, ref. 3023-LP-P03 E
Planting Strategy document (Macfarlane Associates, 25th August 2015)
Tree Retention and Removal Plan, ref. tf 696c/TRR/200 Rev. B
Tree Protection Plan, ref. tf 696c/TPP/301 Rev. C
Arboricultural Method Statement, ref. tf 696c/MS/300 Rev. A
Ecological Permeability Plan (Derek Finnie Associates, August 2015)
Hedgerow Management Plan (Derek Finnie Associates, August 2015)
Visibility and Swept Path Plan, ref. T720-021 Rev. F
Highway Adoption plan, ref. T720-022 Rev. D
Levels and Drainage Strategy Plan, ref. T720-020 Rev. G
Logistics Plan, ref. T720-030 Rev. D

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
Highways
2. No dwelling shall be occupied until the vehicular accesses, driveways, parking
and turning areas to serve it, including the unallocated spaces, have been
provided in accordance with the plans hereby approved. The vehicle parking
and turning spaces shall be retained and maintained in accordance with the
approved details and the parking spaces shall remain available for the parking of
vehicles at all times and the turning spaces shall not be used for any other
purpose other than vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe
development and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC07.
3. No building shall be occupied until secure and covered parking for cycles has
been provided in accordance with the approved drawing(s)/details. The cycle
parking/ storage part of the garages shall be permanently so-retained for the
parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities
are provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1,
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
4. No building shall be occupied until the vehicular access has been surfaced with a
permeable and bonded material across the entire width of the access for a
distance of 10 metres measured from the carriageway edge.
Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of
road safety. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP6.

5. Development shall not be commenced until the access has been constructed in
accordance with details which have first been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy:
Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
6. No building shall be occupied until the pedestrian and cycle accesses to the site,
including from Footpath No.20, have been constructed in accordance with details
which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. These accesses are thereafter to remain open for the use of
pedestrians and cycles to and from Footpath No 20.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy:
Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
7. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the construction of
roads and footways, including levels, widths, construction materials, depths of
construction, surface water drainage and lighting shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The roads and footways shall
be constructed in accordance with the approved details to road base level before
the development is occupied and the final wearing course will be provided within
3 months of occupation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that
would be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests
of providing a functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
8. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the utilities and service
margins shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. These service margins shall be constructed in accordance with the
approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reasons: To ensure that roads and footpaths are constructed to a standard that
would be suitable for adoption as publicly maintainable highway, in the interests
of providing a functional, accessible and safe development. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP3 and CP6.
Levels
9. The development hereby approved shall be constructed to the finished ground
levels and finished floor levels shown on drawing T720-020 rev G; levels which
shall be fully implemented before first occupation of the buildings within that subphase.
Reason: To ensure a high quality of development that relates well to surrounding
buildings and the landscape in accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough
Core Strategy Policies CPI, CP3, CP19 and CC03 of the Managing Development

Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014).
Tree Protection
10. The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in accordance with the
details included in the Tree Protection Plan (TF696c/TPP/301 rev C) and
Arboricultural Method Statement (TF696c/MS/300 rev A) hereby approved.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and natural
features during the implementation phase and to enable the development to
integrate into the landscape in accordance with CC03 of the Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014).
Ecology
11. The mitigation and contingency measures contained within the Ecological
Permeability Plan (Derick Finnie Associates: Letter dated 11/08/15) hereby
approved shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plan unless
otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation for the biodiversity impact of the
development in accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy
Policy CP7 and TB23 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb
2014).
12. The mitigation and contingency measures contained within the ‘Final Report and
Warranty of Works for the Treatment of Japanese Knotweed’ (Ref: DTR14525:
4th March 2015: Dunton Environmental Limited) shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation for the biodiversity impact of the
development in accordance with NPPF, Wokingham Borough Core Strategy
Policy CP7 and Policy TB23 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
(Feb 2014).
13. The measures contained within the Hedgerow Management Plan (Derek Finnie
Associates: August 2015) hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance
with the approved plan unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
Reason: To ensure appropriate mitigation for the biodiversity impact of the
development in accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP,
CP8 and TB23 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014).
Archaeology
14. The development shall only take place in accordance with the Written Scheme of
Investigation for Geophysical Survey and Archaeological Evaluation hereby
approved.
Reason: The programme of archaeological work will ensure that the significance

of any buried heritage assets on the site can be assessed and preservation, by
record or in situ, can be achieved in a manner appropriate to their significance, in
accordance with national and local planning policy. (Core Strategy Policy CP3
and MDD Policy TB25).
Lighting
15. Development shall not commence until an external lighting strategy including
lighting for all principle highways, cycleways footpaths and any non-residential
buildings has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The strategy shall include the type of lighting, contour illumination
plans and measures to prevent light pollution and the details as approved shall
be provided prior to occupation of the dwelling houses, unless otherwise agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To prevent an adverse impact upon wildlife, especially bats in
accordance with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CP7 and to ensure
the proper planning of the development as required by Core Strategy policies
CP1, CP3 and CP19.
Sustainable Design and Construction
16. The measures to fulfil the Energy Strategy set out in the ‘Energy Statement to
Discharge Conditions 28 and 29’ (Hodkinson: April 2015) shall be installed and
functional before first occupation of the buildings they are intended to serve.
Reason: To ensure a high standard of sustainable development in accordance
with Wokingham Borough Core Strategy Policy CPl and CC04 and CC05 of the
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (Feb 2014), the Sustainable Design
and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (2010) and the South of
the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011).
Substation
17. Notwithstanding details shown on the approved plans, prior to the
commencement of development full details of the location and design of the
substation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The substation shall thereafter only be provided in accordance with the
approved plans.
Reason: To enable further discussions to be had with the Statutory Undertaker
as to the final requirements of the substation and to minimise the impact of
potential relocation.
Informatives:
1. The development accords with the policies contained within the adopted development
plan and there are no material considerations which warrant a different decision being
taken.
2. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreements under

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act that relates to the site, the contents
of which relate to this development.
3. The Corporate Head of Environment at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham
should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details before any work
is carried out within the highway. This planning permission does NOT authorise the
construction of such an access.
4. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information contact
Corporate Head of Environment on tel: 0118 974 6302.
5. If it is the developer’s intention to request the Council, as local highway authority, to
adopt the proposed access roads etc. as highway maintainable at public expense, then
full engineering details must be agreed with the Corporate Head of Environment at the
Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham. The developer is strongly advised not to
commence development until such details have been approved in writing and a legal
agreement is made with the Council under S38 of Document marking - Unclassified the
Highways Act 1980.
6. Any works/events carried out either by, or at the behest of, the developer, whether
they are located on, or affecting a prospectively maintainable highway, as defined under
Section 87 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991, or on or affecting the public
highway, shall be coordinated under the requirements of the New Roads and Street
Works Act 1991 and the Traffic management Act 2004 and licensed accordingly in order
to secure the expeditious movement of traffic by minimising disruption to users of the
highway network in Wokingham.
7. Any such works or events commissioned by the developer and particularly those
involving the connection of any utility to the site, shall be co–ordinated by them in liaison
with Wokingham Borough Council’s Street Works Team, (telephone 01189 746302).
This must take place at least three month in advance of the works and particularly to
ensure that statutory undertaker connections/supplies to the site are coordinated to take
place wherever possible at the same time.
8. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the requirements of Section 60 of the
Control of Pollution Act 1974 in respect of the minimisation of noise on construction and
demolition sites. Application, under Section 61 of the Act, for prior consent to the works,
can be made to the Environmental Health and Licensing Manager.
9. Licences, consents or permits may be required for work on this site. For further
information on environmental permits and other licences please visit
http://www.businesslink.gov.uk/bdotg/action/layer?r.s=tl&r.lc=en&topicId=107906 8363
10. The applicant is advised that the Council seeks that employers or developers within
the borough commit to using local labour / contractors where possible. This should
include:  Advertisement of jobs within local recruitment agencies / job centres; 
Recruitment and training of residents from the local area;  Seek tender of local
suppliers or contractors for work.
11.Construction Noise. The applicant or the operator is advised to submit to the
Council’s Environmental Health Team a ‘prior consent’ application under s.60 of the

Control of Pollution Act 1974.
12. It is advised that this decision notice does not obviate the various submission
requirements of the conditions of the outline planning permission; discharge of which
should be the subject of a further condition discharge application(s).

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
Application Site
O/2013/0565

Outline Planning Permission for 100 dwellings (all matters except
access were reserved) – APPROVED 10/04/2014.

Spencer’s Wood and Three Mile Cross
0/2013/0346

Land North and South of Church Lane Three Mile Cross Land
north and south of Croft Road, Spencers Wood.
Hybrid application with part in outline in respect of up to 900
dwellings, up to a three form entry primary school, public open
space, access and landscape (means of access into the site to be
considered) and part in full in respect to Suitable Alternative
Natural Greens pace (SANG), following demolition of existing
dwelling and ancillary buildings including greenhouses, sheds,
stables and garage.

F/2013/0347

Land South of Croft Road
Full planning permission for the erection of 276 dwellings with
associated access landscaping and open space following
demolition of existing dwelling and ancillary buildings (214a Hyde
End Road).

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing Units
Proposed Units
Proposed density – dwellings/hectare
Number of affordable units proposed
Proposed parking spaces
Previous land use
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Wokingham Borough Council Consultees
WBC Adult Social Care
No objection.
WBC Archaeology
No objection.
WBC
Community No objection.
Facilities

4.2 ha
0
100
Approx. 25
28 onsite and Off-site commuted sum
285
Agricultural/Pasture

WBC Listed Buildings No objection. The scheme is unlikely to cause harm to the
and Conservation Areas significance of any nearby listed buildings.
Officer
WBC Ecology
Accepts that there would be no significant impact on
ecology.
WBC EHO
No objection.
WBC
Emergency No objection.
Planning
WBC Flood Risk
Are satisfied with the proposed surface water drainage
system subject to Thames Water confirming they are
satisfied with the proposals and are willing to adopt the
surface water sewers.
WBC
Health
and No objection.
Wellbeing Board
WBC Highways
No objection.
WBC Housing
No objection.
WBC Landscape/Trees
No objection
WBC Planning Policy
No objection.
WBC Public Open Space No objection.
/ Sports
WBC Public Rights of No objection.
Way
WBC
Waste
and No objection
Recycling
External Consultees
Environment Agency

This application is deemed to have either a low
environmental risk or to relate to conditions that were not
recommended by the Environment Agency. Due to workload
prioritisation, EA are unable to make an individual response
to this application.

Sport England
Historic England

No comment.
The application should be determined in accordance with
national and local policy guidance, and on the basis of
specialist conservation advice.
No objection.
No objection.
No objection.

Natural England
Berkshire Archaeology
Berkshire,
Buckinghamshire
and
Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust
Highways England
TVP Crime Prevention
Adviser
Thames Valley Police
Thames Water

No objection.
No objection.
No objection.
No objection.

Southern Gas Networks
No objection.
Scottish and Southern No objection.
Energy
Binfield Badger Group
No objection.

Fields in Trust
National Grid
National
Planning
Casework Unit
NHS Wokingham Clinical
Commissioning Group
Royal Berkshire Fire and
Rescue
RSPB
The Woodland Trust
Network Rail
Other Local Authorities

No objection.
No objection.
No objection.

Bracknell Forest Council
Reading
Borough
Council
Hampshire
County
Council
Hart District Council
West Berkshire Council

No objection.
No objection

No objection.
No objection.
No objection.
No objection.
No objection.

No comments received
No comments received.
No comments received

REPRESENTATIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND PARISH COUNCILS
Shinfield Parish Council:
Requests that the eastern boundary be retained in its existing format, with the enclosed
footway (footpath 20). They also request that the grass areas adjacent to the roads are
protected from parking by active measures such as knee high rails and/or fences.
Finally, they request that the parking allocation is provided in accordance with borough
policy and that the management company produce, enact and enforce a parking
management plan.

PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
181 letters were sent out to neighbouring property addresses in the vicinity of the site.
In response 5 representations have been received. Those include 4 letters of objection
and 1 letter in support of the scheme. The planning-related issues raised are
summarised below:
Layout


Proximity of new dwelling, not previously shown on indicative layout approved at
outline stage, to Parklands.

Suitability of the site


The ground is not suitable. The land should not be raised up to accommodate new
dwellings, resulting in ‘eye sore housing, far too high’. [Officer Note: The principle of
providing 100 dwellings at 2 to 2.5 storeys on this site was established as
acceptable when the outline planning permission was determined]

Transport Matters









The access to the site is directly opposite a bus stop; with associated risks of
increased people crossing the road at this location and confusion over ‘right of way’
when buses are pulling into and out of the stop. [Officer Note: The principle of the
development and the location of the access were established as acceptable under
the outline consent and are not for reconsideration here.]
The access is very close to Seven Oaks Drive and Hill Top Gardens and may impact
the function and safety of those junctions with Basingstoke Road.
The additional junction makes it difficult for current home owners to enter and exit
their drive ways.
The development will reduce on street parking availability for current home owners.
The bus service along Basingstoke Road is infrequent and unreliable; despite the
emphasis of the access to public transport made by the application submissions.
[Officer Note: A South of M4 Public Transport Strategy is expected to provide up to
a 15 minute each way frequency bus service that operates in a loop in and out of
Reading along the A327 or A33 corridors. This is now expected to be modified with
separate each way services to the A33 and A327 corridors. The A33 corridor is
likely to be connected with an extended Greenwave service via the Mereoak park
and ride and the A327 corridor with a separate extended service to Shinfield. This
frequency of service combined with high quality bus stop infrastructure and the bus
priority that includes the bus only link between Shinfield and Spencers Wood is
expected to make the bus an attractive service for many destinations.]
Cycling access should be an important element of the scheme, as per the
commitments made in the Design and Access Statement.

Construction


Residents have already experienced massive disruption and adverse impacts from
the construction of Grazeley Road. They seek assurance that this will not happen
again here. [Officer Note: Noise, disturbance and inconvenience during the
construction period can be appropriately minimised as far as is reasonable through
good practice and through the existing conditions and S106 obligations attached to
the outline planning permission.]

Drainage


The development requires the installation of a new sewer across third party land
(Parklands).
[Officer Note: Under section 98 of the of the Water Industry Act 1991 anyone with a
legal interest in land may apply to the Thames Water for a sewer requisition to serve
a new development. Where the request is considered reasonable by Thames Water
and their costs of delivery are covered, they have a statutory obligation to accede to
the request. When constructing pipework through third party land, the land owner is
entitled to compensation and the requesting party is liable for these costs. The exact
value of the compensation will only be determined through the requisition process
and not as part of the planning application.]

Sub station



We object to plan RM/2015/1019/PL04 Logistics Plan Spencer’s Wood because of
the position of the electricity substation, which is shown next to existing residents'
properties. We think the substation should be located elsewhere on the site. [Officer
Note: The exact location of the electricity substation will be agreed pursuant to the
relevant condition of consent.]

Supporting Comments
 It looks to be well designed with a lot of thought about how it fits in with existing
housing.
 We support plan RM/2015/1019/PL01 Site Layout Plan, which shows the electricity
substation sited away from existing properties and within the development itself.

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework 2012
Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 2012
National Planning Policy Guidance 2014
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policies:
CP1 - Sustainable Development
CP2 - Inclusive Communities
CP3 - General Development Principles
CP4 - Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 - Housing Mix, Density and Affordability
CP6 - Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP8 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 - Scale and Location of Development Proposals
CP10 - Improvements to the Strategic Transport Network
CP11 - Proposals outside Development Limits (including countryside)
CP17 - Housing delivery
CP19 – South of M4 Strategic Development Location
Appendix 7 – Additional Guidance for the Development of Strategic Development
Locations
Managing Development Delivery Document (Local Plan) (adopted February 2014)
CC01 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CC02 – Development Limits
CC03 - Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 - Sustainable Design and Construction
CC05 Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06 - Noise
CC07 - Parking

CC08 Safeguarding alignments of the Strategic Transport Network & Road
Infrastructure
CC09 - Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
CC10 - Sustainable Drainage
Residential Uses
TB05 Housing Mix
TB07: Internal Space Standards
TB09 Residential accommodation for vulnerable groups
Landscape and Nature Conservation
TB21 - Landscape Character
TB23 - Biodiversity and Development
TB24 – Designated Heritage Assets (Listed Buildings, Historic Parks and Gardens,
Scheduled Ancient Monuments and Conservation Areas)
TB25 - Archaeology
Emerging Shinfield Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan:
At this stage, the Parish Neighbourhood Plan is undergoing the required pre submission
consultation by the parish, but has not been formally submitted to the Borough Council.
As such having had regard to the NPPG (Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 41-00720140306) and NPPF, it has very limited weight.
Supplementary Planning Documents
Wokingham Borough Design Supplementary Planning Document (18 February 2010)
Planning Advice Note, Infrastructure Impact Mitigation, Contributions for New
Development (Revised 28th April 2010)
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (28 May
2010)
South of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011)
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (October
2011)
Wokingham Borough Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (2 June
2011)
The Council’s parking standards as set out within appendix 2 of the Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan and referred to in para 4.38 of the Core Strategy.

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of development and infrastructure delivery
1) The application site forms part of a larger area designated under the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy as the South of the M4 Strategic Development Location
(SDL).
2) Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policy CP17 establishes a requirement to

provide at least 13,487 new dwellings with associated development and
infrastructure in the period 2006-2026. The majority of this new residential
development will be in four SDLs, of which South of the M4 is one of these. It is
anticipated that a phased development incorporating approximately 2,500 dwellings
and associated infrastructure will be delivered on 77 hectares of land within the
South of the M4 SDL.
3) Core Strategy policy CP19 is amplified by Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy, the South
of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD, which addresses the
associated infrastructure impacts across the whole Borough. These documents
establish a requirement for a sustainable, well designed, mixed use development
and make clear that a co-ordinated approach to the development of the SDL will be
required to deliver the necessary infrastructure, facilities and services to meet the
needs of the expanded community.
4) The outline consent included an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and S106 legal
agreement.
The legal agreement secures the coordinated delivery of the
infrastructure necessary to support the development and fair share of the SDL wide
infrastructure. These included contributions towards off-site infrastructure and
services such as roads, education, sports facilities, community facilities and green
infrastructure.
In addition, it secured an affordable housing contribution in
accordance with the Core Strategy and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions
Supplementary Planning Document.
5) The approved outline consent (O/2013/0565) has established the principle of this
residential development as an urban extension that contributes towards the
progression of the SDL, and the current reserved matters application concerns
matters of layout, appearance, scale and landscaping. The principle of the
development (i.e. the use and quantum) on this site and the access point to the
development from Basingstoke Road are not for reconsideration under this
Reserved Matters planning application.
Site Description
6) The application site relates to an area of land to the east of Basingstoke Road and is
approximately 4ha in size. The site is currently open land and comprises of a mixture
of rank grassland, tall rural vegetation, scrub, hedgerows, occasional trees and
wooded areas to the boundaries.
7) The northern boundary of the site backs onto the lawns of a privately owned house.
The eastern boundary includes an existing footpath link (Footpath 20) and forms the
edge of the playing fields belonging to Ryeish Green Secondary School.
8) To the south of the site is Clare’s Green Field; which is an important wildlife site and
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG). The southern boundary reflects
the rural location with mature native hedgerows backing onto agricultural fields and
includes a link to the suitable alternative natural green space (SANG). The western
boundary abuts the existing settlement area forming Spencer’s Wood along
Basingstoke Road and existing residential development.
Affordable Housing

9) Core Strategy Policy CP5, Housing mix, density and affordability, amplified by MDD
LP Policy TB05: Housing Mix, South of the M4 SPD Design Principle 2b, the
Infrastructure SPD and the Affordable Housing SPD, requires a mix of tenures,
including up to 35% affordable housing within SDLs. The affordable housing offer of
the development was established at the time of the outline planning permission. In
accordance with the provisions secured under the S106 of the outline permission,
the development will provide 28 affordable houses on site (including Social Rented
and Shared Ownership Housing) and an additional financial contribution of
£553,413.00 towards the provision of affordable housing offsite elsewhere within the
borough.
Dwelling Density, Mix & Quality of Accommodation
10) MDD policy TB05 (Housing Mix) requires that residential development should
provide an appropriate density and mix of accommodation reflecting the character of
the area. The quantum of development was approved under outline permission
O/2013/0565 at a density of 25 dph – which was considered acceptable to balance
the need to make efficient use of the land and to respect the character of the local
area. The mix of dwellings proposed is as follows:

1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
4 bed
Totals

Market
0
9
20
43
72

Affordable
5
11
7
5
28

Total
5
20
27
48
100

11) The one bed units are proposed in a 2.5 storey high block of flats, whilst the
development would also provide two FOGs (Flats Over Garages – both provided
with their own external amenity spaces). The remainder of the properties are
provided in detached, semi detached or terraced single family dwelling houses; all
with their own private garden spaces.
12) The Borough Design Guide, the Affordable Housing SPD and Policy TB07 of the
MDDLP sets out internal space standards for new dwellings, setting standards for
both the gross internal area (GIA) and the minimum combined area of the living,
kitchen and dining spaces for houses. All of the dwellings exceed the minimum size
standards set out and it is considered the development will provide acceptable levels
of amenity for future occupants. The dwellings will also be constructed to achieve
appropriate internal ambient noise levels in accordance with condition 27 of the
outline consent.
13) The Borough Design Guide sets a minimum garden depth of 11m. In terms of the
submitted site plan, the proposed layout complies well with these requirements with
all houses meeting or exceeding the minimum threshold. The Noise report submitted
to support the application identifies that there are no existing local noise sources that
would prove harmful to an occupier’s use of their garden areas. In addition,
permitted development rights of the properties have been removed by condition 4 of
the outline permission so as to restrict encroachment into these important garden
spaces.

14) It is therefore considered that the development will provide a good mix, balance and
quality of dwelling types, tenures and sizes so that a wide range of housing needs
can be met. This will ensure that the development is sustainable in meeting the
housing needs of the community. The development therefore accords with the
relevant policies of the development plan in this regard.
Masterplan – Layout & Scale
15) Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP3, General
Principles for Development requires high quality design that respects its context.
This requirement is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03, Green Infrastructure,
Trees and Landscaping and TB21, Landscape Character and South of the M4
SPD which requires development proposals to protect and enhance the
Borough’s Green Infrastructure, retaining existing trees, hedges and other
landscape features and incorporating high quality - ideally native – planting as an
integral part of any scheme, within the context of the Council’s Landscape
Character Assessment.
16) Core Strategy policy CP19 sets out the concept rational for the design
parameters for the South of the M4 SDL and these are outlined in further detail in
Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy. This states that:
Development in a series of locations around the periphery of the three
villages is required. This approach should consider the relationship
between the current built areas and the open countryside. Opportunities to
form new edges to the existing villages exist, allowing a managed
transition between urban and rural.
17) Further design guidance is provided by the South of the M4 SPD in section 4.
Design principle 3 is concerned with character and states that there should be
diversity and distinction in the SDL which should be enhanced through the
application of character typologies.
18) The proposed layout and scale, in terms of road layout and general position of
buildings, is broadly in line with the indicative plan approved through the outline
permission. However the layout has been improved to meet specific policy
requirements and to achieve a high quality attractive development. The
parameter plan submitted for the outline planning application and Design and
Access Statement carefully considered the relationship with the existing built
form surrounding the site. The submitted masterplan retains these principles and
responds to the constraints of the site. To reflect this and inform diversity of
development, the applicant has applied four distinctive character areas - The
Avenue, Village Green, Rural Edge and The Mews. The character areas take
reference, from the varying and prevailing character in the immediate locality,
adjoining and beyond the application site’s boundaries. These are discussed
below.
19) The Avenue character area takes its influences from the existing and more
formal form of the prevailing character along Basingstoke Road and will form the
entrance to the site. This area has a mix of 2 storey and 2.5 storey house types.
The design choice of this area has been applied to emphasise the entrance to

the site and is in keeping with the approved parameters plan for the outline
planning consent.
20) The Rural Edge character area is predominately made up of 2 storey
development with occasional 2.5 storey building heights. This character area
makes up the majority of the built form within the application site and has been
applied to the proposed dwellings located on the edge of the development
boundaries. This approach is considered to respond well to the existing
residential development on the west of the site. The north rural edge consists of
mostly detached units whereas the eastern rural edge consists of detached and
semi-detached properties.
21) The Mews Areas are more simplistic in character and are defined by shared
surfaces and courtyards. Two storey terraces and semi-detached houses are the
main form along with the introduction of car parking courts with apartments over
garages. The sensitive consideration of building heights, density and proposed
landscaping helps to reduce the visual impact of the dwellings and provides a
transition between the built form and adjacent countryside.
22) The proposed layout is designed as such so that there is a single access off
Basingstoke Road in accordance with the outline planning permission and the
internal road extends to the east boundary. On the west boundary the proposed
houses would back onto existing dwellings along the boundary, however the
existing hedgerow will be retained.
23) The Village Green, is in the centre of the site and will provide an area of
greenspace as well as a focal point to the development.
Scale
24) The development will be two to two and a half storeys in height, as per the
predominant built form in the surrounding area and in line with the principles of
the approved parameters plan. Larger buildings are located at key frontages to
provide focal points within the development. Dwellings are generally traditional in
design with materials informed by local vernacular, but with variations in
architectural detailing to achieve distinctions between different character areas.
Design and Appearance
25) In terms of the detailed design of the buildings, the South of the M4 SPD
recommends that the existing built form should be used to inform the design. The
Design and Access Statement includes a character analysis of the surrounding
area and picks out themes found in the locality. These have been used to help
inform the design style of the dwellings which generally take on a modern
traditional form of design.
26) Throughout the site, the applicant has provided an acceptable range of housing
types and styles, creating a development with a distinctive urban form influenced
by the character of the adjoining neighbourhood. The palette of materials has
taken reference from the local vernacular architecture and is predominately red
and buff/grey brick, with contrasting brick heads and with blue/grey and red/
brown roof tiles.

27) Spencer’s Wood has a wide range of buildings and street patterns evolving from
different periods and providing a mix of architectural styles and details. The
surrounding properties range from detached bungalows, two storey detached
dwellings, 2.5 storey semi-detached dwellings, two storey semi-detached
dwellings and detached chalet bungalows.
28) The applicant has provided a good range of housing types and styles that
ensures that there is diversity in the built form and a range of housing for future
occupants of the dwellings. In addition, there is diversity in terms of the style of
the dwellings which is achieved through the detailing such as heights, design and
roof form. This helps to provide a clear and legible neighbourhood.
29) The quality of materials to be used will be secured through condition 3 of the
outline consent; which requires samples to be submitted for the LPA’s approval
in advance of any development works.
Landscaping
30) The applicant has carefully considered the landscaping within the site
masterplan. Where possible a number of existing trees and hedgerows are to be
retained as integral features of the development and additional tree planting is
proposed. In accordance with condition 10 of the outline permission, a landscape
and habitat management strategy has been submitted with the application. A
hedgerow mitigation strategy has also been submitted in accordance with
condition 15.
31) The proposed layout integrates existing landscape features and is enhanced by
incorporating a village green in the centre of the site. These measures together
with the proposed boundary treatments would reduce and mitigate the proposed
development’s impact on the landscape and is generally consistent with the
guidance provided in the South of the M4 SPD.
32) The open space within the development, including the dry attenuation basins in
the north west and south east of the site, will be delivered and maintained for a
year by the developer before being transferred to Wokingham Borough Council
for management and maintenance thereafter. This arrangement is set out within
the S106 agreement of the outline planning permission. The S106 has also
secured a one off payment of £64,464 towards the cost of maintaining the open
space.
Neighbouring Residential Amenity
33) Core Strategy policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high
quality of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of adjoining land
users. Separation standards for new residential development are set out in
section 4.7 of the Borough Design Guide.
Use
34) The development would not be introducing of a use or uses inappropriate to this
location. The use has already been established as acceptable under the

determination of the outline planning permission.
Outlook, Daylight, Sunlight and Privacy
35) The development is sufficiently distant from all neighbouring properties such that
it would not introduce unacceptable relationships of overlooking and loss of
outlook, daylight or sunlight. Separation distances to existing dwellings, including
to properties fronting onto Basingstoke Road, to properties in Hilltop Gardens to
the west of site and to Parklands to the North of site, would all achieve rear to
rear/flank to rear separations in excess of the standards set by the Borough
Design Guide.
Impacts During Construction
36) Noise, disturbance and inconvenience during the construction period can be
appropriately minimised as far as is reasonable through good practice and
through the existing conditions and S106 obligations attached to the outline
planning permission. In particular condition 16 of the outline permission requires
the submission (for the Council’s approval) of a Construction Environmental
Management Plan, whereas condition 17 restricts the hours of construction
activity.
Amenity Conclusions
37) For the reasons set out above, in terms of its impact upon neighbouring
residential amenity the development need not fail against the relevant policies of
the Development Plan; namely Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3 and policy
CC06 of the MDD.
Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area, Open Space & Ecology
38) The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) was designated under
European Directive due to its importance for heathland bird species. Core
Strategy policy CP8 establishes that new residential development within a 5-7km
zone of influence is likely to contribute to a significant impact upon the integrity of
the SPA. The South of the M4 SDL falls within this zone of influence and, in
accordance with Core Strategy policy CP17 and Design Principle 1c (vi),
mitigation in the form of Strategic Access Managing and Monitoring (SAMM)
contributions and the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace
(SANG) is being provided. These matters were considered in detail at the outline
application stage wherein SAMM contributions and SANG contributions (in this
latter regard towards provision and maintenance of the Clare’s Green Field
SANG) were secured under the S106 agreement.
Ecology/Impact on Wildlife/Biodiversity
39) Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires
appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design
Principle 1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and
biodiversity features, together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise.
40) The application is accompanied by various supporting documents, including an

overarching landscape and habitat management strategy for the entire
development (Condition 10 of the outline consent), a scheme to deal with the
ecological permeability of the site (condition 13), a scheme to deal with the
eradication of Japanese Knotweed (condition 14) and a Hedgerow Mitigation
Strategy (condition 15). The Reserved Matters development broadly follows the
principles established under the indicative drawings of the outline consent and
Wokingham’s Biodiversity Officer has assessed the application and is satisfied
that there would be no significant impact on ecology.
Access and movement
41) The planning application established at the outline stage the principles of the
access points to the site and was accompanied with a full Transport Assessment.
It was demonstrated at that time that there would be no significant harm caused
by additional houses to both local and the wider transport networks, subject to
the delivery of the Transport Interventions that were identified and secured
through a legal process. The current reserved matters application does not
deviate from the established access point approved under the outline planning
application.
42) All vehicles are proposed to access off Basingstoke Road on a simple priority
junction with the Avenue connecting into the site. This layout was agreed in
principle at the outline stage. Meanwhile, the detail design of the junction has
been the subject of discussion to ensure it can accommodate the tracking
required for a refuse vehicle and also to allow for pedestrian and cyclists.
43) To the east of the site is Footpath 20 which connects Spencers Wood to the
south and Three Mile Cross to the north. The site has direct connections to this
path both to the north east and south east corners of the site. For those walking
or cycling these will be an important segregated links to the rest of Spencers
Wood, Three Mile Cross and Shinfield. Notably these will ensure safer routes to
the proposed primary school at Croft Road, Spencers Wood and Oakbank
School on Hyde End Lane.
Access and movement - Site layout
44) As outlined above, the use of character areas ensures that there is a variety of
street hierarchy proposed for the site. The principal access to the site would be
from Basingstoke Road. The Avenue has been designed to be 5.5m wide and at
the entrance is slightly widened to ease access into the site for larger vehicles.
Bus stops are located on Basingstoke Road near to the site entrance which
ensures good connectivity for the development site with public transport.
Footpaths along the Avenue have been designed to be 2m wide on one side and
3m on the other as far as the village square so it is shared with cycles in order to
segregate pedestrians and cycles from traffic movements.
45) The Rural Lanes that loops around the edge of the site are 4.8m wide shared
surface. These sections of road are short in length and have tight corners which
will ensure low vehicle speeds within these areas. There is a Village Green in
the middle of the development which has The Avenue along one side and to
south a local access road to housing south of the Green and the Mews which
connects to the Rural Lane.

46) At this time the proposals include several sections of service margins which are
1m in width, when the standard required fronting a dwelling is normally 2m. This
is on the south side of the Green, the east of the Mews and along plot frontages
76-84. The developer has not yet demonstrated how this can work in an
acceptable manner as the narrow margins result in utilities cutting across the
highway for each house. This is being worked on and a planning condition on this
matter has been added to ensure this matter is addressed satisfactorily.
Access and movement - Car parking
47) In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6, Managing Travel Demand and MDDLP
Policy CC07: Parking, condition 19 requires reserved matters to incorporate car
and motorcycle parking in line with the Council’s standards. The standards
require allocated parking to be supplemented with unallocated parking.
48) The application proposes a total of 285 spaces, of which, 196 are allocated non
garage spaces, 65 garage spaces and 24 are visitor spaces. When the garage
parking is assumed to be worth half a space (assuming 50% usage), then the
‘usable’ number of spaces available is 253, with 229 (196 + 33) allocated and 24
visitor. This level equates to 2.53 spaces per dwelling, which is in accordance
with the WBC parking demand calculator and the amount of parking is
proportionate to the size of dwelling that it is intended to serve. The majority of
parking is provided on plot with some designated parking spaces provided in
bays located in relation to the dwelling it is intended to serve.
49) It should be noted that there are some 45 plots with tandem parking and 41 of
these are in front of a garage. This could further reduce the parking usage of
garages and if these garages were assumed not be used for parking, then the
average spaces would reduce to 2.32 per dwelling, still within the standards.
Visitor parking is also well distributed through the development and this is
provided in bays which are off-set from the carriageway to reduce the level of on
carriageway parking. The level of parking provided should limit demand for on
street parking along the Avenue and throughout the development.
50) In addition, condition 22 of the outline planning permission requires that, prior to
the first occupation of any dwelling, a Parking Management Strategy for the
management of on-street parking shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. Through that condition the LPA will be able to
ensure that the development makes suitable provision for visitor parking whilst
appropriately discouraging indiscriminate parking practices.
Access and Movement - Cycle storage
51) Consistent with Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP6,
Managing Travel Demand, which expect development to make provision to
support sustainable travel, Condition 18 of the outline planning consent requires
cycle storage in line with the Council’s standards at the time. These are set out
in MDDLP Appendix 2: the requirement is for provision of at least one cycle
space for dwellings with three or fewer habitable rooms, two spaces for dwellings
with four or five habitable rooms and three cycle spaces for larger dwellings.
Cycle parking is provided on site both within garaging and sheds. All dwellings

have been provided with sufficient space for cycle storage / parking in
accordance with the above requirements.
Access and Movement - Access to public transport
52) The South of M4 Public Transport Strategy identified a high frequency (up to
15mins) bus service that operates along Basingstoke Road in a loop in and out of
Reading along the A327 or A33 corridors. This ‘loop’ approach is being reviewed
and it is now expected that the Greenwave service from Reading along the A33
and to the Mereoak Park and Ride will extend to Spencers Wood and along
Basingstoke Road. Interchanges to other services will be available at Mereoak
and Shinfield. Overall, this is expected to make the bus an attractive service for
many destinations, notably Green Park, Reading centre, Shinfield and the
University.
53) With a high frequency bus service, improved pedestrian and cycle connectivity
and the delivery of the Council’s My Journey Travel Planning initiative there are
good sustainable alternative modes of transport available to the new residents
other than the private car.
Flooding and Drainage
54) Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that
new development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk
(from all sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a
sustainable manner. These requirements are reinforced by South of the M4
SPD Design Principle 1c(ii) which requires provision of a comprehensive system
for water management, which takes account of existing features and includes
proposals for effective sustainable urban drainage (SUDS), measures to avoid
flood risk and new ponds.
55) The drainage strategy includes dry basins in the north west and south east of the
site and demonstrates that the surface water run-off generated up to and
including the 1 in 100 plus an allowance for climate change critical storm will not
exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding rainfall
event. The development therefore will not exacerbate flood risk over its lifetime.
Both WSP (on behalf of the WBC) and Thames Water have reviewed the
drainage strategy for the site and are satisfied with the details. The drainage
strategy, whilst submitted to support the Reserved Matters Application, will in due
course need to be formally agreed under a separate application pursuant to
conditions 35-39 of the outline consent.
Land Contamination
56) The site is agricultural in use and low risk in terms of land contamination. Matters
of contamination will be considered and mitigated pursuant to the requirements
of conditions 25 and 26 of the outline permission and do not need further
consideration under this Reserved Matters Planning Application.
Sustainable Design and Construction

57) Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy
features and minimising energy and water consumption. MDD LP policies CC04,
CC05 and the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning
Document (May 2010) also emphasise this. The proposal shall adhere to this
standard.
58) The development has been designed to meet the requirements of condition 28 of
the outline permission, with dwellings designed to meet Code for sustainable
Homes Level 3 and affordable homes meeting Code Level 4. Other sustainability
measures incorporated into the design include water efficiency measures, low
emission heating systems and recycling facilities.
59) The Energy Strategy for the Proposed Development has been formulated to
discharge Condition 29, which requires a 10% reduction in Regulated CO2
Emissions over Building Regulations Part L (2013). This has been achieved by
reducing the initial demand by energy efficiency, and then considering renewable
energy technologies. Through energy efficiency measures alone, the
development will achieve a 5.3% reduction in Regulated CO2 emissions over the
2013 Building Regulations baseline. In addition, use of PVs will achieve a further
6.3% reduction in emissions over the 2013 Building Regulations baseline. In total
therefore the combination of energy efficiency and renewable energy measures
will result in a 11.6% reduction in Regulated CO2 emissions over the 2013
Building Regulations baseline. This exceeds the prescribed requirements set out
in condition 29 of the outline planning permission.
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas
60) Policy TB24 of the MDD sets out that the Borough Council will conserve
and seek the enhancement of designated heritage assets in the Borough
and their settings. There are no designated or undesignated heritage
assets within the site, although there are nine listed buildings within the
wider 500m study area.
61) It was established at the outline application stage that the development,
subject to the height parameters approved at that time and brought
forward here, would not have a detrimental impact upon the special
interest or setting of any neighbouring Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas. There is nothing within the current plans that would alter that
conclusion.
Archaeology
62) Condition 23 of the outline planning permission requires that no development
shall take place within the site other than in accordance with a detailed
programme of archaeological work, written details of which must first be
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.
63) Berkshire Archaeology have reviewed and are satisfied with the Written Scheme
of Investigation that has been submitted with the application. They are satisfied
that the archaeological evaluation which has been carried out to date has shown
the potential for further archaeological remains to be very low. Berkshire

Archaeology therefore agrees that no investigations further to those identified in
the Written Scheme of Investigation are merited.
64) Wokingham Officers accept the findings of the assessment and Berkshire
Archaeology’s expert advice on this matter. The submissions are sufficient to
satisfy the submission requirements of condition 23 of the outline planning
permission.
Substation
65) At the time of writing, SSE had advised the applicant that there are some
problems with the location of the substation adjacent to plot 67. SSE has
advised that they would not take transfer of the substation here as it is within 5m
of the boundary wall of the plot. The location near to plot 85 on the western side
of the site is therefore being looked at further as an alternative. In the
circumstances, a condition is recommended in order that the matter may be dealt
with appropriately in due course.

CONCLUSION
The reserved matters are consistent with the principles and parameters established by
the outline planning permission, which themselves reflect the Council’s adopted policies
and guidance for development within the South of the M4 SDL. This is a sustainable
development that offers substantial public benefit in meeting the housing needs of the
community and delivering on Wokingham’s development aspirations for the South of M4
SDL. The application will deliver high quality development in accordance with the
Council’ spatial strategy and there are no other material planning considerations of
significant weight that would dictate that the application should nevertheless be refused.
Officers are therefore recommending the application for approval, subject to the
conditions listed above.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management
APPENDICES
A. Outline Planning Permission Decision Notice
B. Outline Parameter Plans
C. Application Drawings

The scaling of this drawing cannot be assured
Date
Drn
Revision
-

Ckd
-

STREET ELEVATION A-A
VILLAGE GREEN NORTH

STREET ELEVATION B-B
VILLAGE GREEN SOUTH

Project

LAND OFF BASINGSTOKE ROAD
SPENCERS WOOD
Drawing Title

ILLUSTRATIVE STREET ELEVATIONS
SHEET 1 OF 3

N

Date

Scale

Drawn by

Check by

FEB 2015

1:200@A1

JT

CB

Project No

Drawing No

Revision

23719

SE-01

-

KEY PLAN
NOT TO SCALE
bartonwillmore.co.uk
Certificate FS 29637

Offices at Reading London Bristol Cambridge Cardiff Ebbsfleet Edinburgh Leeds Manchester Solihull

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the Controller of HMSO. Crown Copyright Reserved. Licence No. 100019279.

J:\23000 - 23999\23700 - 23799\23719 - Basingstoke Road (Land Off)\A4 - Dwgs & Registers\Residential\Drawings - Planning\Application Drawings\Street Elevations\23719 Spencers Wood-Street Elevations (-).dwg

- SE-01

The scaling of this drawing cannot be assured
Date
Drn
Revision
-

Ckd
-

STREET ELEVATION F-F
MEWS STREET

STREET ELEVATION G-G
AVENUE SOUTH

STREET ELEVATION H-H
THE LINK

Project

LAND OFF BASINGSTOKE ROAD
SPENCERS WOOD
Drawing Title

ILLUSTRATIVE STREET ELEVATIONS
SHEET 3 OF 3

N

Date

Scale

Drawn by

Check by

FEB 2015

1:200@A1

JT

CB

Project No

Drawing No

Revision

23719

SE-03

-

KEY PLAN
NOT TO SCALE
bartonwillmore.co.uk
Certificate FS 29637

Offices at Reading London Bristol Cambridge Cardiff Ebbsfleet Edinburgh Leeds Manchester Solihull

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the Controller of HMSO. Crown Copyright Reserved. Licence No. 100019279.

J:\23000 - 23999\23700 - 23799\23719 - Basingstoke Road (Land Off)\A4 - Dwgs & Registers\Residential\Drawings - Planning\Application Drawings\Street Elevations\23719 Spencers Wood-Street Elevations (-).dwg

- SE-03

The scaling of this drawing cannot be assured
Date
Drn
-

Revision
-

Ckd
-

Site Boundary
94

Proposed Houses

6

Affordable Units

*

Front Entrance
A

DRY
RETENTION
BASIN

6

Rear / Garage Entrance

6
6
6

Proposed Tree planting
7

A
A
7

5

5
5

8

8

8

Existing Trees to be retained

7

7

5

Root Protection Areas

8

5

D

A
4

4

4

Existing Vegetation to be removed

V

Bs

V

B

A

3

9
3

3

22

3

2

1

9

9

9

10

10

10

10

10

10

A

15

E

25

25

24

25
25

24
23

22

A

26

26

D

26
24

2

A

10
1

E

Bf

2

D
1

23

1

15

11

23

22

15

27

THE SQUARE

13

F1

11

13
99

TH
E

98

100

20

18

14

14

Bf

98

ACCOMMODATION SCHEDULE:
B

28

V

17

20

20

Bs

18

Bs

17

D

14

UE

V

16

19

14

EN

99

28

28

E
13

AV

16

18

19

12

98
99

Crantock

20

Cycle Shed

28

17
20

Bf

12

Bf

21

13

100 100

100

21

27

16

17

11

P

27
16

21

12

E

18

D
A

19 19

Bf

93

29

55

V

92

99

VILLAGE SQUARE

93

F1

98

Sarum

29

55

B

92

V

91

93

55

F1

92

29

29

95

91
95

90

93

D

91
90

92
V

*

89

91

89

89
V

D

*

30

The Firs

95

97

64

D

D

D

62

63

66

67

67

66

85

65

66

65

64

63

62

63

62

67
sub station

*

85

L

HIL

84

68

83

LT

*

82

OP

V

80

GA
RD

**
* *

L

S

EN

N
7
80-84

64

64

*

60

61

61

70

TOTAL:

100 UNITS

60

V

52

E
51

33

52

F1
34

E

36

D

36

51
48
Courtyard

50

50

E

35

36

10

H

52

J

51

52

48

49
51

49

49

37

48

V

37

F1

59
59

*

58
78

*

M

*

M

*

M

57

*

M

*M

56
72

72

73

73

74

74

75

F1.1

75

47

37

38

40

47

G

46

G

45

47

58

46

57

45

56

44

56

44

42

41

C

38

F1

ISSUED FOR DISCUSSION
PURPOSES ONLY
SUBJECT TO PLANNING AND
HIGHWAYS

38

50

39

G

G

G

G

3m Width
Footpath &
Cycle
connections

39

C

44

F1.1

43

43

42

42

41

41

40

40

39

20

0

37

50

60

60

59

75

M

50m

36

43

*

N

35

G

38

L

K

32

F1

77

DRY
RETENTION
BASIN

39

11

Project

LAND OFF BASINGSTOKE ROAD
SPENCERS WOOD
Drawing Title

SITE LAYOUT

K

12

76

14

Westdene

5 UNITS
7 UNITS
11 UNITS
5 UNITS

V

34

61

*

Hillside House

53

48

L
M

F1

61

*

K

4 BED
3 BED
2 BED
1 BED

D

64

L

79

79

69

*

*

81

64

L

BS

V

K
L
M
N

35

69

L

V

TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE

34

G

62

63

Bs

65

70

*

85

10 UNITS
4 UNITS
6 UNITS
5 UNITS
2 UNITS
16 UNITS
7 UNITS
10 UNITS
2 UNITS
8 UNITS
1 UNIT
1 UNIT

33

D

68

V

Elmhurst

65

66

V

86

18

4 BED
4 BED
4 BED
4 BED
4 BED
4 BED
3 BED
3 BED
3 BED
2 BED
3 BED
2 BED

33

53

B

87

86

A
B
BS
BF
C
D
E
F1
F1.1
G
H
J

53

K

87

32

F1

31

54

*

86

32

31

54

54

53

K
96

31

54

88

*

M

V

V
88

87

MEWS STREET

*

94

E
AN

M

V

LL

31

88
97

TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
TYPE
V

Bs

D

89

M

96

19 to 22

D

30

55

V

RA
RU

96
97

90

30

30

M

V

90

BIN STORE

27

22

F1

BS

D

24

15
11

Unallocated Visitor Parking Space

23

21

21

V

26

15

A

Proposed hedgerow planting

ANE
AL L

2

VEHICULAR ACCESS
TO REAR OF
EXISTING PROPERTY

V

RUR

1

76

RURAL LANE

V

RURAL LANE
V
46

Date

Scale

Drawn by

Check by

JAN 2015

1:500@A1

SAT

SAT

Project No

Drawing No

Revision

23719

SL-01

H

45

14

12

bartonwillmore.co.uk
Certificate FS 29637

20
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the Controller of HMSO. Crown Copyright Reserved. Licence No. 100019279.

Offices at Reading London Bristol Cambridge Cardiff Ebbsfleet Edinburgh Leeds Manchester Solihull
J:\23000 - 23999\23700 - 23799\23719 - Basingstoke Road (Land Off)\A4 - Dwgs & Registers\Residential\Drawings - Planning\Application Drawings\Layouts\23719 Spencers Wood-Site Layout (A).dwg - A1

Development
Management
Ref No
F/2015/1235
150544

No weeks on
day of
committee
13/13

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Hurst

Hurst

Major

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Mr Belcher
Hatch Gate Farm, Lines Road, Hurst
Postcode RG10 0SP
Erection of cattle shed and farm machinery store/cattle handling shed
and formation of cattle yard.
Type
Major development
PS Category 6
Officer
Graham Vaughan
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 20th August 2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application site is in designated countryside and is part of a larger farm located in
Hurst. The site currently has some buildings used for storage of farm materials and is
located at the end of the main group of farm buildings and adjacent to fields. The
proposal is to utilise the site for a cattle yard including cattle sheds and store. A new
access road would be created but this would replace an existing road adjacent to it.
The proposal would provide further agricultural buildings on a working farm utilising part
of the farm that is already occupied by buildings. As such, the proposal is considered to
be acceptable in principle. Existing views towards the site are of agricultural buildings
set against a tree lined backdrop and although the proposal would introduce built form
in the countryside, it is considered this view would not be impacted upon in a
significantly harmful way. Subject to conditions, no harmful impacts are identified and
therefore the application is recommended for approval.
PLANNING STATUS
 Countryside
 Wind turbine safeguarding zone
 Sand and gravel extraction
 Groundwater protection zone
 Minerals consultation zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
the following:
A. Conditions and informatives:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered ‘Site Plan’, ‘Location Plan’, ‘Cattle yard fencing detail’, ‘BPL-17/01 Rev
B’, BPL-17/02 Rev B’ and BPL-17/03 Rev B’ received by the local planning
authority on 22nd May 2015 and the revised plans on 8th July 2015. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in
accordance with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping,
which shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs
to be planted, and any existing trees or shrubs to be retained. Any hedging shall
be planted 1 metre from the fence.
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building(s).
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting
(or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of
retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policies CC03 and TB21
5. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges
growing on or adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority (the
Approved Scheme); the tree protection measures approved shall be
implemented in complete accordance with the Approved Scheme for the duration
of the development (including, unless otherwise provided by the Approved
Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning,
demolition works, soil moving, temporary access construction and or widening or
any other operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction
machinery.
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation
involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence
until the local planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice)
with a period of no less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the
measures identified in the Approved Scheme on-site.

c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not
be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external
works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials
removed from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority
has first been sought and obtained.
To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which
are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning
authority that the necessary measures are in place before development and
other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
6. Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of wildlife
enhancements associated with the proposed surface water run-off pond. The
enhancements shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and
thereafter maintained.
Reason: To ensure a positive impact on local wildlife occurs. Relevant Policy:
Core Strategy policy CP7.
7. No development shall commence until a programme of archaeological work
(which may comprise more than one phase of work) has been implemented in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Reason: The site is
identified as being of archaeological potential. Investigation is required to allow
preservation and recording of any archaeological features or artefacts before
disturbance by the development. Relevant policy: National Planning Policy
Framework Section 12 (Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment)
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB25
8. No development shall take place until full details of the Drainage System(s) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These
shall include:
-

-

Location, size and full working details of the pond associated with water runoff from the proposal.
Demonstration that infiltration rates at the application site are sufficient to
allow surface water discharge to ground.
Demonstration that the design of the drainage system accounts for the likely
impacts of: climate change, (30% allowance) and changes in impermeable
area, over the design life of the development.
Full details of all components of the proposed drainage system including
source control, conveyance, storage, flow control and discharge. Details shall
include dimension, locations, reference to storm simulation files, gradients,
invert and cover levels and drawings as appropriate. This shall be identified
for all catchments.

-

Full details of the maintenance and/or adoption proposals /agreements for the
development covering every aspect of the proposed drainage system.
Full details of water quality treatment components of the proposed drainage
strategy. Details of component(s) including type, dimension, locations,
capacity, maintenance requirements and frequency, gradients invert and
cover levels and drawings as appropriate. This shall be identified for all
catchments.

The submitted details shall be implemented as approved and thereafter
maintained unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the development would not have an adverse impact on flood
risk for the surrounding area.
9. Prior to occupation of the buildings hereby approved, a “lighting design strategy
for biodiversity” for the cattle yard shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The strategy shall:
i)
Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats
and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites
and resting places or along important routes used to access key area of
their territory; and,
ii)
Show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the
provision of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications)
so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or
prevent the above species using their territory or having access to their
breeding sites and resting places.
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in
accordance with the strategy.
Reason: To ensure impacts on a protected species are mitigated. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP7
10. No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local
planning authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or
dying or being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years
from the completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with
trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local
planning authority gives written consent to any variation. To secure the
protection throughout the time that development is being carried out, of trees,
shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity value to the are.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
11. All site operatives involved in the removal of potential amphibian refugia or
ground disturbance during construction shall be briefed with the submitted Toolbox talk document [Ecological Walk-over Survey, AA Environmental, 3rd
September 2015] before commencing work
Reason: To ensure that great crested newts, a European Protected Species, are
not adversely impacted upon as a result of the development. Relevant Policy:
Core Strategy Policy CP7
12.

Informatives
1. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions
which must be complied with prior to the development starting on site.
Commencement of the development without complying with the precommencement requirements may be outside the terms of this permission and
liable to enforcement action. The information required should be formally
submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant fee. Once the details
have been approved in writing the development should be carried out only in
accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case officer
to discuss.
2. Should any Great Crested Newts or evidence of Great Crested Newts be found
prior to or during the development, all works must stop immediately and an
ecological consultant or the Council’s ecologist contacted for further advice
before works can proceed. All contractors working on site should be made
aware of the advice and provided with the contact details of a relevant ecological
consultant.
3. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations,
including planning policies and any representations that may have been
received. This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive
discussions with the applicant in terms of:
- planning issues relating to ecology and drainage;
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in
favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a
positive outcome of these discussions.
PLANNING HISTORY
SO/2015/1249 - Screening Opinion for an Environmental Impact Assessment for the
erection of cattle shed and farm machinery store/cattle handling shed and formation of
cattle yard determined on 20th May 2015. EIA not required.
Some further applications related to typical farm activities not directly on the site
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Highways
Archaeology
Biodiversity
Tree and Landscape
Environmental Health
Drainage
Waste Services
Conservation
Hurst Parish Council
Local Members

No objection
No objection subject to condition (7)
No objection subject to conditions (6, 9, 11)
No objection subject to conditions (4, 5, 10)
No objection
No objection subject to conditions (8)
No comments received
No objection
Objection due to lack of traffic prediction
No comments received

REPRESENTATIONS
 One letter of support stating that the farm buildings need updating
APPLICANTS POINTS
 Demonstrated agricultural need for cattle provision
 Acceptable use in the countryside



Accords with relevant criteria for cattle rearing

PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP11

Proposals outside development limits
(including countryside)

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC09

Development and Flood Risk

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB21

Landscape Character

TB25

Archaeology

BDG

Borough Design Guide

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD)
PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:

1. The proposal is for the erection of multiple buildings (albeit through a phased
development) in order to use the site as a cattle yard. This requires five separate
buildings, four as cattle sheds and one for the farm workshop and cattle handling
shed. The cattle sheds would each be 30.5 metres in width and 36.6 metres in
length with an eaves height of 4.9 metres and a ridge height of 7.8 metres. The
farm workshop would be 15.2 metres in width and 61 metres in length with an
eaves height of 4.7 metres and a ridge height of 5.7 metres. A new perimeter
fence is proposed around the site which would be 1.68 metres in height and
additional hedge row planting would occur next to an existing fence. Additionally,
a new internal access road is proposed with the existing blocked up.
Principle of Development:
2. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
3. The site is located outside any defined settlement area and therefore the

principle of development is acceptable subject to impact on the countryside.
Policy CP11 of the adopted Core Strategy states that proposals outside of
development limits will not normally be permitted except where, inter alia, it
contributes to diverse and sustainable rural enterprises within the borough and
does not lead to excessive encroachment or expansion of development away
from the original building. With regards to sustainable rural enterprises, the
proposal is for the formation of a cattle yard and its associated buildings and in
this respect could be considered to come under this exception criterion.
4. An Agricultural Report has been submitted which details the reasoning for the
application. Belcher farms operate a number of farms including the one at Hurst.
As part of the business, there is a need to rationalise the existing cattle stock and
this has become more urgent due to the loss of another farm (Allanbay Farm,
Binfield). The loss of the cattle space is due to the landowner serving notice to
vacate the building due in part to the significant costs required to maintain and
update the building. In addition, Belcher Farms are required by legislation to keep
cattle in an appropriate manner and this relates in part to suitable buildings. To
ensure the continued production of cattle and to help maintain Belcher Farms as
a business, new buildings are required. This also allows an opportunity to design
more appropriate buildings which assist in running the farm efficiently. This would
therefore amalgamate the Hatch Gate Farm and Allanby Farm cattle onto one
site.
5. Overall, there is considered to be a recognised need for the buildings, particularly
as it would help ensure the protection of Belchers Farms as a business which
contributes to the local economy. As such, this is considered to comply with
policy CP11 as it would contribute to a rural enterprise and is therefore
acceptable in principle. However, the impact on the character of the countryside
is discussed below.
Environmental Impact Assessment:
6. The site and development have been subject to a screening opinion with regards
to the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2011 (reference SO/2015/1249). This found that the impact on the
environment was not substantial and therefore an Environmental Impact
Assessment was not required.
Character of the Area:
7. The area is rural in character and appearance and particularly influenced by
agricultural buildings and views to wooded areas. Surrounding the application
site, the land is flat and low hedge rows delineate fields. Although there are other
land uses in the area, Hatch Gate Farm itself occupies a significant amount of
land with the farm buildings approximately central in this.
8. The buildings proposed would be of a large size and occupy a large footprint.
Nonetheless, they would be of an appearance typical of agricultural buildings and
it is noted the size relates partly to the requirement of legislation on cattle
herding. In addition, agricultural buildings are common in the area and in this
respect additional buildings are not considered to have a harmful impact.
However, criterion 2 of policy CP11 requires that proposals do not encroach on

the countryside and it is acknowledged that due to their size and location, the
buildings would create additional built form. Nonetheless, consideration should
be given to the fact there are existing buildings associated with the farm within
the application site on a large area of hard standing which is already used for
farm activities.
9. Weight should be given to the impact on the countryside as a result of the
additional built form but this is considered to be outweighed partly by the benefits
of ensuring an agricultural use remains on the site and the economic benefits this
would bring but also as it would be in keeping with the character of the area.
Additionally, mitigation of the impact of the proposal would be provided through
landscaping which over time would help it integrate into the landscape. On
balance therefore, the proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on
the countryside.
Landscape and Trees:
10. The only significant tree that could be potentially impacted is an oak tree to the
west of the site as the fencing around the buildings would be close to the tree.
However, there would be a gap of two metres from the fence to the extent of the
canopy of the tree and therefore any impact on the tree would be minimal.
Additionally, tree protection methods could be put in place during construction via
a standard condition (5) and, as such, it is considered the application could not
be refused on this basis.
11. In terms of the wider landscape, the current views into and around the site are of
agricultural buildings set against a wooded background. Hedgerows at the edge
of roads prevent many long range views and the farm buildings themselves are
set a significant distance from the road. Within the site, it acknowledged that
views from dwellings are possible however this tends to be from first floor
windows only. Given that the proposal would introduce further agricultural
buildings in an area which already has such buildings, no significant harm is
considered to occur. In order to ensure that the buildings can appropriate
integrate into the landscape, further landscaping details including standard
hedging can be required by condition (4). Furthermore, appropriate materials and
colour of the building can also be agreed at conditions stage (3). In this respect,
the application is considered acceptable.
Residential Amenities:
12. Due to the significant separation distances to any neighbouring properties
(approximately 50 metres to the nearest property which is on but not associated
with the farm), no harmful impact on residential amenity is considered to occur.
Heritage Assets:
13. Old Hatch Gate Farm Cottages are a Grade II listed building (and the nearest
residential property to the site). Whilst the built footprint of the farm would be
increased, the cottages are considered to be of a sufficient distance away to
mitigate any harmful impact on the setting of the listed building. As such, the
Conservation Officer does not object to the proposal.

Highways and Access:
14. Access to the farm is achieved from three different points with the main being
from Lines Road however the proposal would not alter any of these. On the farm
itself, an internal road would be stopped and a new one created next to it leading
to the proposal site. This would be similar in size and width to the existing and
therefore no detriment on highway safety would occur. Similarly, the farm already
has vehicle movements and parking associated with typical farm activities. The
addition of the cattle yard is not considered to increase the pressure for parking
on the site. It is noted the Parish Council have raised an objection regarding
traffic resulting from the proposal however the likely traffic generation is not
considered to be significantly above what is already generated by the farm. As
such, the Highways Officer does not object to the proposal.
Flooding and Drainage:
15. An initial assessment of the site regarding drainage has been submitted detailing
how surface water drainage would be impacted. Whilst it is acknowledged the
roof form of the buildings would be large and therefore would increase run-off, it
is proposed to discharge this into an existing pond subject to viable capacity or if
not, into a new pond. This is considered to be an acceptable solution given that
the site is in an area of very low risk from surface water flooding. Further details
can be agreed by condition (8) and this has been confirmed by the Council’s
drainage consultant, WSP.
Environmental Health:
16. The site is a working farm and the proposal would be an extension of this. In this
respect there is already an impact in terms of environmental health. The
Environmental Health Officer was concerned there may be an impact in terms of
odour however is now satisfied that the separation distance to nearby properties
would mean no harmful impact would occur.
Biodiversity:
17. Due to the proximity to ponds and the prevalence of Great Crested Newts (GCN)
in the area, a survey of these ponds has been submitted. The survey concludes
that GCN are unlikely to be present. Whilst the Council’s ecology officer accepts
this, given the extent of the work proposed, a condition (11) requiring site
operatives to be made aware of GCN is considered necessary.
18. The site is also in close proximity to a known bat roost and therefore there is
potential for the proposal to impact negatively on local bat populations through
additional artificial light. However, the Ecology officer considers that if external
lighting was required, a suitably worded condition (9) which requires a lighting
strategy to take account of this impact would be sufficient.
19. Additionally, any landscaping (i.e. standard hedging) or ponds for surface water
run-off that may be provided could also utilise wildlife enhancement methods
which would be a positive impact. The precise details of this would be agreed at
a later stage and therefore condition 6 relates.

Community Infrastructure Levy:
20. As the proposal is not for new residential or retail floor space, the proposal is not
CIL liable.
Employment Opportunities:
21. Whilst the proposal is a major application and Policy TB12 of the MDD states
these should be accompanied by an Employment and Skills Plan, the
opportunities provided by the scheme are considered to be limited and not of a
type that would suit an employment skills plan. As such, it is considered there is
no identified harm in not requiring a plan to be submitted.
Archaeological Impact:
22. Due to the archaeological potential of the site and surrounding area, Berkshire
Archaeology has requested a condition (7) for a written scheme of investigation
to be submitted prior to the commencement of development. Subject to this
condition, no harmful impact is considered to occur.
Other Issues:
23. The Parish Council have raised a concern regarding the existing buildings that
are used for cattle rearing as it is likely these will be removed in the future. Whilst
it is acknowledged there would be additional built form in the countryside with
both the existing and proposed buildings together, this is not considered
substantially harmful to the extent it would warrant refusing the application. In
any case, the existing buildings are within the farm complex and already impact
on the landscape.
CONCLUSION
The proposal is for an acceptable use in the countryside and no significant harmful
impact on the character of the area would occur. Subject to appropriate conditions, it is
considered no harmful impact would occur in terms of highways, ecology or tree and
landscapes. Furthermore, the site is located a sufficient distance from residential
properties in order to not have a harmful impact on residential amenity. As such, the
proposal accords with the development plan and is recommended for approval.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

ST. NICHOLAS HURST PARISH COUNCIL
Clerk to the Council: Mrs. Maria Bradshaw MIIA.
The Office, 9 Primrose Lane, Winnersh, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG41 5UR.
Telephone: 0118 9798914
E-mail: Clerk@hurstpc.org.uk

Development Control Manager,
Wokingham Borough Council,
Planning Services,
P.O. Box 157,
Shute End,
Wokingham,
RG40 1WR

20/7/15

For the attention of Graham Vaughan

Dear Mr Vaughan,
Ref: F/2015/1235
I refer to the above application by Mr & Mrs Belcher, c/o Bradbeer Planning Ltd, Hatch
Gate Farm, Lines Road, Hurst, RG10 OSP – full application for the proposed formation
of cattle yard and associated cattle sheds and farm workshop to be constructed in four
phases.
The Parish Council thanks you for granting an extension of one week to enable us to
fully consider this application.
We object to this application because of the potential impact of heavy traffic movement
in Lines Road and local roads in the immediate areas and the lack of any traffic
prediction detail in the Design and Access Statement for this application.
If Wokingham Borough Council is minded to approve this application then we request
some conditions be applied to it:
-

There should be limits on traffic movements on and off the site which are consistent with
the configuration of Lines Road and adjacent local roads; and
If the intention is to demolish the existing buildings which are specified in the Agricultural
Planning Report (paras 5.1, 5.2) as being unsuitable and unsafe, then the areas on
which they currently stand should suitably be landscaped (e.g. Grassed) to eliminate a
hard negative impact on the Countryside.
Yours sincerely,

Maria Bradshaw,
Clerk.

Development
Management
Ref No
F/2015/0430
(151781)

No weeks on
day of
committee
29 weeks

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Finchampstead

Finchampstead
North

Cllr Stanton

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Mr and Mrs Lesner
Pine Platt Heath Ride, Finchampstead
Postcode RG40 3QJ
Proposed erection of 5 bedroom dwelling with associated car parking
and landscaping following the demolition of existing dwelling
Type
Householder
PS Category 13
Officer
James McCabe
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 16th September 2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The proposal seeks planning permission for the erection of a new detached 5 bedroom
dwelling following the demolition of the existing bungalow.
The applications site is located within settlement limits on the edge of the countryside
where it sits within a linear strip of residential development along the unmade road. The
site benefits from substantial private rear amenity space and on-site parking within the
forecourt with an additional detached garage to the rear which has, until recently, been
overrun with vegetation.
The report concludes that despite objections regarding the design, scale and character
impact of the dwelling; loss of light, overlooking and overbearing impact to neighbours
at Rosslea and Heath Cottage; and concerns with drainage, the scheme would not have
significant adverse impacts to the extent it should be refused. The style of the dwelling
would not be out of keeping with the character of the street, which is highly varied in
nature. A number of conditions are recommended in order to secure measures to
protect the verdant character of the area.

PLANNING STATUS
 CAA
 Farnborough Aerodrome consultation zone
 Modest development location (officer note: the rear most 13 metres of the 57 metre
plot is designated countryside)
 South East Water Consultation Area
 Special Protection Area – 5 and 7km
 TPOs (1 existing at front of site; 2 more removed before TPOs served).
 Wind Turbine Safeguarding Zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT of PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the
following conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three

years from the date of this permission
2. This permission is in respect of the revised application plans and drawings
numbered 2932-01B, 2932-02B, 2932-03D, 2932-04E, 2932-05B, 2932-06C
received by the local planning authority on various dates via email.
3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in
accordance with the so-approved details.
4. No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking space has been provided in accordance with the approved plans.
The vehicle parking space shall be permanently maintained and remain available
for the parking of vehicles at all times.
5. Those windows shown on the approved drawings as having obscured glazing in
part or full shall be so-fitted and shall be permanently so-retained, and shall be
non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened are more than
1.7 metres above the finished floor level of the room in which the window is
installed.
6. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all boundary
treatment(s) shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first
occupation of the development or phased as agreed in writing by the local
planning authority. The scheme shall be maintained in the approved form for so
long as the development remains on the site.
7. Vegetation removal and demolition of any buildings on site shall be conducted
outside the bird breeding season, March to August inclusive, or under the
supervision and control of an ecologist if in March to August inclusive.
8. No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local
planning authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or
dying or being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years
from the completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with
trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local
planning authority gives written consent to any variation.
9. Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping,
which shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs
to be planted, and any existing trees or shrubs to be retained. Replacement tree
planting along the site frontage should be included in the scheme and any
planting within the root protection area (RPA) of the TPO tree shall be bare
rooted and notch planted to reduce disturbance to tree roots in the RPA.
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first

planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building(s).
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting
(or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of
retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning authority.
10. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until an updated
Arboricultural Method Statement and Scheme of Works (to reflect the changes in
the driveway layout as detailed on plan 2932-06B) which provides for the
retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to
the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. No development or other operations shall
take place except in complete accordance with the details as so-approved
(hereinafter referred to as the Approved Scheme).
b)
No operations shall commence on site in connection with development
hereby approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation
involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree
protection works required by the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
c)
No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d)
The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall
not be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including
external works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus
materials removed from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local
planning authority has first been sought and obtained.
11. No development shall take place until full details of the Drainage System(s) have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These
shall include:
- Confirmation of the design standard of the proposed soakaway(s);
- Results of intrusive ground investigations demonstrating the depth of the
seasonally high groundwater table and infiltration rates determined in
accordance with BRE Digest 365;
- Full calculations demonstrating the performance of the proposed
soakaway(s);
- Full details of all components of the proposed drainage system including
dimensions, locations, gradients, invert and cover levels and drawings as
appropriate;
- Full details of the maintenance arrangements for the development
covering every aspect of the proposed drainage system;
- Full details of proposed levels across the site demonstrating the overland
flood flow route through the site will not be impacted; and
- Confirmation that the finished floor levels will be constructed in
accordance with the levels proposed in drawing 2932-06C.

12. Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D, E, F and G of Part 1 of the
Second Schedule the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no buildings, enlargement or alterations
permitted shall be carried out without the express permission in writing of the
local planning authority.
Reasons:
1. In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.
3. To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway safety,
convenience and amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
5. To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3
6. In the interests of amenity and highway safety.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
7. To ensure that the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as amended is complied
with and breeding birds, their nests and eggs are not harmed or damaged.
8. To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being carried
out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity
value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.
9. To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity as well as to
ensure the RPA of the TPO tree is not adversely affected. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies
CC03 and TB21.
10. To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which
are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning
authority that the necessary measures are in place before development and
other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
11. In order to ensure satisfactory provision is made for foul and storm water
drainage, to prevent the increased risk of flooding, and to protect water quality.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change,

Flooding and Coastal Change), Technical Guidance on the NPPF (Flood Risk),
Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policies CC09 and CC10
12. To protect the character of the area, protect the transition from the built up area
to the adjacent Countryside and to safeguard neighbouring amenities.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11, and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC02 and TB21

Informatives:
Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development, all
works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant or the Council's ecologist
contacted for further advice before works can proceed. All contractors working on site
should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact details of a relevant
ecological consultant.
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including
planning policies and any representations that may have been received. This planning
application has been the subject of positive and proactive discussions with the applicant
in terms of:
- extending the determination period of the application to allow for additional
drainage information and arboricultural work to be submitted in order for the
application to be taken to planning committee;
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour
of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a positive
outcome of these discussions.

PLANNING HISTORY
 531/56 – Outline application for residential development – Refused (23.07.1956)
 O/85/59 – Outline application for residential development – Refused (19.04.1959)
 O/194/63 – dwelling – Conditional approval (05.09.1963)
 183/63 – bungalow – Conditional approval (02.01.1964)
SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Residential
Site Area
Existing bedrooms
Proposed bedrooms
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Local Member:

0.085 hectares
2
5 (plus habitable roof space)
1 garage and at least 2 drive spaces
4

Listing request:
1. Concerns about proposed height of the build in
relation to adjacent dwellings and that a three
storey dwelling would be out of keeping with the

character of the area.
2. Concerns with drainage of the site
3. Out of keeping with countryside setting (officer
note: the dwelling itself is located wholly within
the settlement boundary)
4. Concerns with vegetation loss at the site and
protected trees.

Finchampstead Parish Council:

Objections to the bulk, size and massing of the
proposal as well as lack of heights included, and
lack of drainage and ecological information.
(Further comments to additional plans and
Information are forthcoming.)

Biodiversity:

No objection subject to condition to protect
breeding birds and informative should evidence of
bats be found during development.

Landscape & Trees:

No objection subject to conditions

Highways:

No objection subject to condition

Environmental Health:

No comment

Thames Water

Surface Water Drainage - With regard to surface
water drainage it is the responsibility of a developer to make
proper provision for drainage to ground, water courses or a
suitable sewer. In respect of surface water it is recommended
that the applicant should ensure that storm flows are attenuated
or regulated into the receiving public network through on or off
site storage. When it is proposed to connect to a combined public
sewer, the site drainage should be separate and combined at the
final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not
permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where the developer
proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from
Thames Water Developer Services will be required. They can be
contacted on 0800 009 3921. Reason - to ensure that the surface
water discharge from the site shall not be detrimental to the
existing sewerage system.
Thames Water would advise that with regard to sewerage
infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the
above planning application.
Water Comments:
With regard to water supply, this comes within the area covered
by the South East Water Company. For your information the
address to write to is - South East Water Company, 3 Church
Road, Haywards Heath, West Sussex. RH16 3NY. Tel: 01444448200

REPRESENTATIONS
Objections received from 4 residents in response to initial submitted plans raising
following issues (see brackets for where this has been addressed in the report)
- Concerns with flooding relating to: the high water table; slow draining soil
composition; levels of the road mean site would drain into adjacent properties;
additional drainage from a larger house will add to historical flooding of
neighbouring sites; impact on natural streams along the road; incorrect assertion
that a connection will be made to a mains sewer where none exists (Paragraphs
22-27)
- Description of current materials is inaccurate (Officer note: existing character
assessed on site visit).
- Lack of ecological surveys given previous occupant developed the garden as a
habit and much vegetation has been subsequently cleared. Asserted that newts
have been present in the garden.(Paragraph 30)
- Urbanising and harmful character impact as a result of vegetation loss and
replacement with panel fencing. (Paragraph 12, 14)
- Inconsistencies with plans. (Officer note: rectified by revisions to plans)
- Incorrect name given to neighbouring property (Officer note: the footprint of the
dwelling shown appears consistent with that observed on site visit so this
anomaly, presumably as a result of slightly old OS maps, is not an issue)
- Objection to size and bulk of the dwelling in the context of the plot and whose
block like nature out of keeping with adjacent properties. Dwelling would be a 6
bedroom house in place of a 2 bedroom bungalow which represents excessive
expansion.
- Modern nature of development out of keeping with character of the area
(Paragraphs 6, 9, 10)
- Incorrect labelling of private drive to west of site as access road (Officer note: no
access to this is proposed and any right of way issues would not be a planning
concern)
- Concern with tree and vegetation felling which has altered the character of the
site and landscaping details very vague (Paragraphs 12, 14)
- Narrow gap to side boundary (east) with access drive to Rosslea leading to
concerns over encroachment of fencing (Paragraphs 8, 14)
- Loss of light and overbearing concerns to amenity space and windows of
adjacent properties. (Paragraphs 15-19)
- Overlooking to neighbouring dwellings by introduction of second storey
(Paragraphs 15-19)
- Light pollution (Paragraph 10)
- Proposal contrary to policy CC02 as the scale does not respect the transition
from the countryside to the built up area. (Paragraph 13)
- Concerns over current access road to Rusticott being used by Pine Platt which
would have health and safety concerns. (Paragraph 31)
- Proposal in front of the building line. (Paragraph 5, 9)
- Concerns with asbestos and hazardous materials during demolition (Paragraph
32)
- Danger of construction traffic on narrow lane. (Paragraphs 31 )
PLANNING POLICY
National Planning Policy Framework

- Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policies: CC01, CC02, CC03, CC04,
CC05, CC06, CC07, CC09, CC10, TB07, TB21 & TB23
- Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework – Core Strategy CP1, CP3,
CP4, CP5, CP6, CP7, CP8, CP9
- SPD Borough Design Guide.
PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of development
1. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
2. The site is located within a minor development location and as such the
development should be acceptable providing that it complies with the principles
stated in the Core Strategy. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that
development must be appropriate in terms of its scale of activity, mass, layout,
built form, height, materials and character to the area in which it is located and
must be of high quality design without detriment to the amenities of adjoining
land uses and occupiers.
Description of development
3. The replacement dwelling proposes a two storey property with additional
habitable loft space to have a total height of 8.4 metres at a width of 12.3 metres.
The dwelling will have a depth of 11.5 metres with an additional 3.5 metre single
storey element to the rear which comprises a width of 6.5 metres and a two
storey front gable is also proposed which will project 2 metres. Additional
associated changes to the front amenity space and parking layout are proposed.
Impact on the character of the area
4. The application site is located within Heath Ride which is an unmade residential
road with a distinct verdant character. There exists a wide variety in the dwellings
within Heath Ride which comprise bungalows, chalet bungalows, and two storey
dwellings of varying architectural styles and built forms but which are
predominantly detached in nature. There are some agricultural type
buildings/businesses located off Heath Ride, but the area is nevertheless
predominantly residential in character. A thin strip of the road along its northern
side is within development limits, linking the area to the residential developments
to the north and northwest. The southern section of the road, as well as its
eastern extent, comprises designated countryside.
5. There exists a fairly consistent front building line to the dwellings along the street,
with the dwellings largely set back from the road with significant screening. The
building line is therefore largely obscured from long views by virtue of this
verdant character. It is noted that a number of detached garages have been
erected along the road to the front of properties which further detract from the
reading of a consistent, hard building line.

6. The site itself comprises a deep linear plot of a slightly larger, though similar,
width to the adjacent plots. Currently a bungalow occupies the site with a
detached garage set behind the dwelling. The bungalow is generally in a state of
disrepair with a run down appearance and the proposal seeks to demolish the
existing dwelling to be replaced with a two storey dwelling with additional
habitable roof space. This will comprise a full two storey façade with higher
eaves than the two adjacent dwellings. While it is noted that these adjacent
dwellings do have roof designs with lower eaves that include the second storey
as window features within the roof form, there are examples of conventional two
storey dwellings to the south-east of the site (Victoria House and Crimble). Given
the wide variety in architectural styles there is not considered to be an
established, consistent design within the streetscene as a whole that contributes
a single distinct character to the street. Therefore, given this design variation
within the street it is not considered that the new building form would be
significantly detrimental in character terms.
7. This proposed height of the dwelling is to be slightly taller (200mm) than the
immediate neighbours and represents an increase of 70mm from the original
proposal which is a result of an increase to the finished floor levels in order to
demonstrate that the said floor levels are adequate to mitigate for the surface
water flood depths anticipated in the area. Such floor levels are now considered
adequate (as discussed below) and the modest increase in height, though
resulting in a taller building than the adjacent neighbours, is not considered to be
of significant difference so as to be detrimental to the character of the area. As
previously discussed, there are a variety of housing types of varying heights and
sizes along the street scene, and the uneven ridgeline that would result in this
section of the street would not be out of keeping with the wider streetscene. An
objection is noted relating to the fact the streetscene elevation does not factor in
the gradient between the adjacent dwellings and therefore makes the appeared
height difference appear more sympathetic. As viewed on site, it is not
considered that there is any significant change in levels and the measurements
of 8.4 metres in height of the proposed compared to 8.2 and 8.1 of the adjacent
neighbours, are to be taken as accurate.
8. It has additionally been noted by local residents that the proposed dwelling would
have excessive width in comparison to the plot size and the adjacent dwellings.
These comments are noted, however, as discussed above, there is a varied
character to the dwellings within the wider streetscene which includes differences
in the widths of dwellings within their plot. Notwithstanding this variety, in the
context of the application dwelling’s immediate neighbours, the proposed would
have comparable separation distances to its site boundaries to the two adjacent
properties. The width of the dwelling would therefore not be significantly different
from these two adjacent properties. It is noted that the proposal would conform
with the Borough Design Guide in that a 1 metre gap to the east side boundary
will be retained with a 1.5 metre gap to the west side boundary which is
considered sufficient to negate any harmful terracing effect. Considering all these
points, it is deemed that the width of the dwelling would not be harmful within the
context of the wider streetscene nor the context of its immediate neighbours.
9. The proposal includes a two storey front gable projection. Front gables are not an
uncommon feature within the streetscene, and indeed are a feature of the two

adjacent properties, though with hipped roof designs, and a large two storey
gable element is also seen at Forresters to the south-east of the site on the
opposite side of the road. The gable element is not considered to project beyond
an established building line and, in design terms, its glazed nature is not
considered to be out of keeping with an established character given the
abovementioned variety in the design within the streetscene.
10. It is noted that a letter of objection has been received from a neighbour citing that
there is no street lighting along the road and that the glass fronted gable would
contribute to light pollution. Whilst the proposal as a whole would introduce
additional fenestration to the area above the existing, given the residential nature
of the street it is not considered that the amount of windows proposed would lead
to a level of light that would not be reasonably expected in a residential street.
Further, there is a high level of vegetation cover on the opposite side of the road
which serves to shield the house from views across the open countryside. As
such it is not considered that a harmful urbanising effect will result to the adjacent
countryside setting. Therefore, due to wide variety in the design of the buildings
within Heath Ride and the proposed front gable is not considered to raise any
concerns as regards character.
11. The proposed dwelling is to be constructed of brick with the gabled element to be
rendered. The majority of houses along the street are constructed of red brick
with some wood detailing and hanging tiles which are mainly of similar colours. It
is not stated in the submitted plans what colour the rendering will be. It is
deemed prudent to request by condition (Condition 3) that samples of the
materials are submitted to the local planning authority prior to development
taking place, in order for a fuller assessment to be made as to the potential
impact on character. It is however noted that, again due to the variety within the
streetscene, a contrasting colour is not likely to be harmful.
12. Despite the above arguments, it remains that the area has a distinct verdant
character which has been somewhat undermined at the application site by
vegetation removal. This has included two trees to the front It would be expected
that a degree of landscaping be undertaken in order to re-establish the sylvan
character of the site, for which it is reasonable to attach an appropriate condition
in order for a scheme of landscaping works to be submitted for approval prior to
development. With an appropriate scheme of landscaping in place, the verdant
character of the area will be maintained and would also serve to minimise any
visual impact of the development.
13. The dwelling itself is located within a ‘modest development location’ with the
settlement boundary comprising a linear strip which covers the residential
properties, and much of their gardens, along the northern edge of Heath Ride.
Therefore, though the dwelling is located within defined settlement boundaries,
areas of countryside surround the site. In accordance with policy CC02 of the
MDD proposals should respect the transition between the built up area and the
countryside. The relationship of the proposed dwelling to the countryside
surroundings is not considered to be appreciably different from that of
neighbouring properties which are themselves two storey dwellings. The
submitted street scene elevation shows that, while the proposed will have a
modest difference in height to the neighbouring dwellings, its scale is to be
similar to the existing. Therefore, the proposed is not considered to detract from

an already established linear residential character on the settlement boundary. It
is further noted that to the rear of the application site there is situated a dwelling
which, while itself located within designated countryside, serves to soften the
transition from countryside to built up area to a greater extent than elsewhere
along the road where properties back directly onto open rural land. As such the
proposal is not considered to be contrary to CC02. Notwithstanding these points,
it is considered reasonable to condition the removal of permitted development
rights in order that the council has control over any future development at the site
which may harm this transition and could lead to excessive development on the
countryside edge.
14. A neighbour letter of objection has been received highlighting that it is their
understanding that panelled fences will be used to replace the vegetation that
previously acted as the boundary treatment along the side and rear boundaries
of the rear amenity space of the application property. The neighbour contends
that this will have a detrimental impact on the character of the area. It should be
noted that, from a planning point of view, there are no controls on the removal of
vegetation given that the area is not a conservation area. Additionally, the
erection of fencing is, in most cases, permitted development and as such
planning permission would not necessarily be required to erect such fencing.
This fencing would largely be to the rear and would not be visible from public
viewpoints. That said, it is considered that the previously existing vegetation
contributed to the verdant character of the area; it is therefore considered
reasonable to condition that details of boundary treatments be provided (in
addition to a landscaping condition) to allow the council to assess more detailed
plans of the proposed boundary which should also allay concerns regarding the
encroachment of fencing.
Impact on neighbouring amenity
15. The dwelling is situated between two residential dwellings both of two storeys.
The neighbour to the east, Heath Cottage, is separated by a private access road
to Rusticott to the rear. This means there is a separation distance of some 5.5
metres from Heath Cottage to the proposed dwelling. Two ground floor side
windows exist in elevation facing the proposed dwelling which serve a kitchen
diner and a study and which are both served by other windows to the rear and
front respectively. Notwithstanding the fact there are other windows serving these
rooms, whilst a kitchen diner is considered to be a habitable room, a study is not
and therefore there would be no harmful loss of light to this room, and indeed the
kitchen. It has also been noted in letters of objection that loss of light will be
experienced to the upstairs bathroom of Heath Cottage which is served by flank
windows. These windows do not serve habitable rooms and consequently it is
considered that there would be no significantly harmful loss of light.
16. As regards loss of light to the rear amenity space of the neighbouring dwellings, it
is noted that the increased height and bulk of the proposed dwelling would block
a degree of sunlight from the south. However, the street has a verdant character
with many mature trees which currently act as barriers to light and, as has been
pointed out by objectors. a number of previously existing trees/vegetation
(including two trees which had pending TPOs) have been removed which
previously would have blocked light in a similar vein to the proposed two storey
dwelling. It is not considered that such concerns are significant enough to justify

a reason for refusal.
17. The neighbouring dwelling on the opposite side, Rosslea, has a ground floor side
window which serves a utility room and as this is not a habitable room no harm is
considered to result with regards loss of light or overbearing. Additionally, the
proposed dwelling would not project significantly beyond the rear elevation of its
neighbouring dwellings – the revised plans detail that this has in fact been
brought further forward than originally proposed lessening any rearward
projection – and therefore there would be no significant harm regarding
overbearing and loss of light to any rooms to the rear of these dwellings.
18. A number of objections have been raised regarding loss of privacy, not only as a
result of the added storey, but also due to vegetation clearance at the site. It is
noted that the site visit confirmed that a significant degree of vegetation
clearance has been undertaken at the site which has opened up the boundaries
of the site to allow views into the curtilage of adjacent properties. As noted above
the are no restrictions on vegetation removal. It is stated in the application forms
that a close boarded fence will be erected along the boundaries which would be
a departure from the previously naturally screened site. For this reason a
boundary condition (Condition 6) is recommended in order to allow for the
character of the site to be maintained with appropriate boundary treatment, and a
landscaping condition (Condition 9) will also ensure that this particular objection
is overcome.
19. It is however acknowledged that the added storey to the dwelling, with 3 first floor
rear windows, would lead to a perceived increase in overlooking above any
boundary treatment that may exist. While this is noted, it is considered that the
views would be of an oblique nature and that overlooking of this type is not
uncommon in a residential street such as this and is indeed evident between the
two storey dwellings to the west and east into the amenity space of the applicant
dwelling. For this reason, it is not considered that there would be a harmful loss
of privacy to the extent permission should be refused on these grounds.
Trees and landscape
20. As discussed above, the area has a distinct verdant character which has been
undermined by vegetation removal, including that of a Scots Pine and an Oak
tree along the plot frontage. These trees had been identified for a TPO but had
been removed prior to this being served. Another Scots Pine exists in the south
east corner of the site and which remained intact at the time that the TPO was
being served and therefore has protected status. The Council’s Trees and
Landscape team have requested that an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS)
is submitted in order to assess the potential impact that the proposed new
parking and access arrangements to the front of the property would have on this
protected tree.
21. The submitted AMS proposed a no dig solution but did not clearly show what the
existing and proposed levels would be in order for the local planning authority to
confidently assess whether or not the no dig solution would be appropriate to
mitigate harm to the TPO. Further information was requested to clarify before
and after levels for the driveway, particularly in the root protection area (RPA) of
the TPO. Alternatively, the local planning authority suggested that the proposed

access be moved away from the root protection area.
22. A revised plan (number 2932-06C) has subsequently been submitted detailing
the revised position of the driveway outside of the RPA with planting proposed
within the RPA area. This is now considered satisfactory subject to the condition
that the shrubs be bare rooted and notch planted to reduce disturbance to tree
roots in the RPA and it has also been advised that the number of shrubs planted
in this area be reduced by half in order to minimise the impact to the roots of the
protected tree (Condition 9). A full landscaping plan is to be requested by
condition (Condition 9) which should take this into account. Additionally, it is
suggested that the landscaping plan provides provision for new tree planting on
the road frontage to replace the two trees recently felled and additional planting
between Pine Platt and Rosslea, to the left of the proposed entrance, is
advisable as this will enhance the frontage made barren by recent removal. Any
new planting will adapt to the new driveway as it matures.
23. Finally, the AMS has not been updated to reflect the change in the plans and
therefore, given that a pre-commencement condition requesting further
landscaping information will be attached to any permission granted, it is
considered prudent to condition that an updated AMS be submitted for approval
prior to development.
Drainage and flooding:
24. The application site is less than 1 hectare and wholly situated within Flood Zone
1 which therefore means that a full Flood Risk Assessment is not required.
Notwithstanding this fact, policy CC10 of the Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan requires that all development proposals ensure that surface water
arising from the proposed development is managed in a sustainable manner.
25. The Environment Agency’s Risk of Flooding from Surface Water map indicates
that some areas of the site have a low (between 1 in 1000 and 1 in 100 annual
probability) and medium (between 1 in 100 and 1 in 30 annual probability) risk of
surface water flooding.
26. The submitted drainage information/plans demonstrate that a Surface Water
Drainage Strategy has been provided for the proposed development, which
proposes to discharge surface water to ground via soakaways. It has been
commented by the Council’s drainage consultants that it must be demonstrated
that the groundwater table is at a depth of at least 1.0m below the base of the
proposed soakaways. It is further noted that the results of groundwater
monitoring demonstrating seasonal variations in the groundwater levels at the
application site must be submitted and additionally that soakaways must not be
sited within 5.0m of any existing or proposed building.
27. The most recent finished floor level, as proposed in drawing 2932-06C, is 300mm
above the adjacent ground level and therefore, demonstrates that the proposed
building will be above the depth of the surface water associated with the overland
flow path in the western area of the site. On the basis of the submitted
information, it has been recommended that sufficient detail has been submitted in
the planning application to satisfactorily determine that the proposed
development will not exacerbate flood risk over its lifetime accounting for the

effects of climate change. It is recommended that the condition detailed above
(number 11) be attached to any permission in order to further evidence that the
proposal would not have a harmful drainage impact.
28. It is noted that concerns have been raised by neighbours with regards to foul
sewage disposal given that the road is not connected to a mains sewer. This is
not a planning issue and concerns in this regard would be addressed through a
building regulations application.
29. Thames Water have been consulted on this application (full comments included
above) and have advised that with regard to sewerage infrastructure capacity,
they would not have any objection to the planning application.
Biodiversity
30. A bat survey has been submitted as part of the application which has been
reviewed by the Council’s biodiversity officer who is satisfied that bats are
unlikely to be harmed as a result of the demolition of the existing bungalow. As
regards great crested newts, the nearest three ponds are at approximately 180m,
200m, and 450m from the application site. Of these, the first and third nearest
have reasonable habitat connectivity to the application site and the second
appears to have a moderate dispersal barrier. The Council’s biodiversity officer
does not believe that any of these three ponds have been surveyed for great
crested newts but the Crowthorne area of Wokingham Borough does not appear
to have had any successful surveys for this species where surveys have been
undertaken. Even if it were assumed that all three ponds have great crested newt
presence, a case could be made that their relative remoteness greatly reduces
the risk to any local population. Therefore, given the current level of knowledge
regarding great crested newt distribution (from surveys conducted by WBC,
BRAG and independent ecological consultants), it is advised that it would be
unreasonable to impose this condition or request further survey work from the
developer (given the scale of the development).
Highways
31. The dwelling currently has access to Heath Ride at the front of the plot. The
access arrangement is to be slightly altered, however, the council’s highways
officer has no objection to this. There are to be 4 car parking spaces provided
within the plot (including 1 integral garage space) which is considered more than
adequate for the proposed size of the dwelling. Concerns have been raised
about the potential for a side access way to be added to the boundary of the plot
to the access road to Rusticott. The current plans indicate no such access is
detailed on the submitted plans and therefore speculation regarding such access
cannot form part of the current planning consideration. It is also noted that a
condition of any approval would be a submission of boundary treatments given
that this is considered to be important to the character of the plot. No objection to
construction traffic using the road has been raised by the Highways Officer.
Environmental/contamination Issues
32. The site is not identified as being in an area of contaminated land. While

concerns have been raised by neighbours with regards to asbestos and other
potentially hazardous materials, Environmental Health have been consulted on
the application and have indicated that they would have no concerns from a
health and safety point of view. As such, it is considered that there would be no
significant concerns in this regard.
Community Infrastructure Levy
33. The Council adopted its Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule on 6 th
April 2015. As the proposal is for the erection of a replacement dwelling it would
be liable to the council’s Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule (£365
per square metre) for the net increase in floor space, which, as per the submitted
CIL form is to be 326.6 square metres. As a self-build scheme relief from the CIL
charge can be sought and the applicant has submitted the self-build exemption
claim forms to this effect.
CONCLUSION
It is considered that, subject to conditions, the proposal would not lead to an
unacceptable impact on the character of the area and that it accords with development
plan policies. The application is therefore recommended for conditional approval.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:
Attachments:

Finchampstead Parish Council
James McCabe
Revised plans for Pine platt 151781 or F/2015/0430
19 August 2015 11:51:22
image001.png

Dear James
We have received the revised plans which show re-positioning of new dwelling 60 cm further
forward. Our comments remain
·
·
·
·

Bulk, size and massing.
Out of keeping. Inadequate plans,
no heights indicated.
Drainage and ecological issues.

Regards Anna
Assistant to the Clerk: Mrs A. Kent
Finchampstead Parish Council
FBC Centre, Gorse Ride North
Finchampstead
Berkshire RG40 4ES
0118 908 8164
www.finchampstead-pc.gov.uk

Follow us on Facebook
IMPORTANT NOTICE:
The contents of this e-mail are confidential to the ordinary user of the e-mail address to which it was addressed and may
also be privileged. If you are not the addressee of this e-mail you may not copy, forward, disclose or otherwise use it or
any part of it in any form whatsoever. If you have received this e-mail in error please e-mail the sender by replying to
this message

Click here to report this email as spam.

